

Quiver varieties and the character ring of general linear groups over finite fields

Emmanuel Letellier

► To cite this version:

Emmanuel Letellier. Quiver varieties and the character ring of general linear groups over finite fields. 2011. hal-00576604v2

HAL Id: hal-00576604 https://hal.science/hal-00576604v2

Preprint submitted on 24 Nov 2011

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Quiver varieties and the character ring of general linear groups over finite fields

Emmanuel Letellier Université de Caen letellier.emmanuel@math.unicaen.fr

November 24, 2011

To Gus Lehrer and Jean Michel on the occasion of their 63th and 60th birthday

Abstract

Given a tuple (X_1, \ldots, X_k) of irreducible characters of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ we define a star-shaped quiver Γ together with a dimension vector **v**. Assume that (X_1, \ldots, X_k) is *generic*. Our first result is a formula which expresses the multiplicity of the trivial character in the tensor product $X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_k$ as the trace of the action of some Weyl group on the intersection cohomology of some (non-affine) quiver varieties associated to (Γ, \mathbf{v}) . The existence of such a quiver variety is subject to some condition. Assuming that this condition is satisfied, we prove our second result: The multiplicity $\langle X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_k, 1 \rangle$ is non-zero if and only if **v** is a root of the Kac-Moody algebra associated with Γ . This is somehow similar to the connection between Horn's problem and the representation theory of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{C})$ [28, Section 8].

Contents

1	Intro	Introduction 4						
	1.1	Decomposing tensor products of irreducible characters	4					
	1.2	Quiver varieties	5					
	1.3	Character varieties: A conjecture	9					
2	Preli	Preliminaries on geometric invariant theory 10						
	2.1	GIT quotients	11					
	2.2	Particular case: Affine varieties	12					
3	Inter	itersection cohomology 13						
	3.1	Generalities and notation	13					
	3.2	Restriction	16					
	3.3	E-polynomial	18					
4	Preli	iminaries on quiver varieties	20					
	4.1	Generalities on quiver varieties	20					
	4.2	Nakajima's framed quiver varieties	22					
	4.3	Quiver varieties of type A	24					
		4.3.1 Partitions and types	24					
		4.3.2 Zariski closure of adjoint orbits as quiver varieties	25					
		4.3.3 Partial resolutions of Zariski closure of adjoint orbits as quiver varieties	26					
		4.3.4 Geometry of resolutions and parabolic induction	30					
5	Com	Comet-shaped quiver varieties 33						
	5.1	Generic tuples of adjoint orbits	33					
	5.2	Affine comet-shaped quiver varieties	33					
	5.3	General comet-shaped quiver varieties	37					
	5.4	A restriction property	41					
6	Characters and Fourier transforms 42							
	6.1	Preliminaries on finite groups	42					
	6.2	Littlewood-Richardson coefficients	43					
	6.3	Rational Levi subgroups and Weyl groups	45					
	6.4	Springer correspondence for relative Weyl groups	46					
	6.5	Deligne-Lusztig induction and Fourier transforms	17					
		6.5.1 Generalized induction	17					
		6.5.2 The group setting: Deligne-Lusztig induction	18					
		6.5.3 The Lie algebra setting: Fourier transforms	19					
		6.5.4 The Lie algebra setting: Deligne-Lusztig induction	19					
	6.6	Characters of finite general linear groups	50					
	6.7	Fourier transforms of orbital simple perverse sheaves	51					
	6.8	Generic characters and generic orbits	53					
	6.9	Multiplicities in tensor products	54					
	6.10	Multiplicities and symmetric functions	56					
		6.10.1 Definitions	56					
		6.10.2 Cauchy function	57					
		6.10.3 The split semisimple case	58					
		6.10.4 The nilpotent case	58					

		6.10.5 The regular semisimple case6.10.6 Multiplicities	58 58
7	Poin	ncaré polynomials of quiver varieties and multiplicities	59
	7.1	Decomposition theorem and Weyl group action	59
	7.2	A lemma	60
	7.3	The split case	62
7.4 The general case		The general case	63
		7.4.1 The main theorem	64
		7.4.2 Proof of Theorem 7.4.1	64
		7.4.3 Application to multiplicities in tensor products	66

1 Introduction

1.1 Decomposing tensor products of irreducible characters

The motivation of this paper is the study of the decomposition

$$\mathcal{X}_1 \otimes \mathcal{X}_2 = \sum_{\mathcal{X}} \langle \mathcal{X}_1 \otimes \mathcal{X}_2, \mathcal{X} \rangle \mathcal{X}$$

of the tensor product $X_1 \otimes X_2$ of two irreducible complex characters of $GL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ as a sum of irreducible characters. This is equivalent to the study of the multiplicities $\langle X_1 \otimes X_2 \otimes X_3, 1 \rangle$ of the trivial character 1 in $X_1 \otimes X_2 \otimes X_3$.

Although the character table of $GL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ is known since 1955 by the work of Green [17], the computation of these multiplicities remains an open problem which does not seem to have been studied much in the literature.

When X_1, X_2, X_3 are unipotent characters, the multiplicities $\langle X_1 \otimes X_2 \otimes X_3, 1 \rangle$ are computed by Hiss and Lübeck [21] using CHEVIE for $n \le 8$ and appeared to be polynomials in q with positive coefficients.

Let χ : $GL_n(\mathbb{F}_q) \to \mathbb{C}$ be the character of the conjugation action of $GL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ on the group algebra $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)]$. Fix a non-negative integer g and put $\Lambda := \chi^{\otimes g}$ (with $\Lambda = 1$ if g = 0).

In this paper we describe the multiplicities $\langle \Lambda \otimes X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_k, 1 \rangle$ for *generic* tuples (X_1, \ldots, X_k) of irreducible characters of $GL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ in terms of representations of a certain quiver Γ (see §6.8 for the definition of generic tuple). Although the occurence of Λ does not seem to be very interesting from the perspective of the representation theory of $GL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ it will appear to be more interesting for the theory of quiver representations.

Let us now explain how to construct the quiver together with a dimension vector from any tuple of irreducible characters (not necessarily generic).

We first define a type A quiver together with a dimension vector from a single irreducible character X. Consider a total ordering \geq on the set \mathcal{P} of partitions and define a total ordering denoted again by \geq on the set $\mathbb{Z}_{>0} \times (\mathcal{P} - \{0\})$ as follows. If $\mu \neq \lambda$ then $(d, \mu) \geq (d', \lambda)$ if $\mu \geq \lambda$, and $(d, \lambda) \geq (d', \lambda)$ if $d \geq d'$. Denote by \mathbf{T}_n the set of non-increasing sequences $\omega = (d_1, \omega^1) \cdots (d_r, \omega^r)$ such that $\sum_i d_i |\omega^i| = n$.

In §6.8, we associate to the irreducible character X an element $\omega = (d_1, \omega^1) \cdots (d_r, \omega^r) \in \mathbf{T}_n$ called the type of X. The d_i 's are called the degrees of X. If the degrees d_i 's are all equal to 1 we say that X is *split*. Let us now draw the Young diagrams of these partitions $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_r$ from the left to the right with diagram of ω^i repeated d_i times (partitions being represented by the rows of the Young diagram). Let l be the total number of columns and let n_i be the length of the *i*-th column. We obtain a strictly decreasing sequence $\mathbf{u}_{\omega} := (v_0 = n > v_1 > v_2 > \cdots > v_{l-1})$ by putting $v_1 := n - n_1, v_i := v_{i-1} - n_i$. We obtain then a type A_l -quiver with dimension vector \mathbf{u}_{ω} . For instance if X = 1, then $\omega = (1, (1, 1, \ldots, 1))$ and so $A_l = A_1$ and $\mathbf{u}_{\omega} = n$. If X is the Steinberg character then $\omega = (1, (n))$ and so $A_l = A_n$ and $\mathbf{u}_{\omega} = (n, n - 1, n - 2, \ldots, 1)$.

Given $\boldsymbol{\omega} = (\omega_1, \dots, \omega_k) \in (\mathbf{T}_n)^k$, we obtain (as just explained) *k* type *A* quivers equipped with dimension vectors $\mathbf{u}_{\omega_1}, \dots, \mathbf{u}_{\omega_k}$. Gluing together the vertices labelled by 0 of these *k* quivers and adding *g* loops at the central vertex of this new quiver we get a so-called comet-shaped quiver Γ_{ω} with *k* legs (see picture in §5.2) together with a dimension vector \mathbf{v}_{ω} which is determined in the obvious way by $\mathbf{u}_{\omega_1}, \dots, \mathbf{u}_{\omega_k}$.

Let $\Phi(\Gamma_{\omega})$ be the root system associated with Γ_{ω} (see Kac [22]). Let **C** be the Cartan matrix of Γ_{ω} and put $d_{\omega} = 2 - {}^{t}\mathbf{v}_{\omega}\mathbf{C}\mathbf{v}_{\omega}$.

In §6.10.6 we show that for every multi-type $\omega \in (\mathbf{T}_n)^k$, there exists a polynomial $\mathbb{H}_{\omega}(T) \in \mathbb{Q}[T]$ such that for any finite field \mathbb{F}_q and any generic tuple (X_1, \ldots, X_k) of irreducible characters of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ of type ω , we have

$$\langle \Lambda \otimes \mathcal{X}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{X}_k, 1 \rangle = \mathbb{H}_{\omega}(q).$$

In §1.2 (see above Theorem 1.2.2) we define the notion of *admissible* multi-type. This notion arises naturally in the theory of quiver varieties.

In this paper we use the geometry of quiver varieties to prove the following theorem (see next section for more details).

Theorem 1.1.1. Assume that $\omega \in (\mathbf{T}_n)^k$ is admissible.

(a) $\mathbb{H}_{\omega}(T) \neq 0$ if and only if $\mathbf{v}_{\omega} \in \Phi(\Gamma_{\omega})$. Moreover $\mathbb{H}_{\omega}(T) = 1$ if and only if \mathbf{v}_{ω} is a real root.

(b) If non-zero, $\mathbb{H}_{\omega}(T)$ is a monic polynomial of degree $d_{\omega}/2$ with integer coefficients. If moreover ω is split, then the coefficients of $\mathbb{H}_{\omega}(T)$ are non-negative.

We will prove (see Proposition 5.2.9) that if $g \ge 1$, then \mathbf{v}_{ω} is always an imaginary root and so the second part of the assertion of (a) is relevant only when g = 0.

The discussion and conjecture in §1.3 together with the results of Crawley-Boevey [8] imply that the assertions (a) and (b) of the above theorem remain true in all types (not necessarily admissible).

In a future publication, we will investigate this assertion (a) by analyzing combinatorially the polynomial $\mathbb{H}_{\omega}(T)$ which is defined in terms of Hall-Littlewood symmetric functions (see §6.10.2).

Example 1.1.2. We give examples of generic tuples of irreducible characters which are not of admissible types and which satisfy (a) and (b) of the above theorem.

Assume that g = 0 and n = k = 3.

For a partition λ , we denote by R_{λ} the associated unipotent character of GL₃. Recall that according to our parameterization (see beginning of this section), the trivial character corresponds to the partition (1, 1, 1) and the Steinberg character to the partition (3).

For a linear character $\alpha : \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ we put $R_{\lambda}^{\alpha} := (\alpha \circ \det) \cdot R_{\lambda}$. This is again an irreducible character of type $(1, \lambda)$.

The triple $(R_{\lambda}^{\alpha}, R_{\mu}^{\beta}, R_{\nu}^{\gamma})$ is generic if the subgroup $\langle \alpha \beta \gamma \rangle$ of Hom $(\mathbb{F}_{a}^{\times}, \mathbb{C}^{\times})$ is of size 3.

Assume now that $(R^{\alpha}_{\lambda}, R^{\beta}_{\mu}, R^{\gamma}_{\nu})$ is generic (it is not admissible, see (iii) below Theorem 1.2.3). As mentioned earlier, the multiplicity $\langle R^{\alpha}_{\lambda} \otimes R^{\beta}_{\mu} \otimes R^{\gamma}_{\nu}, 1 \rangle$ depends only on λ, μ, ν and not on α, β, γ .

Put

$$R_{\lambda,\mu,\nu} := R^{\alpha}_{\lambda} \otimes R^{\beta}_{\mu} \otimes R^{\gamma}_{\nu}$$

We can easily verify that the only non zero multiplicities (with unipotent type characters) are

$$\langle R_{(3),(3),(3)}, 1 \rangle = q,$$
 (1.1.1)

$$\langle R_{(2,1),(3),(3)}, 1 \rangle = \langle R_{(3),(2,1),(3)}, 1 \rangle = \langle R_{(3),(3),(2,1)}, 1 \rangle = 1.$$
(1.1.2)

In the first case the underlying graph of Γ_{ω} is \tilde{E}_6 and \mathbf{v}_{ω} is the indivisible positive imaginary root. In the second case the underlying graph of Γ_{ω} is the Dynkin diagram E_6 and \mathbf{v}_{ω} is the positive real root $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + 2\alpha_3 + 3\alpha_4 + 2\alpha_5 + \alpha_6$ in the notation of [4, PLANCHE V]. Finally we can verify that there is no other pair ($\Gamma_{\omega}, \mathbf{v}_{\omega}$) arising from $\omega = ((1, \lambda), (1, \mu), (1, \nu))$ with $\mathbf{v}_{\omega} \in \Phi(\Gamma_{\omega})$.

1.2 Quiver varieties

We now introduce the quiver varieties which provide a geometrical interpretation of $\langle \Lambda \otimes X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_k, 1 \rangle$ for generic tuples (X_1, \ldots, X_k) of admissible type.

Let *P* be a parabolic subgroup of $GL_n(\mathbb{C})$, *L* a Levi factor of *P* and let $\Sigma = \sigma + C$ where *C* is a nilpotent orbit of the Lie algebra I of *L* and where σ is an element of the center z_1 of I. Put

$$\mathbb{X}_{L,P,\Sigma} := \{ (X, gP) \in \mathfrak{gl}_n \times (\mathrm{GL}_n/P) \mid g^{-1}Xg \in \Sigma + \mathfrak{u}_P \}$$

where \mathfrak{u}_P is the Lie algebra of the unipotent radical of *P*. We then denote by $\mathbb{X}^o_{L,P,\Sigma}$ the open subset of pairs (X, gP) which verify $g^{-1}Xg \in \Sigma + \mathfrak{u}_P$.

It is known (cf. §4.3.2 for more details) that the image of the projection $\mathbb{X}_{L,P,\Sigma} \to \mathfrak{gl}_n$ on the first coordinate is the Zariski closure \overline{O} of an adjoint orbit O.

We assume without loss of generality that *L* is of the form $\prod_j GL_{n_j}$ and that *P* is the unique parabolic subgroup of GL_n containing the upper triangular matrices and having *L* as a Levi factor (such a choice is only for convenience).

When *O* is nilpotent regular, the varieties $X_{L,P,\Sigma}$ appears in Borho and MacPherson [3]. These varieties were also considered by Lusztig in the framework of his generalization of Springer correspondence [37].

Consider triples $\{(L_i, P_i, \Sigma_i)\}_{i=1,\dots,k}$, with $\Sigma_i = \sigma_i + C_i$, as above and put $\mathbf{L} := L_1 \times \cdots \times L_k$, $\mathbf{P} := P_1 \times \cdots \times P_k$, $\Sigma := \Sigma_1 \times \cdots \times \Sigma_k$ and $\mathbf{C} := C_1 \times \cdots \times C_k$.

Let (O_1, \ldots, O_k) be the tuple of adjoint orbits of $\mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbb{C})$ such that the image of $\mathbb{X}_{L_i, P_i, \Sigma_i} \to \mathfrak{gl}_n$ is $\overline{O_i}$.

We say that the pair $(\mathbf{L}, \boldsymbol{\Sigma})$ is *generic* if the tuple (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is *generic*. The existence of generic tuples of adjoint orbits with prescribed multiplicities of eigenvalues is subject to some restriction (cf. §5.1 for more details).

We assume now that $(\mathbf{L}, \boldsymbol{\Sigma})$ is generic.

Fix a non-negative integer g, put $\mathbb{O}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} = (\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{2g} \times \mathbb{X}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}, \mathbb{O}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}^o = (\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{2g} \times \mathbb{X}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}^o$ and define

$$\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}} := \left\{ \left(A_1, B_1, \dots, A_g, B_g, (X_1, \dots, X_k, g_1 P_1, \dots, g_k P_k) \right) \in \mathbb{O}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}} \left| \sum_j [A_j, B_j] + \sum_i X_i = 0 \right\}.$$

Put $\mathbf{O} := (\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{2g} \times \overline{O}_1 \times \cdots \times \overline{O}_k$, $\mathbf{O}^o := (\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{2g} \times O_1 \times \cdots \times O_k$ and define

$$\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}} := \left\{ \left(A_1, B_1, \ldots, A_g, B_g, X_1, \ldots, X_k \right) \in \mathbf{O} \mid \sum_j [A_j, B_j] + \sum_i X_i = 0 \right\}.$$

Let $\rho : \mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} \to \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}$ be the projection on the first 2g + k coordinates.

The group GL_n acts on $\mathbb{V}_{L,\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ (resp. on $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}$) diagonally by conjugating the first 2g + k coordinates and by left multiplication of the last *k*-coordinates (resp. diagonally by conjugating the 2g + k coordinates). Since the tuple (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is generic, this action induces a set-theoritically free action of PGL_n on both $\mathbb{V}_{L,\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ and $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}$. The PGL_n-orbits of these two spaces are then all closed. Consider the affine GIT quotient

$$Q_{\mathbf{O}} := \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}/\mathrm{PGL}_n = \mathrm{Spec}\left(\mathbb{C}[\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}]^{\mathrm{PGL}_n}\right).$$

The quotient map $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}} \to \mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{O}}$ is actually a principal PGL_n-bundle in the étale topology. Since $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ is projective over $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}$, by a result of Mumford [43] the categorical quotient $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ of $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ by PGL_n exists and the quotient map $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} \to \mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ is also a principal PGL_n-bundle.

We will see that we can identify $Q_{\mathbf{O}}$ and $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ with quiver varieties $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi}(\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}})$ and $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma})$ made out of the same comet-shaped quiver $\Gamma_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} = \Gamma_{\mathbf{O}}$ equipped with (possibly different) dimension vector $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}}$ and $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ (here we use Nakajima's notation, cf. §4.1). The variety $Q_{\mathbf{O}}$ is also isomorphic to the image $\pi \left(\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma})\right)$ of $\pi : \mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}) \to \mathfrak{M}_{\xi}(\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma})$.

The identification of Q_0 with the quiver variety $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi}(\mathbf{v}_0)$ is due to Crawley-Boevey [6] and is also available in the non-generic case (see §5.2). Although it may not be in the literature, the identification of $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ with $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma})$ is then quite natural to consider.

Under the identification $Q_0 \simeq \mathfrak{M}_{\xi}(\mathbf{v}_0)$, the open subset $Q_0^{\circ} \subset Q_0$ defined as the image of

$$\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}^{o} := \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}} \cap \mathbf{0}^{o}$$

in $Q_{\mathbf{O}}$ corresponds to the subset $\mathfrak{M}^{s}_{\boldsymbol{\xi}}(\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}}) \subset \mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi}}(\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}})$ of simple representations. The image $\mathbb{Q}^{o}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}$ of

$$\mathbb{V}^{o}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}} := \mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}} \cap \mathbb{O}^{o}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}$$

in $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ corresponds to the subset $\mathfrak{M}_{\mathcal{E},\theta}^{s}(\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}) \subset \mathfrak{M}_{\mathcal{E},\theta}(\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma})$ of θ -stable representations.

The generic quiver variety $\mathbb{Q}_{L,P,\Sigma}$ (which does not seem to have been considered in the literature before) and Q_0 will be one of the main focus of this paper.

If $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}} \neq \emptyset$, the varieties $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}^{o}$ and $Q_{\mathbf{O}}^{o}$ are both non-empty irreducible nonsingular dense open subsets of $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ and $Q_{\mathbf{O}}$ respectively. The irreducibility of $Q_{\mathbf{O}}$ follows from a more general result due to Crawley-Boevey (see Theorem 4.1.2). The irreducibility of $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ (see Theorem 5.3.7) seems to be new and our proof uses Theorem 4.1.5 and Crawley-Boevey's result in Theorem 4.1.2. The equivalence between the non-emptyness of $Q_{\mathbf{O}}$ and that of $Q_{\mathbf{O}}^{o}$ is not stated explicitly in Crawley-Boevey's paper but our proof follows very closely various arguments which are due to him. More precisely we have the following result which is important for this paper.

Theorem 1.2.1. The following assertions are equivalent.

(i) The variety $Q_{\mathbf{0}}^{o}$ is not empty. (ii) The variety $Q_{\mathbf{0}}$ is not empty. (iii) $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{0}} \in \Phi(\Gamma)$.

Let us discuss this theorem. Say that an element X in $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}^{o}$ is *irreducible* if there is no non-zero proper subspace of \mathbb{C}^{n} which is preserved by all the coordinates of X. The existence of irreducible elements in $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}^{o}$ was studied by Kostov [29] who calls it the (additive) Deligne-Simpson problem (in [29] the tuple (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is not necessarily generic). Later on, Crawley-Boevey [6] reformulated Kostov's answer to the Deligne-Simpson problem in terms of roots of Γ . This reformulation involves general results of Crawley-Boevey on quiver varieties (see §4.1 for more details) and his identification of $Q_{\mathbf{O}}$ with $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi}(\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}})$. Our proof of Theorem 1.2.1 consists of working out in the generic case Crawley-Boevey's results on the Deligne-Simpson problem.

For a pair (L, Σ) as above, we put

$$W(L, \Sigma) := \{n \in N_{\operatorname{GL}_n}(L) \mid n\Sigma n^{-1} = \Sigma\}/L.$$

The group $W(L, \Sigma)$ acts on the complex $p_*(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{X}_{L,P\Sigma}})$ where $p : \mathbb{X}_{L,P\Sigma} \to \mathfrak{gl}_n$ is the projection on the first coordinate, and $\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{X}_{L,P\Sigma}}$ is the simple perverse sheaf with coefficient in the constant local system \mathbb{C} . From this, we find an action of

From this, we find an action of

$$W(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{\Sigma}) := W(L_1, \Sigma_1) \times \cdots \times W(L_k, \Sigma_k)$$

on the complex $(\rho/_{\text{PGL}_n})_* (\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{Q}_{L,\mathbf{P},\Sigma}})$ and so on the hypercohomology $\mathbb{H}^i_c(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}, IC^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{Q}_{L,\mathbf{P},\Sigma}})$ which we take as a definition for the compactly supported intersection cohomology $IH^i_c(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}, \mathbb{C})$.

From the theory of quiver varieties, we have $IH_c^i(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma},\mathbb{C}) = 0$ for odd *i*. Let us then consider the polynomials

$$P_{c}^{\mathbf{w}}(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}},q) := \sum_{i} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\mathbf{w} \left| IH_{c}^{2i}(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}},\mathbb{C})\right) q^{i}\right|$$

with $\mathbf{w} \in W(\mathbf{L}, \boldsymbol{\Sigma})$.

As explained in §4.3.2 to each pair (L, C) with $L = \prod_{i=1}^{r} GL_{n_i} \subset GL_n$ and C a nilpotent orbit of $\bigoplus_{i=1}^{r} \mathfrak{gl}_{n_i}$ corresponds a unique sequence of partitions

$$\tilde{\omega} = \underbrace{\omega^1 \cdots \omega^1}_{a_1} \underbrace{\omega^2 \cdots \omega^2}_{a_2} \cdots \underbrace{\omega^l \cdots \omega^l}_{a_l}$$

with $\omega^1 \ge \omega^2 \ge \cdots \ge \omega^l$ and $\omega^j \ne \omega^s$ if $j \ne s$.

The group W(L, C) is then isomorphic to $\prod_{i=1}^{l} S_{a_i}$ where S_d denotes the symmetric group in d letters.

The decomposition of the coordinates of an element $w \in W(L, C) \simeq \prod_{j=1}^{l} S_{a_j}$ as a product of disjoint cycles provides a partition $(d_i^1, d_j^2, \dots, d_j^{r_j})$ of a_j for each j, and so defines a unique type

$$\omega = (d_1^1, \omega^1) \cdots (d_1^{r_1}, \omega^1) (d_2^1, \omega^2) \cdots (d_2^{r_2}, \omega^2) \cdots (d_l^1, \omega^l) \cdots (d_l^{r_l}, \omega^l) \in \mathbf{T}_n.$$

We thus have a surjective map from the set of triples (L, C, w) with $w \in W(L, C)$ to the set \mathbf{T}_n . Note that $W(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{\Sigma}) \subset W(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{C})$.

Let $\mathbf{w} \in W(\mathbf{L}, \boldsymbol{\Sigma})$. The datum $(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{C}, \mathbf{w})$ defines thus a multi-type $\boldsymbol{\omega} = (\omega_1, \dots, \omega_k) \in (\mathbf{T}_n)^k$. We call *admissible* the multi-types arising in this way from generic pairs $(\mathbf{L}, \boldsymbol{\Sigma})$.

Let $(X_1, ..., X_k)$ be a generic tuple of irreducible characters of $GL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ of type ω (generic tuples of irreducible characters of a given type always exist assuming that the characteristic of \mathbb{F}_q and q are large enough). The pair $(\Gamma_{\omega}, \mathbf{v}_{\omega})$ defined in §1.1 is the same as the pair $(\Gamma_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}, \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma})$ defined from $(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{P}, \Sigma)$, moreover the integer d_{ω} equals dim $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$.

Theorem 1.2.2. We have:

$$P_{c}^{\mathsf{w}}\left(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}},q\right)=q^{\frac{1}{2}\dim\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}}\langle\Lambda\otimes\mathcal{X}_{1}\otimes\cdots\otimes\mathcal{X}_{k},1\rangle.$$

If $\mathbf{w} = 1$ and if the adjoint orbits O_1, \ldots, O_k are semisimple in which case $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{P}, \Sigma} \simeq Q_0$, the theorem is proved in [18].

One of the consequence of Theorem 1.2.2 is an explicit formula for $P_c^{\mathbf{w}}(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma},q)$ in terms of Hall-Littlewood symmetric functions (cf. §6.10).

Note that if for each i = 1, ..., k, we have $C_{GL_n}(\sigma_i) = L_i$, then the projection $\mathbb{X}_{L_i, P_i, \Sigma_i} \to \overline{O}_i$ is an isomorphism and so is the map $\rho/_{PGL_n} : \mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{P}, \Sigma} \to \mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{O}}$. Hence our main results will give in particular explicit formulas for the Poincaré polynomial $P_c(\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{O}}, q)$ where we write P_c instead of $P_c^{\mathbf{w}}$ when $\mathbf{w} = 1$.

Let $\mathcal{A}_{(\mathbf{L},\mathbf{C})}$ be the set of $\sigma = (\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_k) \in z_{l_1} \times \cdots \times z_{l_k}$ such that the pair $(\mathbf{L}, \sigma + \mathbf{C})$ is generic.

It follows from Theorem 1.2.2 that $P_c(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma},q)$ depends only on (\mathbf{L},\mathbf{C}) and not on $\sigma \in \mathcal{A}_{(\mathbf{L},\mathbf{C})}$.

We say that a generic tuple $(X_1, ..., X_k)$ of irreducible characters is *admissible* if it is of admissible type.

From Theorem 1.2.2 and Theorem 1.2.1, we prove Theorem 1.1.1, namely:

Theorem 1.2.3. Let (X_1, \ldots, X_k) be an admissible generic tuple of irreducible characters of $GL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ of type ω .

(a) We have $\langle \Lambda \otimes X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_k, 1 \rangle \neq 0$ if and only if $\mathbf{v}_{\omega} \in \Phi(\Gamma_{\omega})$. Moreover $\langle \Lambda \otimes X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_k, 1 \rangle = 1$ if and only if \mathbf{v}_{ω} is real.

(b) If $\mathbf{v}_{\omega} \in \Phi(\Gamma_{\omega})$, the multiplicity $\langle \Lambda \otimes X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_k, 1 \rangle$ is a monic polynomial in q of degree $d_{\omega}/2$ with integer coefficients. If moreover $\mathbf{w} = 1$, then it has positive coefficients.

Now let us see some examples of generic tuples (X_1, \ldots, X_k) of irreducible characters which are not admissible. This is equivalent of giving examples of triples $(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{C}, \mathbf{w})$ for which there is no $\sigma \in \mathcal{A}_{(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{C})}$ such that $\mathbf{w} \in W(\mathbf{L}, \sigma + \mathbf{C})$.

The condition for the existence of such a σ is subject to some restrictions which can be worked out explicitly using §5.1. Let us see the explicit situations (i), (ii) and (iii) below.

(i) Assume that **L** is a maximal torus (in which case **C** is the trivial nilpotent orbit) and that the coordinates of **w** are all *n*-cycles. Then **w** belongs to a subgroup $W(\mathbf{L}, \sigma + \mathbf{C})$ of $W(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{C}) = W(\mathbf{L})$ if and only if the coordinates of $\sigma = (\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_k)$ are all scalar matrices. But such a σ does not belong to $\mathcal{A}_{(\mathbf{L},\mathbf{C})}$.

(ii) When the dimension vector **v** of the comet-shaped quiver Γ is divisible (i.e., the gcd of its coordinates is greater than 1), then $\mathcal{A}_{(\mathbf{L},\mathbf{C})} = \emptyset$.

(iii) If $\mathbf{L} = (\mathbf{GL}_n)^k$, then we also have $\mathcal{A}_{(\mathbf{L},\mathbf{C})} = \emptyset$.

When $\mathbf{C} = \{0\}$, then $\mathcal{A}_{(\mathbf{L},\mathbf{C})} \neq \emptyset$ if and only if \mathbf{v}_{ω} is indivisible. This implies that a generic tuple of split semisimple irreducible characters is admissible if and only if \mathbf{v}_{ω} is indivisible.

1.3 Character varieties: A conjecture

Now we propose a conjectural geometrical interpretation of $\langle \Lambda \otimes X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_k, 1 \rangle$ for any generic tuple (X_1, \ldots, X_k) .

Let *P* be a parabolic subgroup of $GL_n(\mathbb{C})$, *L* a Levi factor of *P* and let $\Sigma = \sigma C$ where *C* is a unipotent conjugacy class of *L* and where σ is an element of the center Z_L of *L*. Put

$$\mathbb{Y}_{L,P,\Sigma} := \left\{ (x, gP) \in \mathrm{GL}_n \times (\mathrm{GL}_n/P) \mid g^{-1}xg \in \overline{\Sigma}. U_P \right\}$$

where U_P is the unipotent radical of P. The variety $\mathbb{Y}_{L,P,\Sigma}$ is the multiplicative analogue of $\mathbb{X}_{L,P,\Sigma}$.

We choose a tuple $(\mathfrak{D}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{D}_k)$ of conjugacy classes of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{C})$ and for each $i = 1, \ldots, k$ we let $\tilde{\mathfrak{D}}_i$ be the conjugacy class of the semisimple part of an element in \mathfrak{D}_i . We say that the tuple $(\mathfrak{D}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{D}_k)$ is generic if $\prod_{i=1}^k \det(\mathfrak{D}_i) = 1$ and if V is a subspace of \mathbb{C}^n which is stable by some $x_i \in \tilde{\mathfrak{D}}_i$ (for each *i*) such that

$$\prod_{i=1}^{k} \det\left(x_i|_V\right) = 1$$

then either V = 0 or $V = \mathbb{C}^n$. Unlike the additive case, generic tuples of conjugacy classes always exist (the multiplicities of the eigenvalues being prescribed). For instance, while we can not form generic tuples of adjoint orbits of nilpotent type, we can always form generic tuples of conjugacy classes of unipotent type as follows. Let ζ be a primitive *n*-th root of unity, and $\mathfrak{D}_1 = \zeta C_1$, $\mathfrak{D}_2 = C_2$, ..., $\mathfrak{D}_k = C_k$ where C_1, \ldots, C_k are unipotent conjugacy classes, then $(\mathfrak{D}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{D}_k)$ is generic.

For each i = 1, ..., k, let (L_i, P_i, Σ_i) be such that the image of the projection $\mathbb{Y}_{L_i, P_i, \Sigma_i} \to \mathfrak{gl}_n$ is $\overline{\mathfrak{D}}_i$. As in §1.2, we define $\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{P}, \Sigma, \mathbf{C}$ and we say that (\mathbf{L}, Σ) is *generic* if the tuple $(\mathfrak{D}_1, ..., \mathfrak{D}_k)$ is generic which we now assume. We define the multiplicative analogue of $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{P}, \Sigma}$ as

$$\mathbb{U}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}} := \left\{ \left(a_1, b_1, \dots, a_g, b_g, (x_1, \dots, x_k, g_1 P_1, \dots, g_k P_k) \right) \in (\mathrm{GL}_n)^{2g} \times \mathbb{Y}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}} \left| (a_1, b_1) \cdots (a_g, b_g) x_1 \cdots x_k = 1 \right\}$$

where (a, b) denotes the commutator $aba^{-1}b^{-1}$. As in the quiver case, the genericity condition ensures that the group PGL_n acts freely on $\mathbb{U}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$. Then consider the quotient $\mathbb{M}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} = \mathbb{U}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}/\text{PGL}_n$. The projection $\mathbb{U}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} \to (\text{GL}_n)^{2g+k}$ on the 2g + k first coordinates induces a morphism from $\mathbb{M}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ onto the affine GIT quotient

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{D}} := \left\{ (a_1, b_1, \dots, a_g, b_g, x_1, \dots, x_k) \in (\mathrm{GL}_n)^{2g} \times \overline{\mathfrak{D}}_1 \times \dots \times \overline{\mathfrak{D}}_k \ \Big| \prod (a_i, b_i) \prod x_j = 1 \right\} \Big| \mathrm{PGL}_n.$$

Remark 1.3.1. If S_g is a compact Riemann surface of genus g with punctures $p = \{p_1, \ldots, p_k\} \subset S_g$, then $\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{D}}$ can be identified (hence the name of character varieties) with the affine GIT quotient

$$\left\{ \rho \in \operatorname{Hom}\left(\pi_1(S_g \setminus p), \operatorname{GL}_n\right) \middle| \rho(\gamma_i) \in \overline{\mathfrak{D}}_i \right\} \middle| \operatorname{PGL}_n,$$

where γ_i is the class of a simple loop around p_i with orientation compatible with that of S_g .

Unlike quiver varieties, the mixed Hodge structure on $IH_c^k(\mathbb{M}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma},\mathbb{C})$ is not pure (see for instance [18] in the case where the conjugacy classes \mathfrak{D}_i are semisimple).

We let W_{\bullet} be the weight filtration on $IH_{c}^{k}(\mathbb{M}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma},\mathbb{C})$ and put

$$H^{i,k}\left(\mathbb{M}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}\right) := W_{i}IH^{k}_{c}\left(\mathbb{M}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma},\mathbb{C}\right)/W_{i-1}IH^{k}_{c}\left(\mathbb{M}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma},\mathbb{C}\right).$$

The action of $W(\mathbf{L}, \Sigma)$ preserves the weight filtration and so, for $\mathbf{w} \in W(\mathbf{L}, \Sigma)$, we may consider the mixed Poincaré polynomial

$$H_{c}^{\mathbf{w}}\left(\mathbb{M}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}};q,t\right):=\sum_{i,k}\operatorname{Tr}\left(\mathbf{w}\mid H^{i,k}\left(\mathbb{M}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}\right)\right)q^{i}t^{k}$$

and its *pure part*

$$PH_{c}^{\mathbf{w}}\left(\mathbb{M}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}},t\right) := \sum_{i} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\mathbf{w} \mid H^{i,2i}\left(\mathbb{M}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}\right)\right) t^{i}.$$

Recall that $\Sigma = \sigma C$ with C a unipotent conjugacy class of L and $\sigma \in Z_L$.

Let $\mathbf{w} \in W(\mathbf{L}, \boldsymbol{\Sigma})$. As above Theorem 1.2.2, we can define a type $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in (\mathbf{T}_n)^k$ from $(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{C}, \mathbf{w})$. Let (X_1, \ldots, X_k) be a generic tuple of irreducible characters of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ of type $\boldsymbol{\omega}$.

Conjecture 1.3.2. We have

$$PH_c^{\mathbf{w}}(\mathbb{M}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}},q) = q^{\frac{1}{2}\dim \mathbb{M}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}}} \langle \Lambda \otimes \mathcal{X}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{X}_k, 1 \rangle.$$
(1.3.1)

If $\mathbf{w} = 1$ and if the conjugacy classes \mathfrak{D}_i are semisimple, in which case $\mathbb{M}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}} \simeq \mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{D}}$, then this conjecture is already in [18].

Now put $\xi := (\zeta \cdot 1, 1, ..., 1) \in (Z_{GL_n})^k$ where ζ is a primitive *n*-th root of unity. Then for any triple $(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{C}, \mathbf{w})$ with $\mathbf{w} \in W(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{C})$ the pair $(\mathbf{L}, \xi \mathbf{C})$ is always generic and $\mathbf{w} \in W(\mathbf{L}, \xi \mathbf{C}) = W(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{C})$. Hence Conjecture 1.3.2 implies that for any generic tuple $(\chi_1, ..., \chi_k)$ of irreducible characters there exists a triple $(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{C}, \mathbf{w})$ with $\mathbf{w} \in W(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{C})$ such that if we put $\Sigma := \xi \mathbf{C}$, then Formula (1.3.1) holds.

Put C' := C - 1 and assume that there exists $\sigma' \in \mathcal{A}_{(L,C')}$ such that $C_{GL_n}(\sigma) = C_{GL_n}(\sigma')$. Then Conjecture 1.3.2 together with Theorem 1.2.2 implies the following conjecture.

Conjecture 1.3.3. *We have*

$$PH_{c}^{\mathbf{w}}\left(\mathbb{M}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}},q\right)=P_{c}^{\mathbf{w}}\left(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}'},q\right)$$

In the case where the adjoint orbits O_1, \ldots, O_k and the conjugacy classes $\mathfrak{D}, \ldots, \mathfrak{D}_k$ are semisimple and $\mathbf{w} = 1$, then this conjecture is due to T. Hausel. If g = 0, he actually conjectured that the identity between the two polynomials is realized by the Riemann-Hilbert monodromy map $Q_0 \to \mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{D}}$.

In [18] we gave a conjectural formula for the mixed Poincaré polynomial of $\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{D}}$ in terms of Macdonald polynomials when $\mathfrak{D}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{D}_k$ are semisimple. We will discuss the generalization of this conjecture for the twisted mixed Poincaré polynomial $H_c^{\mathbf{w}}(\mathbb{M}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}}; q, t)$ in a forthcoming paper.

Acknowledgements. I am very grateful to P. Satgé for helpful discussions on some parts of this paper and to the referee for his very careful reading and his suggestions to improve the writing of this paper. This work started during the special semester entitled "Algebraic Lie Theory" at the Newton Institute (Cambridge, 2009). I would like to thank the organisers for the invitation and the institute's staff for their kindness. This work is supported by ANR-09-JCJC-0102-01.

2 Preliminaries on geometric invariant theory

In this section, $\mathbb K$ is an algebraically closed field of arbitrary characteristic.

In the following the letter *G* denotes a connected reductive algebraic groups over \mathbb{K} . We review the construction by Mumford [43] of GIT quotients.

2.1 GIT quotients

For an algebraic variety *X* over \mathbb{K} we denote by $\mathbb{K}[X] := H^0(X, O_X)$ the \mathbb{K} -algebra of regular functions on *X*. Let *G* acts on *X* and let $\sigma : G \times X \to X$, $pr_2 : G \times X \to X$ denote respectively the *G*-action and the projection, then a *G*-linearization of a line bundle *L* over *X* is an isomorphism $\Phi : \sigma^*(L) \simeq pr_2^*(L)$ satisfying a certain co-cycle condition (see Mumford [43]). The isomorphism Φ defines a linear action of *G* on the space of sections $H^0(X, L)$ as $(g \cdot s)(x) = g \cdot s(g^{-1} \cdot x)$. We denote by $H^0(X, L)^G$ the space of *G*-invariant sections.

Fix a *G*-linearization Φ of *L* and for an integer *n*, put $L(n) := L^{\otimes n}$. A point $x \in X$ is *semistable* (with respect to Φ) if there exists m > 0 and $s \in H^0(X, L(m))^G$ such that $X_s := \{y \in X | s(y) \neq 0\}$ is affine and contains *x*. If moreover the *G*-orbits of X_s are closed in X_s and the stabilizer $C_G(x)$ of *x* in *G* is finite, then *x* is said to be *stable*.

We denote by $X^{ss}(\Phi)$ (resp. $X^{s}(\Phi)$) the open *G*-invariant subset of semistable (resp. stable) points of *X*.

Let $q: X^{ss}(\Phi) \to X//_{\Phi}G$ denote the GIT quotient map defined by Mumford [43, Theorem 1.10]. It is defined by glueing together the affine quotient maps $X_s \to X_s//G := \text{Spec}(\mathbb{K}[X_s]^G)$ where *s* runs over the set of sections $H^0(X, L(m))^G$, with m > 0, such that X_s is affine.

We will use the following well-known properties of *q*.

Theorem 2.1.1. (1) The quotient q is a categorical quotient (in the category of algebraic varieties).

(2) If $x, y \in X^{ss}(\Phi)$, we have q(x) = q(y) if and only if $\overline{G \cdot x} \cap \overline{G \cdot y} \neq \emptyset$.

(3) If U is an q-saturated (i.e. $q^{-1}q(U) = U$) G-stable open subset of $X^{ss}(\Phi)$, then q(U) is an open subset of $X//\Phi G$ and the restriction $U \to q(U)$ is a categorical quotient.

(4) Let F be a closed G-stable subset of $X^{ss}(\Phi)$ then q(F) is closed in $X//_{\Phi}G$.

(5) There is an ample line bundle M on $X//_{\Phi}G$ such that $q^*(M) \simeq L(n)$ for some n.

The theorem can be found for instance in Mumford [43] or in Dolgachev [13, Theorem 8.1, 6.5].

Since the Zariski closure of a *G*-orbit contains always a closed orbit, the assertion (2) shows that $X//_{\Phi}G$ parameterizes the closed orbits of $X^{ss}(\Phi)$. If we identify $X//_{\Phi}G$ with the set of closed orbits of $X^{ss}(\Phi)$, the map *q* sends an orbit *O* of $X^{ss}(\Phi)$ to the unique closed orbit contained in \overline{O} .

Let *G'* be another connected reductive algebraic group over \mathbb{K} acting on *X*. Assume that the two actions of *G* and *G'* on *X* commutes. Put $G'' = G \times G'$ and assume that there is a G''-linearization Φ'' of *L* extending Φ . Denote by Φ' the *G'*-linearization on *L* obtained by restricting Φ'' to $G' \times X$. Let $\pi'' : X^{ss}(\Phi'') \to X//_{\Phi''}G''$ and $\pi' : X^{ss}(\Phi') \to X//_{\Phi''}G'$ be the quotient maps. Since the actions of *G* and *G'* commute, the group *G* acts on the spaces $H^0(X, L(n))^{G'}$ and so the quotient map π' is *G*-equivariant. Also the ample line bundle *M* on $X//_{\Phi'}G'$ constructed in [13, Proof of Theorem 8.1] such that $(\pi')^*(M) \simeq L(n)$ is *G*-equivariant and there is a *G*-linearization Ψ of *M* such that $(\pi')^*(\Psi) = \Phi(n)$.

Proposition 2.1.2. Assume that the inclusion $X^{ss}(\Phi'') \subset X^{ss}(\Phi')$ is an equality and put $Z = X/|_{\Phi'}G'$. Then there is a canonical isomorphism $X/|_{\Phi''}G'' \simeq Z/|_{\Psi}G$.

Proof. If *X* is affine clearly $X//G'' = \text{Spec } \mathbb{K}[X]^{G''} \simeq \text{Spec } (\mathbb{K}[X]^{G'})^G = (X//G')//G$. Hence the proposition follows from the construction of GIT quotients by glueing affine quotients.

Let ψ : $G \times X \to X \times X$, $(g, x) \mapsto (g \cdot x, x)$. According to Mumford (see [43, Definition 0.6] or [13, §6]) we say that a morphism ϕ : $X \to Y$ of algebraic varieties is a *geometric quotient* (of X by G) if the following conditions are satisfied:

(i) ϕ is surjective and constant on *G*-orbits,

(ii) the image of ψ is $X \times_Y X$,

(iii) $U \subset Y$ is open if and only if $\phi^{-1}(U)$ is open,

(iv) for any open subset U of Y, the natural homomorphism $H^0(U, \mathcal{O}_Y) \to H^0(\phi^{-1}(U), \mathcal{O}_X)$ is an isomorphism onto the subring $H^0(\phi^{-1}(U), \mathcal{O}_X)^G$ of G-invariant sections.

A geometric quotient is a categorical quotient, hence if it exists it is unique. The condition (ii) says that Y parameterizes the G-orbits of X and so we will sometimes use the notation X/G to denote the geometric quotient of X by G.

Recall that the restriction $X^{s}(\Phi) \rightarrow q(X^{s}(\Phi))$ of q is a geometric quotient $X^{s}(\Phi) \rightarrow X^{s}(\Phi)/G$.

Unless specified, the principal *G*-bundles we will consider in throughout this paper will be with respect to the étale topology.

Lemma 2.1.3. A geometric quotient $\pi : X \to Y$ is a principal *G*-bundle if and only if π is flat and $\psi : G \times X \to X \times_Y X, (g, x) \mapsto (g \cdot x, x)$ is an isomorphism.

Proposition 2.1.4. If $X \to P$ is a principal *G*-bundle with *P* quasi-projective, then there exists a line bundle *L* on *X* together with a *G*-linearization Φ of *L* such that $X^{s}(\Phi) = X$. In particular $P \simeq X//_{\Phi}G$.

Proof. Follows from Mumford [43, §4, Converse 1.12] and the fact that the morphism $X \to P$ is an affine morphism (as *G* is affine).

We say that the action of *G* on *X* is *free* if $\psi : G \times X \to X \times X$ is a closed immersion. Recall that a geometric quotient $X \to X/G$ by a free action of *G* on *X* is a principal *G*-bundle [43, Proposition 0.9]. In the case where *X* is affine then the quotient map $X \to X//G$ is a principal *G*-bundle if and only if the stabilizers $C_G(x)$, with $x \in X$, are all trivial and the *G*-orbits of *X* are all separable (see Bardsley and Richardson [1, Proposition 8.2]).

We have the following proposition (see Mumford [43, Proposition 7.1]).

Proposition 2.1.5. Let G act on the algebraic varieties X and Y and let $f : X \to Y$ be a G-equivariant morphism. Assume that $Y \to Z$ is a principal G-bundle with Z quasi-projective. Assume also that there exists a G-equivariant line bundle L over X which is relatively ample for f. Then there exists a quasi-projective variety P and a principal G-bundle $X \to P$. Moreover the commutative diagram



is Cartesian.

If $\mathbb{K} = \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ and if all our data are defined over \mathbb{F}_q then $P, X \to P$ and $X \simeq P \times_Z Y$ are also defined over \mathbb{F}_q .

Assume that *A* is a finitely generated \mathbb{K} -algebra. The projective *r*-space over *A* is the algebraic variety $\mathbf{P}_A^r := \operatorname{Proj} A[x_0, \ldots, x_r] = \operatorname{Spec} A \times \mathbf{P}_{\mathbb{K}}^r$. We denote by $O_A(1)$ the twisting sheaf on \mathbf{P}_A^r .

We now assume that *G* acts on the algebraic varieties Spec *A* and $\mathbf{P}_{\mathbb{K}}^{r}$ and so on \mathbf{P}_{A}^{r} . The ample line bundle $O_{A}(n)$ admits a *G*-linearization for some *n* sufficiently large (as the twisting sheaf O(1) on $\mathbf{P}_{\mathbb{K}}^{r}$ does by Dolgachev [13, Corollary 7.2]). For such an *n*, the restriction *L* of $O_{A}(n)$ to a closed *G*-stable subvariety *X* of \mathbf{P}_{A}^{r} admits then a *G*-linearization Φ . In this case, the X_{s} , with $s \in H^{0}(X, L(n))^{G}$, are always affine.

Corollary 2.1.6. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a projective *G*-equivariant morphism with *Y* affine. Assume moreover that $C_G(y) = 1$ for all $y \in Y$ and that the *G*-orbits of *Y* are all separable. Then the geometric quotients $Y \to Y/G$ and $X \to X/G$ exists (and are principal *G*-bundles) and $X \simeq X/G \times_{Y/G} Y$. If $\mathbb{K} = \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ and if *X*, *Y*, *G* and *f* are defined over \mathbb{F}_q , then $Y \to Y/G$, $X \to X/G$ and $X \simeq X/G \times_{Y/G} Y$ are also defined over \mathbb{F}_q .

2.2 Particular case: Affine varieties

Assume now that X is an affine algebraic variety. Let $\chi : G \to \mathbb{K}^{\times}$ be a linear character of G. Then the action of G on $L^{o} = X \times \mathbf{A}^{1}$ given by $g \cdot (x, t) \mapsto (g \cdot x, \chi(g)^{-1}t)$ defines a G-linearization Φ of L^{o} . The

space $H^o(X, L^o(n))^G$ with $n \ge 0$ can be then identified with the space $\mathbb{K}[X]^{G_{\chi^n}}$ of functions $f \in \mathbb{K}[X]$ which satisfy $f(g \cdot x) = \chi^n(g)f(x)$ for all $g \in G$ and $x \in X$. Such a function $f \in \mathbb{K}[X]$ is called a χ^n -semi-invariant function.

A polynomial $f = \sum_{i=0}^{r} f_i \cdot z^i \in \mathbb{K}[X][z] \simeq \mathbb{K}[X \times \mathbf{A}^1]$ is *G*-invariant if and only if for each *i*, the function f_i is a χ^i -semi-invariant, that is

$$\mathbb{K}[X \times \mathbf{A}^1]^G = \bigoplus_{n \ge 0} \mathbb{K}[X]^{G_{\mathcal{X}^n}}$$

and so

$$X//_{\Phi}G = \operatorname{Proj}\left(\mathbb{K}[X \times \mathbf{A}^{1}]^{G}\right).$$

The canonical projective morphism

$$\pi_X : X//_{\Phi}G \to X//G := \operatorname{Spec}\left(\mathbb{K}[X]^G\right).$$
(2.2.1)

is induced by the inclusion of algebras $\mathbb{K}[X]^G \subset \mathbb{K}[X \times \mathbf{A}^1]^G$. Of course if Φ is trivial then π_X is an isomorphism.

We will use the following important property. Let $q : X^{ss}(\Phi) \to X//_{\Phi}G$ be the quotient with respect to (L^{o}, Φ) .

Proposition 2.2.1. If *F* is closed subvariety of *X*, then $F^{ss}(\Phi) = X^{ss}(\Phi) \cap F$ and the canonical morphism $F//_{\Phi}G \rightarrow q(F^{ss}(\Phi))$ is bijective. If $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, it is an isomorphism.

Remark 2.2.2. Note that for any *G*-equivariant morphism $\phi : X \to Y$ of affine algebraic varieties, then the co-morphism $\phi^{\sharp} : \mathbb{K}[Y] \to \mathbb{K}[X]$ preserves χ -semi-invariants, hence we always have $\phi^{-1}(Y^{ss}(\Phi)) \subset X^{ss}(\Phi)$. If moreover ϕ is a finite morphism then $\phi(X^{ss}(\Phi)) \subset Y^{ss}(\Phi)$ and so we recover the first assertion of the proposition.

3 Intersection cohomology

3.1 Generalities and notation

Let *X* be an algebraic variety over the algebraically closed field \mathbb{K} . Let ℓ be a prime which does not divide the characteristic of \mathbb{K} . The letter κ denotes the field $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$.

We denote by $\mathcal{D}_c^b(X)$ the bounded "derived category" of κ -(constructible) sheaves on X. For $K \in \mathcal{D}_c^b(X)$ we denote by $\mathcal{H}^i K$ the *i*-th cohomology sheaf of K. If m is an integer, then we denote by K[m] the mth shift of K; we have $\mathcal{H}^i K[m] = \mathcal{H}^{i+m} K$. For a morphism $f : X \to Y$, we have the usual functors $f_*, f_! : \mathcal{D}_c^b(X) \to \mathcal{D}_c^b(Y)$ and $f^*, f^! : \mathcal{D}_c^b(Y) \to \mathcal{D}_c^b(X)$. If $i : Y \to X$ is a closed immersion, the restriction $i^* K$ of $K \in \mathcal{D}_c^b(X)$ is denoted by $K|_Y$. We denote by $D_X : \mathcal{D}_c^b(X) \to \mathcal{D}_c^b(X)$ the Verdier dual operator.

Recall (see Beilinson-Bernstein-Deligne [2]) that a perverse sheaf on X is an object K in $\mathcal{D}_c^b(X)$ which satisfies the following two conditions:

 $\dim (\operatorname{Supp}(\mathcal{H}^{i}K)) \leq -i,$ $\dim (\operatorname{Supp}(\mathcal{H}^{i}D_{X}K)) \leq -i \text{ for all } i \in \mathbb{Z}.$

The full subcategory of $\mathcal{D}_{c}^{b}(X)$ of perverse sheaves on X forms an abelian category (see BBD [2, Théorème 1.3.6]) and its objects are all of finite length (see BBD [2, Théorème 4.3.1 (i)]).

Let now *Y* be an irreducible open nonsingular subset of *X* such that $\overline{Y} = X$. Then for a local system ξ on *Y*, we let $IC^{\bullet}_{X,\xi} \in \mathcal{D}^b_c(X)$ be the intersection cohomology complex defined by Goresky-McPherson and Deligne. The perverse sheaf $K = \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{X,\xi} := IC^{\bullet}_{X,\xi}[\dim X]$ is characterized by the following properties:

 $\mathcal{H}^{i}K = 0 \text{ if } i < -\dim X,$ $\mathcal{H}^{-\dim X}K|_{Y} = \xi,$ $\dim(\operatorname{Supp}(\mathcal{H}^{i}K)) < -i \text{ if } i > -\dim X,$ $\dim(\operatorname{Supp}(\mathcal{H}^{i}D_{X}K)) < -i \text{ if } i > -\dim X.$

If *U* is another open nonsingular subset of *X* and if ζ is any local system on *U* such that $\zeta|_{U\cap Y} = \xi|_{U\cap Y}$, then $IC^{\bullet}_{X,\xi} = IC^{\bullet}_{X,\zeta}$. This is why we omitt the open set *Y* from the notation $IC^{\bullet}_{X,\xi}$. We will simply denote by IC^{\bullet}_{X} the complex $IC^{\bullet}_{X,\overline{\Omega}_{\xi}}$.

Remark 3.1.1. Note that if U is a locally closed subvariety of X such that $\overline{U} \subsetneq X$ then $\mathcal{H}^{-\dim U}K|_U = 0$.

We have the following description of simple perverse sheaves due to Beilinson, Bernstein and Deligne. If Z is an irreducible closed subvariety of X and ξ an irreducible local system on some open subset of Z then the extension by zero of $\underline{IC}_{Z,\xi}^{\bullet}$ on X - Z is a simple perverse sheaf on X and any simple perverse sheaf on X arises in this way from some pair (Z, ξ) (see BBD [2, 4.3.1]).

It will be convenient to continue to denote by $IC^{\bullet}_{Z,\xi}$ and $\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{Z,\xi}$ their extension by zero on X - Z.

Note that if X is nonsingular then $\underline{IC}_{X,\xi}^{\bullet} =: \underline{\xi}$ is the complex K^{\bullet} concentrated in degree $-\dim X$ with $K^{-\dim X} = \xi$.

We define the compactly supported *i*-th intersection cohomology groups $IH_c^i(X,\xi)$ with coefficient in the local system ξ as the compactly supported *i*-th ℓ -adic hypercohomology group $\mathbb{H}_c^i(X, IC_{X,\xi}^{\bullet})$. If *f* is the unique morphism $X \to \{pt\}$, then $IH_c^i(X,\xi) = \mathcal{H}^i(f_!IC_{X,\xi}^{\bullet})$.

If X is nonsingular, then IC_X^{\bullet} is the constant sheaf κ concentrated in degree 0 and so $IH_c^i(X, \kappa) = H_c^i(X, \kappa)$.

We will need the following decomposition theorem of Beilinson, Bernstein, Deligne and Gabber.

Theorem 3.1.2. Suppose that $\varphi : X \to X'$ is a proper map with X irreducible. Then

$$\varphi_*(IC^{\bullet}_X) \simeq \bigoplus_{Z,\xi,r} V_{Z,\xi,r} \otimes IC^{\bullet}_{Z,\xi}[r]$$

where ξ is an irreducible local system on some open subset of a closed irreducible subvariety Z of X'. If moreover $\varphi_*(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_X)$ is a perverse sheaf, then

$$\varphi_*(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_X) \simeq \bigoplus_{Z,\xi} V_{Z,\xi} \otimes \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{Z,\xi}$$
(3.1.1)

The theorem remains true if we replace IC_X^{\bullet} by a semisimple object of "geometrical origin" [2, 6.2.4]. *Remark* 3.1.3. Let *Y* be a closed irreducible subvariety of *X'* and let *U* be a non-empty nonsingular open subset of *Y*. Note that

$$\mathcal{H}^{-\dim Y}\left(\bigoplus_{Z,\xi} V_{Z,\xi} \otimes \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{Z,\xi}\right) \bigg|_{U} \simeq \bigoplus_{\xi} V_{Y,\xi} \otimes \xi$$

where the direct sum on the right hand side is over the irreducible local systems on Y.

Definition 3.1.4. A proper surjective morphism $f : Z \to X$ is *semi-small* if and only if one of the following equivalent conditions is satisfied:

(i) dim { $x \in X | \dim f^{-1}(x) \ge i$ } $\le \dim X - 2i$ for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ge 0}$.

(ii) There exists a filtration $X := F_0 \supset F_1 \supset \cdots \supset F_r = \emptyset$ of X by closed subsets such that, for all $i \in \{0, \ldots, r-1\}$ and $x \in F_i - F_{i+1}$, we have $2 \dim f^{-1}(x) \leq \dim X - \dim F_i$.

We will use the following easy fact.

Lemma 3.1.5. Let $f : Z \to X$ be a proper surjective map and let $X := F_0 \supset F_1 \supset \cdots \supset F_r = \emptyset$ be a filtration of X by closed subsets. Let $h : X' \to X$ be a surjective map and put $F'_i = h^{-1}(F_i)$. Assume that dim X - dim F_i = dim X' - dim F'_i . Then the projection on the second coordinate $Z \times_X X' \to X'$ is semi-small with respect to the filtration $X' := F'_0 \supset F'_1 \supset \cdots \supset F'_r = \emptyset$ if and only if the map f is semi-small with respect to $X := F_0 \supset F_1 \supset \cdots \supset F_r = \emptyset$.

Definition 3.1.6. Let X be an algebraic variety over \mathbb{K} . We say that $X = \prod_{\alpha \in I} X_{\alpha}$ is a *stratification* of X if the set $\{\alpha \in I | X_{\alpha} \neq \emptyset\}$ is finite, for each $\alpha \in I$ such that $X_{\alpha} \neq \emptyset$, the subset X_{α} is a locally closed nonsingular equidimensional subvariety of X, and for each $\alpha, \beta \in I$, if $X_{\alpha} \cap \overline{X}_{\beta} \neq \emptyset$, then $X_{\alpha} \subset \overline{X}_{\beta}$.

It is well-known that if $f : Z \to X$ is a semi-small map with Z nonsingular and irreducible, then the complex $f_*(\xi)$ is a perverse sheaf for any local system ξ on Z.

We can actually generalize this result as follows.

Proposition 3.1.7. Let $f : Z \to X$ be a proper surjective map with Z irreducible and let $Z = \coprod_{\alpha \in I} Z_{\alpha}$ be a stratification of Z. For $x \in X$, put $f^{-1}(x)_{\alpha} := f^{-1}(x) \cap Z_{\alpha}$. Assume that

$$\dim\left\{x \in X \mid \dim f^{-1}(x)_{\alpha} \ge \frac{i}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{codim}_{Z}(Z_{\alpha})\right\} \le \dim X - i$$

holds for all $\alpha \in I$ and all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ where $\operatorname{codim}_Z(Z_\alpha) := \dim Z - \dim Z_\alpha$. Then for any perverse sheaf K on Z, the complex f_*K is a perverse sheaf on X.

This proposition is used and proved (without being stated explicitly) in Lusztig's generalisation of Springer correspondence [37, proof of Proposition 4.5].

Proof. We need to prove that

(i) dim (Supp(*H*ⁱ*f*_{*}*K*)) ≤ −*i*,
 (ii) dim (Supp(*H*ⁱ*D*_X*f*_{*}*K*)) ≤ −*i* for all *i* ∈ Z.

Since *f* is proper, the Verdier dual commutes with f_* and so we only prove (i) as the proof of (ii) will be similar. The stalk $\mathcal{H}_x^i f_* K$ is the hypercohomology $\mathbb{H}^i \left(f^-(x), K|_{f^{-1}(x)} \right)$. If for $x \in X$ we have $\mathbb{H}^i \left(f^-(x), K|_{f^{-1}(x)} \right) \neq 0$ this means that there exists $\alpha \in I$ such that the compactly supported hypercohomology $\mathbb{H}^i_c \left(f^-(x)_\alpha, K|_{f^{-1}(x)_\alpha} \right)$ does not vanish. Hence to prove (i) we are reduced to see that for all $\alpha \in I$ and *i*,

$$\dim\left\{x\in X \mid \mathbb{H}^{i}_{c}\left(f^{-1}(x)_{\alpha}, K|_{f^{-1}(x)_{\alpha}}\right)\neq 0\right\} \leq -i.$$
(3.1.2)

If $\mathbb{H}_{c}^{i}\left(f^{-1}(x)_{\alpha}, K|_{f^{-1}(x)_{\alpha}}\right) \neq 0$ then from the hypercohomology spectral sequence we may write *i* as $i_{1} + i_{2}$ with $i_{1} \leq 2 \dim f^{-1}(x)_{\alpha}$ and $\mathcal{H}^{i_{2}}\left(K|_{f^{-1}(x)_{\alpha}}\right) \neq 0$. The last condition implies that $\mathcal{H}^{i_{2}}K|_{Z_{\alpha}} \neq 0$. Since *K* is a perverse sheaf, we must have $i_{2} + \dim X \leq \operatorname{codim}_{Z}(Z_{\alpha})$. We thus have $i + \dim X \leq 2 \dim f^{-1}(x)_{\alpha} + \operatorname{codim}_{Z}(Z_{\alpha})$. Hence the inequality (3.1.2) is a consequence of the following one

 $\dim \left\{ x \in X \mid i + \dim X \le 2 \dim f^{-1}(x)_{\alpha} + \operatorname{codim}_{Z}(Z_{\alpha}) \right\} \le -i.$

Hence we are reduced to see that

$$\dim \left\{ x \in X \mid \dim f^{-1}(x)_{\alpha} \ge \frac{1}{2} \left(i - \operatorname{codim}_{Z}(Z_{\alpha}) \right) \right\} \le \dim X - i$$

for all *i*.

$$\varphi_*(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_X) \simeq \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{X'} \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{Z,\xi} V_{Z,\xi} \otimes \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{Z,\xi}\right)$$
(3.1.3)

with $Z \subsetneq X'$. In particular

$$IH_{c}^{i}(X,\kappa) \simeq IH_{c}^{i}(X',\kappa) \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{Z,\xi} V_{Z,\xi} \otimes IH_{c}^{i+d_{Z}-d_{X}}(Z,\xi)\right).$$
(3.1.4)

where d_Z the dimension of Z.

The isomorphism (3.1.4) is obtained from (3.1.3) by applying the functor $f_!$ with $f: X' \to \{pt\}$.

Corollary 3.1.9. Assume that $\varphi : X \to X'$ satisfies the condition in Proposition 3.1.7. If $X' = \bigcup_{\alpha \in I} X'_{\alpha}$ where I is a finite set and where the X'_{α} are locally closed irreducible subvarieties of X' such that the restriction of $\mathcal{H}^i(\varphi_*(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_X))$ to X'_{α} is a locally constant sheaf for all i and all $\alpha \in I$, then

$$\varphi_*\left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_X\right) \simeq \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{X'} \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\alpha,\xi_{\alpha}} V_{\alpha,\xi_{\alpha}} \otimes \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\overline{X}'_{\alpha},\xi_{\alpha}}\right)$$

where the direct sum is over the α such that $\overline{X}'_{\alpha} \subsetneq Y$.

Proof. Let Z be an irreducible closed subvariety of X' such that $\underline{IC}_{Z,\xi}^{\bullet}$ is a direct summand of $\varphi_*(\underline{IC}_X^{\bullet})$. We have $Z = \bigcup_{\alpha} (X'_{\alpha} \cap Z)$. Since Z is irreducible, there exists an α such that $X'_{\alpha} \cap Z$ is dense in Z. We have $\mathcal{H}^{-\dim Z} \varphi_*(\underline{IC}_X^{\bullet})\Big|_{X'_{\alpha} \cap Z} \neq 0$. Since $\mathcal{H}^{-\dim Z} \varphi_*(\underline{IC}_X^{\bullet})\Big|_{X'_{\alpha}}$ is locally constant and non-zero, we have $X'_{\alpha} \subset \text{Supp}(\mathcal{H}^{-\dim Z}\varphi_*(\underline{IC}_X^{\bullet}))$. Hence

$$\dim X'_{\alpha} \leq \dim \left(\operatorname{Supp} \left(\mathcal{H}^{-\dim Z} \varphi_* \left(\underline{I} \underline{C}^{\bullet}_X \right) \right) \right) \leq \dim Z$$

The right inequality holds because $\varphi_*\left(\underline{IC}_X^\bullet\right)$ is a perverse sheaf. Since dim $(X'_{\alpha} \cap Z) = \dim Z$, we deduce that the inclusion $X'_{\alpha} \cap Z \subset X'_{\alpha}$ is an equality, i.e., $X'_{\alpha} \subset Z$, and so that $\overline{X}'_{\alpha} = Z$.

Assume that \mathbb{K} is an algebraic closure of a finite field \mathbb{F}_q and that X is an irreducible algebraic variety defined over \mathbb{F}_q . We denote by $F : X \to X$ the corresponding Frobenius endomorphism. We will use either the notation X^F or $X(\mathbb{F}_q)$ to denote the fixed points of X by F. Let $K \in \mathcal{D}_c^b(X)$ and assume that there exists an isomorphism $\varphi : F^*(K) \simeq K$. The *characteristic function* $\mathbf{X}_{K,\varphi} : X^F \to \kappa$ of (K, φ) is defined by

$$\mathbf{X}_{K,\varphi}(x) = \sum_{i} (-1)^{i} \operatorname{Trace}(\varphi_{x}^{i}, \mathcal{H}_{x}^{i}K).$$

If $r \in \mathbb{Z}$, we denote by K(r) the *r*-th Tate twist of *K*. Then $\mathbf{X}_{K(r),\varphi(r)} = q^{-r} \mathbf{X}_{K,\varphi}$.

Let *Y* be an open nonsingular *F*-stable subset of *X*. We will simply denote by $\mathbf{X}_{IC_X^{\bullet}}$ the function $\mathbf{X}_{IC_X^{\bullet,\varphi}}$ where $\varphi : F^*(IC_X^{\bullet}) \to IC_X^{\bullet}$ is the unique isomorphism which induces the identity on $\mathcal{H}_x^0(IC_X^{\bullet})$ for all $x \in Y^F$.

3.2 Restriction

Assume that X is irreducible. Let Z be an irreducible closed subvariety of X et let $i : Z \hookrightarrow X$ denotes the inclusion. We give a condition for $i^*(IC_X^{\bullet}) = IC_Z^{\bullet}$ to be true.

(i) if $Z_{\alpha} := X_{\alpha} \cap Z$ is not empty, then it is equidimensional and $\operatorname{codim}_X X_{\alpha} = \operatorname{codim}_Z Z_{\alpha}$. Assume moreover that there exists a Cartesian diagram



such that the conditions (ii) and (iii) below are satisfied.

(ii) f and g are semi-small resolutions of singularities.

(iii) The restriction of the sheaf $\mathcal{H}^i(f_*(\kappa))$ to X_{α} is a locally constant sheaf for all *i*. Then $i^*(IC_X^{\bullet}) = IC_Z^{\bullet}$.

Proof. If *Y* is a variety, let d_Y denote its dimension. Let $\alpha_o \in I$ be such that X_{α_o} is the open stratum of *X*. To avoid any confusion we will use the notation $IC_Z^{\bullet}[d_Z]$ instead of $\underline{IC}_Z^{\bullet}$. By Corollary 3.1.9, we have

$$f_*(\kappa[d_X]) = IC_X^{\bullet}[d_X] \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\alpha \neq \alpha_o, \xi_\alpha} V_{\alpha, \xi_\alpha} \otimes IC_{\overline{X}_\alpha, \xi_\alpha}^{\bullet}[d_{X_\alpha}]\right).$$
(3.2.1)

By (iii) and $i^* f_*(\kappa) = g_*(\kappa)$ we see that the restriction of $\mathcal{H}^i(g_*(\kappa))$ to Z_α is locally constant. Hence by Corollary 3.1.9, we have

$$g_*(\kappa[d_Z]) = IC_Z^{\bullet}[d_Z] \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\alpha \neq \alpha_{\alpha}, \beta \in I_{\alpha, \zeta_{\alpha,\beta}}} W_{(\alpha,\beta), \zeta_{\alpha,\beta}} \otimes IC_{\overline{Z}_{(\alpha,\beta), \zeta_{\alpha,\beta}}}^{\bullet}[d_{Z_{\alpha}}] \right)$$
(3.2.2)

where $\{Z_{(\alpha,\beta)}\}_{\beta \in I_{\alpha}}$ is the set of irreducible components of Z_{α} . Using again $i^* f_*(\kappa) = g_*(\kappa)$ we see from (3.2.1) and (3.2.2) that the complex $i^*(IC_X^{\bullet})[d_Z]$ is a direct summand of the semisimple perverse sheaf $g_*(\kappa[d_Z])$. It is therefore a semisimple perverse subsheaf of $g_*(\kappa[d_Z])$. Since the open stratum Z_{α_n} of Z is contained in the open stratum of X, the restriction of $i^*(\mathcal{IC}^{\bullet}_X)[d_Z]$ to Z_{α_o} is the constant sheaf $\kappa[d_Z]$. Hence $i^*(\mathcal{IC}^{\bullet}_X)[d_Z]$ contains $IC_Z^{\bullet}[d_Z]$ as a direct summand, i.e.,

$$i^{*}(IC_{X}^{\bullet})[d_{Z}] = IC_{Z}^{\bullet}[d_{Z}] \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\alpha \neq \alpha_{\sigma}, \beta \in I_{\alpha}, \zeta_{\alpha\beta}} W'_{(\alpha,\beta), \zeta_{\alpha\beta}} \otimes IC_{\overline{Z}_{(\alpha\beta), \zeta_{\alpha\beta}}}^{\bullet}[d_{Z_{\alpha}}]\right)$$

for some subspaces $W'_{(\alpha,\beta),\zeta_{\alpha\beta}} \subset W_{(\alpha,\beta),\zeta_{\alpha\beta}}$. It remains to see that $W'_{(\alpha,\beta),\zeta_{\alpha\beta}} = 0$ for all $\alpha \neq \alpha_o$. Put $K := i^*(\mathcal{IC}^{\bullet}_X)[d_Z]$. Then for $\alpha \neq \alpha_o$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}^{-d_{Z_{\alpha}}}K|_{Z_{\alpha}} &= \mathcal{H}^{d_{Z}-d_{Z_{\alpha}}}IC^{\bullet}_{X}|_{Z_{\alpha}} \\ &= \mathcal{H}^{d_{X}-d_{X_{\alpha}}}IC^{\bullet}_{X}|_{Z_{\alpha}} \\ &= \mathcal{H}^{-d_{X_{\alpha}}}IC^{\bullet}_{X}[d_{X}]|_{Z_{\alpha}} \\ &= 0. \end{aligned}$$

The last equality follows from Remark 3.1.1. Hence $W'_{(\alpha,\beta),\zeta_{\alpha\beta}} = 0$ by Remark 3.1.3 and we proved the proposition.

3.3 E-polynomial

Recall that a mixed Hodge structure on a rational vector space *H* consist of a finite increasing filtration W_{\bullet} (the weight filtration) on *H*, and a finite decreasing filtration F^{\bullet} (the Hodge filtration) on the complexification $H_{\mathbb{C}}$, which induces a pure Hodge structure of weight *k* on the complexified graded pieces $\operatorname{Gr}_{k}^{W}H_{\mathbb{C}} = (W_{k}H/W_{k-1}H)_{\mathbb{C}}$, i.e.,

$$\operatorname{Gr}_{k}^{W}H_{\mathbb{C}} = \bigoplus_{p+q=k} \left(\operatorname{Gr}_{k}^{W}H_{\mathbb{C}}\right)^{p,q}$$

with

$$\left(\mathrm{Gr}_{k}^{W}H_{\mathbb{C}}\right)^{p,q} = F^{p}\mathrm{Gr}_{k}^{W}H_{\mathbb{C}}\cap\overline{F^{q}\mathrm{Gr}_{k}^{W}H_{\mathbb{C}}}.$$

We call the integers $\{h^{p,q} := \dim (\operatorname{Gr}_{p+q}^{W} H_{\mathbb{C}})^{p,q}\}_{p,q}$ the mixed Hodge numbers.

Recall (Saito [51], see also [48, Chapter 14]) that for any complex algebraic variety X, the intersection cohomology group $IH_c^k(X, \mathbb{C})$ is endowed with a mixed Hodge structure. If X is nonsingular, it coincides with Deligne's mixed Hodge structure on $H_c(X, \mathbb{C})$ which is defined in [10].

We then denote by $\{ih_c^{p,q,k}(X)\}_{p,q}$ the mixed Hodge numbers of $IH_c^k(X, \mathbb{C})$ and we define the mixed Hodge polynomial of X as

$$IH_c(X; x, y, z) = \sum_{p,q,k} ih_c^{p,q;k}(X) x^p y^q z^k.$$

The compactly supported Poincaré polynomial of X is then $IH_c(X; 1, 1, t)$.

In this paper we will say that X is *pure* if the mixed Hodge structure on $IH_c^k(X, \mathbb{C})$ is pure for all k, i.e., if $ih_c^{p,q;k}(X) = 0$ when $p + q \neq k$.

The *E*-polynomial of *X* is defined as

$$E^{ic}(X; x, y) := IH_c(X; x, y, -1) = \sum_{p,q} \left(\sum_k (-1)^k i h_c^{p,q;k}(X) \right) x^p y^q.$$

Let *R* be a subring of \mathbb{C} which is finitely generated as a \mathbb{Z} -algebra and let *X* be a separated *R*-scheme of finite type. According to [20, Appendix], we say that *X* is *strongly polynomial count* if there exists a polynomial $P(T) \in \mathbb{C}[T]$ such that for any finite field \mathbb{F}_q and any ring homomorphism $\varphi : R \to \mathbb{F}_q$, the \mathbb{F}_q -scheme X^{φ} obtained from *X* by base change is polynomial count with counting polynomial *P*, i.e., for every finite extension $\mathbb{F}_{q^n}/\mathbb{F}_q$, we have

$$\sharp\{X^{\varphi}(\mathbb{F}_{q^n})\} = P(q^n).$$

According to Katz terminology (cf. [Appendix][20]), we call a separated *R*-scheme X which gives back X after extension of scalars from R to \mathbb{C} a *spreading out* of X.

The complex variety X is said to be *polynomial count* if there exists a spreading out of X which is strongly polynomial count.

Let us now denote by $\{h_c^{i,j,k}(X)\}_{i,j}$ the mixed Hodge numbers of $H_c^k(X, \mathbb{C})$ and put

$$E(X; x, y) := \sum_{i,j} \left(\sum_k (-1)^k h_c^{i,j;k}(X) \right) x^i y^j.$$

We recall the result of Katz in the appendix of [20] (see also Kisin and Lehrer [27] for closely related results).

Theorem 3.3.1. Assume that X is polynomial count with counting polynomial $P \in \mathbb{C}[T]$. Then

$$E(X; x, y) = P(xy).$$

Let $X = \coprod_{\alpha \in I} X_{\alpha}$ be a stratification and let X_{α_o} be the open stratum, i.e., $X = \overline{X}_{\alpha_o}$. Put $\alpha \leq \beta$ if $X_{\alpha} \subset \overline{X}_{\beta}$, and $r_{\alpha} := (\dim X_{\alpha} - \dim X)/2$.

We say that *X* satisfies the property (*E*) with respect to this stratification and the ring *R* if there exists a spreading out X of *X*, a stratification $X = \coprod_{\alpha} X_{\alpha}$, and a morphism $\nabla : \tilde{X} \to X$ of *R*-schemes such that: (1) \tilde{X} and the closed strata X_{α} are strongly polynomial count,

(2) for each α , the stratum X_{α} is a spreading out of X_{α} , the morphism $r : \tilde{X} \to X$ obtained from ∇ after extension of scalars from R to \mathbb{C} yields an isomorphism of mixed Hodge structures

$$H^{i}_{c}(\tilde{X},\mathbb{Q}) \simeq IH^{i}_{c}(X,\mathbb{Q}) \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\alpha \neq \alpha_{o}} W_{\alpha} \otimes \left(IH^{i+2r_{\alpha}}_{c}(\overline{X}_{\alpha},\mathbb{Q}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}(r_{\alpha})\right)\right),$$
(3.3.1)

where $\mathbb{Q}(-d)$ is the pure mixed Hodge structure on \mathbb{Q} of weight 2*d* and with Hodge filtration $F^d = \mathbb{C}$ and $F^{d+1} = 0$.

(3) for any ring homomorphism $\varphi : R \to \mathbb{F}_q$, the morphism $\nabla^{\varphi} : \tilde{X}^{\varphi} \to X^{\varphi}$ obtained from ∇ by base change yields an isomorphism

$$(\nabla^{\varphi})_{*}(\underline{\kappa}) \simeq \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{X}^{\varphi}} \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\alpha \neq \alpha_{o}} W_{\alpha} \otimes \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\overline{\mathcal{X}}^{\varphi}_{\alpha}}(r_{\alpha})\right)$$
(3.3.2)

of perverse sheaves.

Assume now that all complex varieties \overline{X}_{α} (in particular *X*) satisfy the property (*E*) with respect to the stratification $\overline{X}_{\alpha} = \coprod_{\beta \leq \alpha} X_{\beta}$ and the ring R_{α} . Since there is only a finite number of strata we may assume without loss of generalities that the rings R_{α} are all equal to the same ring *R*.

Theorem 3.3.2. With the above assumption, there exists a polynomial $P(T) \in \mathbb{Z}[T]$ such that for any ring homomorphism $\varphi : R \to \mathbb{F}_q$, we have

$$\sum_{x \in \mathcal{X}^{\varphi}(\mathbb{F}_q)} \mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{X}^{\varphi}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q)}}(x) = P(q)$$
(3.3.3)

and

$$E^{ic}(X; x, y) = P(xy).$$

Proof. If there is only one stratum, i.e., if X is nonsingular, then the theorem is true by Theorem 3.3.1. The theorem is now easy to prove by induction on $\alpha < \beta$. Assume that the theorem is true for all $\alpha < \alpha_o$. By Formula (3.3.1), we have

$$E(\tilde{X}; x, y) = E^{ic}(X; x, y) + \sum_{\alpha < \alpha_o} (\dim W_\alpha) \, x^{-r_\alpha} y^{-r_\alpha} E^{ic}\left(\overline{X}_\alpha; x, y\right).$$

By induction hypothesis and since \tilde{X} is polynomial count, this formula shows that $E^{ic}(X; x, y)$ depends only on the product xy, i.e., that there exists a unique polynomial P such that $E^{ic}(X; x, y) = P(xy)$, more precisely P is defined as $P = \tilde{P} - \sum_{\alpha < \alpha_o} (\dim W_\alpha) x^{-r_\alpha} y^{-r_\alpha} P_\alpha(xy)$ where \tilde{P} is the counting polynomial of X and P_α (with $\alpha \neq \alpha_o$) is the polynomial which satisfies the theorem for $X = \overline{X}_\alpha$. It remains to see that P satisfies Formula (3.3.3).

By Formula (3.3.2), we have

$$\mathbf{X}_{(\nabla^{\varphi})_{*}(\kappa)} = \mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{X}^{\varphi}}} + \sum_{\alpha < \alpha_{o}} (\dim W_{\alpha}) q^{-r_{\alpha}} \mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{\mathcal{X}^{\varphi}_{\alpha}}}}.$$
(3.3.4)

By Grothendieck trace formula we have

$$\sum_{x \in \mathcal{X}^{\varphi}(\mathbb{F}_q)} \mathbf{X}_{(\nabla^{\varphi})_*(\kappa)}(x) = \#\{\tilde{\mathcal{X}}^{\varphi}(\mathbb{F}_q)\} = \tilde{P}(q).$$

Now integrating Formula (3.3.4) over $\mathcal{X}^{\varphi}(\mathbb{F}_q)$ proves Formula (3.3.3).

Proposition 3.3.3. Assume that X satifies the assumptions of Theorem 3.3.2 and that X is pure. Then for any ring homomorphism $\varphi : R \to \mathbb{F}_q$ we have

$$\sum_{x \in \mathcal{X}^{\varphi}(\mathbb{F}_q)} \mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{X}^{\varphi}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q)}}(x) = P_c(X;q)$$

where $P_c(X; t) := \sum_i \left(\dim IH_c^{2i}(X, \mathbb{C}) \right) t^i$.

Proof. Since X is pure we have $E^{ic}(X; x, y) = \sum_{p,q} (-1)^{p+q} i h_c^{p,q;p+q}(X) x^p y^q$. By Theorem 3.3.2, the polynomial $E^{ic}(X; x, y)$ depends only on the product xy, hence $i h_c^{p,q;p+q}(X) = 0$ if $p \neq q$. The mixed Hodge numbers of X are thus all of the form $i h_c^{p,p;2p}(X)$ and so $E^{ic}(X; x, y) = P_c(X; xy)$.

4 Preliminaries on quiver varieties

We introduce the so-called quiver varieties $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ and $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$ over \mathbb{K} which were considered by many authors including Kronheimer, Lusztig, Nakajima and Crawley-Boevey. The second one, due to Nakajima and called *framed* quiver varieties, can be realized as the first one by an observation due to Crawley-Boevey [5, introduction]. For our application we found more convenient to introduce them separatly. Here we recall the basic results we need.

In this section we will only consider quotients of affine varieties by (finite) direct products of GL_n 's. If $G = GL_{n_1} \times \cdots \times GL_{n_r}$ is such a group and if $\chi : G \to \mathbb{K}^{\times}$, $(g_i) \mapsto \prod_i (\det g_i)^{-\theta_i}$ is the character given by $\theta \in \mathbb{Z}^{\{1,\dots,r\}}$, then we will use the notation $X//_{\theta}G$ instead of $X//_{\Phi}G$ and we will use often X^{ss} instead of $X^{ss}(\Phi)$ when the context is clear.

4.1 Generalities on quiver varieties

Let Γ be a quiver and let I denote the set of its vertices. We assume that I is finite. A *dimension vector* for Γ is a collection of non-negative integers $\mathbf{v} = \{v_i\}_{i \in I} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^I$ and a representation of Γ of dimension \mathbf{v} over \mathbb{K} is a collection of \mathbb{K} -linear maps $\varphi_{i,j} : \mathbb{K}^{v_i} \to \mathbb{K}^{v_j}$, for each arrow $i \to j$ of Γ , that we identify with matrices (using the canonical basis of \mathbb{K}^r). We define a morphism between two representations (possibly of different dimension) in the obvious way. A *subrepresentation* of φ is a representation φ' together with an injective morphism $\varphi' \to \varphi$. Let Ω be a set indexing the edges of Γ . For $\gamma \in \Omega$, let $h(\gamma), t(\gamma) \in I$ denote respectively the head and the tail of γ . The algebraic group $GL_{\mathbf{v}} := \prod_{i \in I} GL_{v_i}(\mathbb{K})$ acts on the space

$$\mathbf{M}(\Gamma, \mathbf{v}) := \bigoplus_{\gamma \in \Omega} \operatorname{Mat}_{\nu_{h(\gamma)}, \nu_{t(\gamma)}}(\mathbb{K})$$

of representations of dimension **v** in the obvious way, i.e., for $g = (g_i)_{i \in I} \in GL_v$ and $B = (x_\gamma)_{\gamma \in \Omega}$, we have $g \cdot B := (g_{\nu_{h(\gamma)}} x_\gamma g_{\nu_{t(\gamma)}}^{-1})$. As the diagonal center $Z = \{(\lambda . Id_{\nu_i})_{i \in I} | \lambda \in \mathbb{K}^\times\} \subset GL_v$ acts trivially, the action of GL_v induces an action of

$$G_v := GL_v/Z.$$

Clearly two elements of $M(\Gamma, v)$ are isomorphic if and only if they are G_v -conjugate.

We define a bilinear form on \mathbb{K}^I by $\mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{b} = \sum_i a_i b_i$. Let $\boldsymbol{\theta} \in \mathbb{Z}^I$ be such that $\boldsymbol{\theta} \cdot \mathbf{v} = 0$. This defines a character $\chi : \mathbf{G}_{\mathbf{v}} \to \mathbb{K}^{\times}$ given by $(g_i)_i \mapsto \prod_i \det(g_i)^{-\theta_i}$.

Theorem 4.1.1. [26] A point $B \in \mathbf{M}(\Gamma, \mathbf{v})$ is χ -semistable if and only if

$$\theta \cdot \dim B' \leq 0$$

for every subrepresentation B' of B. It is χ -stable if and only if it is semistable and the inequality is strict unless B' = 0 or $B' \simeq B$.

21

We will use the terminology " θ -semistable" instead of " χ -semistable". We denote respectively by $\mathbf{M}_{\theta}^{ss}(\Gamma, \mathbf{v})$ and $\mathbf{M}_{\theta}^{s}(\Gamma, \mathbf{v})$ the θ -semistable and θ -stable representations.

Let $\overline{\Gamma}$ be the *double quiver* of Γ i.e. $\overline{\Gamma}$ has the same vertices as Γ but the edges are given by $\overline{\Omega} := \{\gamma, \gamma^* | \gamma \in \Omega\}$ where $h(\gamma^*) = t(\gamma)$ and $t(\gamma^*) = h(\gamma)$. Then via the trace pairing we may identify $\mathbf{M}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v})$ with the cotangent bundle $T^*\mathbf{M}(\Gamma, \mathbf{v})$. Put $\mathfrak{gl}_{\mathbf{v}} = \operatorname{Lie}(\operatorname{GL}_{\mathbf{v}}) = \bigoplus_i \mathfrak{gl}_{v_i}(\mathbb{K})$ and $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbf{v}} := \operatorname{Lie}(\operatorname{G}_{\mathbf{v}})$. Define the *moment map*

$$\mu_{\mathbf{v}} : \mathbf{M}(\overline{\mathbf{\Gamma}}, \mathbf{v}) \to \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{v})^{0}$$

$$(x_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \overline{\Omega}} \mapsto \sum_{\gamma \in \Omega} [x_{\gamma}, x_{\gamma^{*}}],$$

$$(4.1.1)$$

where

$$\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{v})^0 := \left\{ (f_i)_{i \in I} \in \mathfrak{gl}_{\mathbf{v}} \; \middle| \; \sum_{i \in I} \operatorname{Tr} \; (f_i) = 0 \right\}.$$

Note that we can identify $M(\mathbf{v})^0$ with $(\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbf{v}})^*$ via the trace pairing. The moment map $\mu_{\mathbf{v}}$ is $\mathbf{G}_{\mathbf{v}}$ -equivariant. Let $\boldsymbol{\xi} = (\xi_i)_i \in \mathbb{K}^I$ be such that $\boldsymbol{\xi} \cdot \mathbf{v} = 0$. Then

 $(\xi_i.\mathrm{Id})_i \in \mathfrak{gl}_\mathbf{v}$

is in fact in $M(\mathbf{v})^0$. By abuse of notation we denote by $\boldsymbol{\xi}$ the element $(\boldsymbol{\xi}_i.\mathrm{Id}_{v_i})_i \in M(\mathbf{v})^0$. The affine variety $\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})$ is $\mathbf{G}_{\mathbf{v}}$ -stable.

Define

$$\mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi},\boldsymbol{\theta}}(\mathbf{v}) := \mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}) / / \boldsymbol{\theta} \mathbf{G}_{\mathbf{v}}.$$

We define $\mathfrak{M}^{s}_{\boldsymbol{\xi},\boldsymbol{\theta}}(\mathbf{v})$ as the image of $\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})^{s}$ in $\mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi},\boldsymbol{\theta}}(\mathbf{v})$. By Theorem 2.1.1, it is an open subset of $\mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi},\boldsymbol{\theta}}(\mathbf{v})$.

Since stabilizers in $G_{\mathbf{v}}$ of quiver representations are connected, the action of $G_{\mathbf{v}}$ on the space $\mathbf{M}_{\theta}^{s}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v})$ is set-theoritically free and so the restriction $\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\xi)^{s} \to \mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}^{s}(\mathbf{v})$ of φ is the set theoritical quotient $\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\xi)^{s} \to \mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\xi)^{s}/G_{\mathbf{v}}$. By [49, Lemma 6.5], the map $\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\xi)^{s} \to \mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\xi)^{s}/G_{\mathbf{v}}$ is actually a principal $G_{\mathbf{v}}$ -bundle (in the étale topology).

We put $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi}(\mathbf{v}) := \mathfrak{M}_{\xi,0}(\mathbf{v})$. It is the affine GIT quotient $\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\xi)//G_{\mathbf{v}} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{K}[\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\xi)]^{G_{\mathbf{v}}})$. The set $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi}(\mathbf{v})$ parameterizes the set of conjugacy classes of the semisimple representations of $\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\xi)$. Under this parameterization, the open subset $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi}^{s}(\mathbf{v})$ of 0-stable points coincides with the set of conjugacy classes of simple representations.

The natural projective morphism $\pi : \mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v}) \to \mathfrak{M}_{\xi}(\mathbf{v})$ takes a representation to its semi-simplification. Let $\mathbf{C} = (c_{ij})_{i,j}$ be the Cartan matrix of the quiver Γ , namely

$$c_{ij} = \begin{cases} 2 - 2(\text{the number of edges joining } i \text{ to itself}) & \text{if } i = j \\ -(\text{the number of edges joining } i \text{ to } j) & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

We say that a variety X is of *pure dimension* d if its irreducible components are all of same dimension d. We have the following well-known theorem (the irreducibility is an important result of Crawley-Boevey [5]).

Theorem 4.1.2. Let $\theta \in \mathbb{Z}^{l}$ be such that $\theta \cdot \mathbf{v} = 0$. If $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}^{s}(\mathbf{v}) \neq \emptyset$, then it is nonsingular of pure dimension $2 - {}^{t}\mathbf{vCv}$. If $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi}^{s}(\mathbf{v})$ is not empty, then $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}^{s}(\mathbf{v})$ is also not empty and $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ is irreducible.

Proof. First a simple representation is necessarily θ -stable, hence $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi}^{s}(\mathbf{v}) \neq \emptyset$ implies $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}^{s}(\mathbf{v}) \neq \emptyset$. It is a result of Crawley-Boevey [5, Theorem 1.2] that the existence of simple representations in $\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\xi)$ implies the irreducibility of $\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\xi)$ and so the irreducibility of $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}^{s}(\mathbf{v})$ and $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v})$. Note that a point $\alpha \in \mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\xi)$ is nonsingular if $\mu_{\mathbf{v}}$ is smooth at α , that is if the stabilizer of α in $G_{\mathbf{v}}$ is trivial. From this we deduce that the space $\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\xi)^{s}$ of θ -stable representations is a nonsingular space of dimension dim $\mathbf{M}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v}) - \dim G_{\nu}$, and so that $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}^{s}(\mathbf{v})$ is nonsingular of dimension

$$2 - {}^{t}\mathbf{v}\mathbf{C}\mathbf{v} = \dim \mathbf{M}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v}) - 2\dim \mathbf{G}_{v}$$

For $\mathbf{w} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{I}$, we denote by $H_{\mathbf{w}}$ the hyperplane { $\alpha \in \mathbb{Q}^{I} \mid \alpha \cdot \mathbf{w} = 0$ } of \mathbb{Q}^{I} . Put $H_{\mathbf{vw}} := H_{\mathbf{v}} \cap H_{\mathbf{w}}$ and

$$D_{\mathbf{v}} := H_{\mathbf{v}} - \bigcup_{\mathbf{w} \in \mathcal{E}(\mathbf{v})} H_{\mathbf{vw}}$$

We say that **v** is *indivisible* if the gcd of $\{v_i\}_{i \in I}$ is 1. Note that D_v is not empty if and only if **v** is *indivisible*.

When **v** is indivisible, the spaces H_{vw} are hyperplanes of H_v and so defines a system of *faces* [4, Chapter 1,§1].

Definition 4.1.3. We say that θ is *generic* with respect to **v** if $\theta \in D_{\mathbf{v}}$.

If θ is generic then θ -semistability coincides with θ -stability, and so

$$\mathfrak{M}^{s}_{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\theta}}(\mathbf{v}) = \mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\theta}}(\mathbf{v})$$

The variety $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ is thus nonsingular for generic θ . We have [44][47, §2.5]:

Proposition 4.1.4. Assume that θ is generic and that $\mathfrak{M}^{s}_{\xi}(\mathbf{v}) \neq \emptyset$. Then the map $\pi : \mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v}) \to \mathfrak{M}_{\xi}(\mathbf{v})$ is a resolution of singularities.

The following proposition is proved in [18, Proof of Proposition 2.2.6].

Theorem 4.1.5. Assume that $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ and that θ is generic. Then for any parameter ξ , the varieties $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ and $\mathfrak{M}_{0,\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ have isomorphic cohomology supporting pure mixed Hodge structure.

We also have the following result of Nakajima [9, Appendix B].

Theorem 4.1.6. Assume that $\mathbb{K} = \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ and that θ is generic. Then there exists $r_0 \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ such that for all $r \geq r_0$ the varieties $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ and $\mathfrak{M}_{0,\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ have the same number of points over \mathbb{F}_{q^r} .

We now give a criterion due to Crawley-Boevey for the non-emptyness of $\mathfrak{M}^{s}_{\xi}(\mathbf{v})$. For $i \in I$ let $\mathbf{e}_{i} \in \mathbb{Z}^{I}$ be the vector with 1 at the vertex *i* and zero elsewhere and let $\Phi(\Gamma) \subset \mathbb{Z}^{I}$ be the root system associated to Γ defined as in [22]. We denote by $\Phi^{+}(\Gamma)$ the set of positive roots. Let (,) be the symmetric bilinear form on the root lattice \mathbb{Z}^{I} given by $(\mathbf{e}_{i}, \mathbf{e}_{j}) = c_{ij}$. Note that vertices of Γ may support loops.

For $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}^{l}$, we put $p(\alpha) = 1 - \frac{1}{2}(\alpha, \alpha)$. If α is a real root we have $p(\alpha) = 0$ and if α is an imaginary root then $p(\alpha) > 0$.

The following theorem is due to Crawley-Boevey [5, Theorem 1.2].

Theorem 4.1.7. (*i*) The space $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi}(\mathbf{v})$ is non-empty if and only if $\mathbf{v} = \beta_1 + \beta_2 + \ldots$ with $\beta_i \in \Phi^+(\Gamma)$ and $\beta_i \cdot \boldsymbol{\xi} = 0$ for all *i*.

(ii) The space $\mathfrak{M}^{s}_{\xi}(\mathbf{v})$ is non-empty if and only if $\mathbf{v} \in \Phi^{+}(\Gamma)$ and $p(\mathbf{v}) > p(\beta_{1}) + p(\beta_{2}) + \dots$ for any nontrivial decomposition of \mathbf{v} as a sum $\mathbf{v} = \beta_{1} + \beta_{2} + \dots$ with $\beta_{i} \in \Phi^{+}(\Gamma)$ and $\beta_{i} \cdot \boldsymbol{\xi} = 0$ for all *i*.

4.2 Nakajima's framed quiver varieties

The construction of the so-called framed quiver varieties follows the above one's except that we have an additional graded vector space W.

Let Γ and **v** be as in §4.1. Let $\mathbf{w} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{I}$ be an other dimension vector. Put $L_{\mathbf{v},\mathbf{w}} = \bigoplus_{i \in I} \operatorname{Mat}_{w_{i},v_{i}}(\mathbb{K}) \simeq \bigoplus_{i \in I} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{K}^{v_{i}}, \mathbb{K}^{w_{i}}), L_{\mathbf{w},\mathbf{v}} = \bigoplus_{i \in I} \operatorname{Mat}_{v_{i},w_{i}}(\mathbb{K})$, and

$$\mathbf{M}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w}) := \mathbf{M}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v}) \oplus L_{\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w}} \oplus L_{\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w}}.$$

$$g \cdot (B, a, b) = (g \cdot B, a \cdot g^{-1}, g \cdot b)$$
 (4.2.1)

where $g \cdot B$ is the action defined in §4.1.

Consider the moment map

$$\mu_{\mathbf{v},\mathbf{w}}:\mathbf{M}(\Gamma,\mathbf{v},\mathbf{w})\to\mathfrak{gl}_{\mathbf{v}}\simeq(\mathfrak{gl}_{\mathbf{v}})^*$$

that maps (B, a, b) to $-ba + \mu_{\mathbf{v}}(B)$. For $\boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathbb{Z}^{I}$ we denote by $\mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi}}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$ the affine framed quiver variety $\mu_{\mathbf{v},\mathbf{w}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})//\mathrm{GL}_{\mathbf{v}}$ as in [45]. Note that unlike in §4.1, we do not assume that $\boldsymbol{\xi} \cdot \mathbf{v} = 0$.

Definition 4.2.1. Let $\theta \in \mathbb{Z}^{I}$. A point $(B, a, b) \in \mathbf{M}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$ is θ -semistable if the two following conditions are satisfied:

(i) For any *B*-invariant subspace *S* of *V* such that S_i is contained in Ker (a_i) for all $i \in I$, the inequality $\theta \cdot \dim S \leq 0$ holds.

(ii) For any *B*-invariant subspace *T* of *V* such that T_i contains $\text{Im}(b_i)$ for all $i \in I$, the inequality $\theta \cdot \dim T \leq \theta \cdot \mathbf{v}$ holds.

The point (B, a, b) is called θ -stable if strict inequalities hold in (i), (ii) unless S = 0, T = V respectively.

We denote respectively by $\mathbf{M}_{\theta}^{ss}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$ and $\mathbf{M}_{\theta}^{s}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$ the set of θ -semistable and θ -stable points. Then $\mathbf{M}_{\theta}^{s}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$ is an open subset of $\mathbf{M}_{\theta}^{ss}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$ on which the group $\mathrm{GL}_{\mathbf{v}}$ acts set-theoritically freely.

Remark 4.2.2. (i) If $\theta_i \ge 0$ for all $i \in I$, then the condition (ii) of Definition 4.2.1 is always satisfied and so a representation is θ -semistable if and only if the condition (i) is satisfied.

(ii) Let $\theta, \theta' \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{I}$ and let $J_{\theta} := \{i \in I \mid \theta_{i} = 0\}$ and $J_{\theta'} := \{i \in I \mid \theta_{i} = 0\}$. If $J_{\theta} \subset J_{\theta'}$, then $\mathbf{M}_{\theta'}^{ss}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w}) \subset \mathbf{M}_{\theta'}^{ss}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$.

Let $\chi : \operatorname{GL}_{\mathbf{v}} \to \mathbb{K}^{\times}$, $(g_i) \mapsto \prod_i \det (g_i)^{-\theta_i}$ be the character associated to θ . Then a representation in $\mathbf{M}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$ is χ -semistable if and only if it is θ -semistable. The framed quiver variety $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi, \theta}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$ is defined as

$$\mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi},\boldsymbol{\theta}}(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{w}) := \mu_{\mathbf{v},\mathbf{w}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}) / /_{\boldsymbol{\theta}} \mathrm{GL}_{\mathbf{v}}.$$

Define also $\mathfrak{M}^{s}_{\boldsymbol{\xi},\boldsymbol{\theta}}(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{w})$ as the image of $\mu_{\mathbf{v},\mathbf{w}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})^{s}$ in $\mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi},\boldsymbol{\theta}}(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{w})$. If not empty, the variety $\mathfrak{M}^{s}_{\boldsymbol{\xi},\boldsymbol{\theta}}(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{w})$ is a nonsingular open subset of $\mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi},\boldsymbol{\theta}}(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{w})$.

Note that $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,0}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$ is the affine framed quiver variety $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$ as all points of $\mathbf{M}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$ are 0-semistable. We thus have a natural projective morphism $\pi : \mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w}) \to \mathfrak{M}_{\xi}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$.

It was observed by Crawley-Boevey [5, Introduction] that any framed quiver variety can be in fact realized as an "unframed" quiver variety of §4.1. This is done as follows.

From Γ and W we construct a new quiver Γ^* by adding to Γ a new vertex ∞ and and for each vertex i of Γ , we add w_i arrows starting at ∞ toward i. Put $I^* = I \cup \{\infty\}$. We then define $(\mathbf{v}^*, \boldsymbol{\theta}^*) \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{\mathbf{I}^*} \times \mathbb{Z}^{\mathbf{I}^*}$ as follows. We put

(i) $v_i^* = v_i$ if $i \in I$ and $v_{\infty}^* = 1$,

(ii) $\theta_i^* = \theta_i$ if $i \in I$ and $\theta_\infty^* = -\boldsymbol{\theta} \cdot \mathbf{v}$.

We have a natural group embedding $GL_{\mathbf{v}} \hookrightarrow GL_{\mathbf{v}^*}$ that sends an element $g = (g_i)_{i \in I}$ to the element $g^* = (g_i^*)_{i \in I^*}$ with $g_i^* := g_i$ if $i \in I$ and $g_{\infty}^* := 1$. This induces an isomorphism $GL_{\mathbf{v}} \simeq G_{\mathbf{v}^*} = GL_{\mathbf{v}^*}/\mathbb{K}^{\times}$. We have a $GL_{\mathbf{v}}$ -equivariant isomorphism $\mathbf{M}(\overline{\Gamma}^*, \mathbf{v}^*) \to \mathbf{M}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$. Under this isomorphism, the θ -semistability (resp. stability) of Definition 4.2.1 coincides with the θ^* -semistability (resp. stability) in §4.1.

In the context of framed quiver, we say that θ is *generic* if θ^* is generic with respect to \mathbf{v}^* in the sense of Definition 4.1.3. In this case we have

$$\mathbf{M}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}^{ss}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w}) = \mathbf{M}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}^{s}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$$

We have (see Nakajima [44]):

Proposition 4.2.3. Assume that θ is generic and that $\mathfrak{M}^{s}_{\xi}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w}) \neq \emptyset$. Then $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w}) = \mathfrak{M}^{s}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$ and the map $\pi : \mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w}) \rightarrow \mathfrak{M}_{\xi}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$ is a resolution of singularities.

Remark 4.2.4. If $\theta_i > 0$ for all *i*, then θ^* is always generic with respect to \mathbf{v}^* .

4.3 Quiver varieties of type A

We review known results by Kraft-Procesi [30], Nakajima [45] [46], Crawley-Boevey [6] [8] and Shmelkin [50] and give a slight generalization of some of them.

4.3.1 Partitions and types

We denote by \mathcal{P} the set of all partitions including the unique partition 0 of 0, by \mathcal{P}^* the set of non-zero partitions and by \mathcal{P}_n the set of partitions of *n*. Partitions λ are denoted by $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \ldots)$, where $\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge \cdots \ge 0$, or by $(1^{n_1}, 2^{n_2}, \ldots)$ where n_i denotes the number of parts of λ_i equal to *i*. We put $|\lambda| := \sum_i \lambda_i$ for the size of λ . The length of λ is the maximum *i* with $\lambda_i > 0$ and we denote by λ' the dual partition of λ . For two partitions $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_r)$ and $\mu = (\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_s)$ we define the partition $\lambda + \mu$ as $(\lambda_1 + \mu_1, \lambda_2 + \mu_2, \ldots)$, and for $\lambda = (1^{n_1}, 2^{n_2}, \ldots)$, $\mu = (1^{m_1}, 2^{m_2}, \ldots)$, we define the union $\lambda \cup \mu$ as $(1^{n_1+m_1}, 2^{n_2+m_2}, \ldots)$. For a partition $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_s)$ and a positive integer *d*, we denote by $d \cdot \lambda$ the partition $(d\lambda_1, \ldots, d\lambda_s)$. Recall that $(\lambda + \mu)' = \lambda' \cup \mu'$.

Given a total ordering \leq_t on \mathcal{P} , we denote by $\tilde{\mathbf{T}}^t$ the set of non-increasing sequences $\tilde{\omega} = \omega^1 \omega^2 \cdots \omega^r$ with $\omega^i \in \mathcal{P}$ and let $\tilde{\mathbf{T}}^t_n$ be the subset of sequences $\tilde{\omega}$ such that $\sum_i |\omega^i| = n$. We will see in §4.3.2 that the set $\tilde{\mathbf{T}}^t_n$ parameterizes the types of the adjoint orbits in $gI_n(\mathbb{K})$. Although the choice of a particular total ordering will be sometimes convenient it will not be essential for the results of this paper. We will actually often use the notation $\tilde{\mathbf{T}}$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{T}}^t_n$ instead of $\tilde{\mathbf{T}}^t$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{T}}^t_n$ when the reference to the ordering \leq_t is not necessary.

We extend the ordering \leq_t to a total ordering on the set $\{(d, \lambda) | d \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^*, \lambda \in \mathcal{P}^*\}$ which we continue to denote by \leq_t as follows. If $\mu \neq \lambda$, we say that $(d, \mu) \leq_t (d', \lambda)$ if $\mu \leq_t \lambda$, and we say that $(d, \lambda) \leq_t (d', \lambda)$ if $d' \leq d$. We denote by \mathbf{T}^t the set of all non-increasing sequences $\omega = (d_1, \lambda^1)(d_2, \lambda^2) \cdots (d_r, \lambda^r)$ and by \mathbf{T}_n^t the subset of \mathbf{T}^t of these sequences which satisfy $|\omega| := \sum_i d_i |\lambda^i| = n$. The first coordinate of a pair (d, λ) is called the *degree*. We will see in §6.8 that \mathbf{T}_n^t parametrizes both the types of the adjoint orbits in $\mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ and the types of the irreducible characters of $\mathbf{GL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$. As for $\tilde{\mathbf{T}}$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{T}}_n$ we will often use the notation \mathbf{T} and \mathbf{T}_n instead of \mathbf{T}^t and \mathbf{T}_n^t .

Since the terminology "type" has two meanings in this paper, we use the letters $\{\omega, \tau, ...\}$ to denote the elements of **T** and the symbols $\{\tilde{\omega}, \tilde{\tau}, ...\}$ for the elements of **T**.

Given a type $\omega = (d_1, \omega^1) \cdots (d_r, \omega^r) \in \mathbf{T}^t$, we assign the type

$$\tilde{\omega} = \overbrace{\omega^1 \cdots \omega^1}^{d_1} \overbrace{\omega^2 \cdots \omega^2}^{d_2} \cdots \overbrace{\omega^r \cdots \omega^r}^{d_r}$$

of $\tilde{\mathbf{T}}^t$. We thus have a surjective map $\mathfrak{H}: \mathbf{T}^t \to \tilde{\mathbf{T}}^t, \omega \mapsto \tilde{\omega}$.

Let

$$\tilde{\omega} = \widetilde{\omega^1 \cdots \omega^1} \widetilde{\omega^2 \cdots \omega^2} \cdots \widetilde{\omega^r \cdots \omega^r} \in \tilde{\mathbf{T}}^t$$

with $\omega^i \neq \omega^j$ if $i \neq j$ and put

$$W_{\tilde{\omega}} := \prod_{i=1}^r S_{a_i}.$$

Note that the elements in the fiber $\mathfrak{H}^{-1}(\tilde{\omega})$ are parametrized by $\mathcal{P}_{a_1} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{P}_{a_r}$ and so by the conjugacy classes of $W_{\tilde{\omega}}$.

Let $A \in \mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbb{K})$ with semisimple part A_s and nilpotent part A_n . We assume for simplicity that A_s is a diagonal matrix so that its centralizer *L* in GL_n is exactly a product of GL_m's. We have $A = A_s + A_n$ with $[A_s, A_n] = 0$ where [x, y] = xy - yx. We put $C_{\mathfrak{gl}_n}(A) := \{X \in \mathfrak{gl}_n | [A, X] = 0\} = \operatorname{Lie}(L)$. Let *C* be the *L*-orbit of A_n . Then the GL_n-conjugacy class of the pair (L, C) is called the *type* of the GL_n-orbit *O* of *A*.

Fix a total ordering \leq_t on \mathcal{P} . The types of the adjoint orbits of \mathfrak{gl}_n are parameterized by the set $\tilde{\mathbf{T}}_n^t$ as follows.

Let m_1, \ldots, m_r be the multiplicities of the *r* distinct eigenvalues $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_r$ of *A*. We may assume that A_s is the diagonal matrix

$$\left(\overbrace{\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_1}^{m_1},\overbrace{\alpha_2,\ldots,\alpha_2}^{m_2},\ldots,\overbrace{\alpha_r,\ldots,\alpha_r}^{m_r}\right).$$

The Jordan form of the element $A_n \in C_{\mathfrak{gl}_n}(\sigma) = \mathfrak{gl}_{m_1} \oplus \mathfrak{gl}_{m_2} \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathfrak{gl}_{m_r}$ defines a unique partition ω^i of m_i for each $i \in \{1, 2, \ldots, r\}$. Re-indexing if necessary we may assume that $\omega^r \leq_t \omega^{r-1} \leq_t \cdots \leq_t \omega^1$ in which case we have $\tilde{\omega} = \omega^1 \cdots \omega^r \in \tilde{\mathbf{T}}_n^t$. Conversely, any element of $\tilde{\mathbf{T}}_n^t$ arises as the type of some adjoint orbit of \mathfrak{gl}_n . Types of semisimple orbits are of the form $(1^{n_1}) \cdots (1^{n_r})$ and types of nilpotent orbits are just partitions of n.

Lemma 4.3.1. The dimension of O is

$$n^2 - \sum_{j=1}^r \langle \omega^j, \omega^j \rangle \tag{4.3.1}$$

where for a partition $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, ...)$, we put $\langle \lambda, \lambda \rangle = 2n(\lambda) + |\lambda|$ with $n(\lambda) = \sum_{i \ge 1} (i-1)\lambda_i$.

We now explain how to construct a quiver Γ_O and a pair (ξ_O, \mathbf{v}_O) from O such that $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi_O}(\mathbf{v}_O, \mathbf{w}) \simeq O$. While the quiver Γ_O and \mathbf{w} will be independent from the choice of \leq_t , the parameters ξ_O, \mathbf{v}_O will depend on the choice of \leq_t .

We draw the Young diagrams respectively of $\omega^1, \ldots, \omega^r$ from the left to the right and we label the columns from the left to the right (with the convention that partitions are represented by the rows of the Young diagrams). Let *d* be the total number of columns and let n_i be the length of the *i*-th-column with respect to this labeling. We define the dimension vector $\mathbf{v}_O = (v_1, \ldots, v_{d-1})$ by $v_1 := n - n_1$ and $v_i := v_{i-1} - n_i$ for i > 1 and the parameter $\zeta_O = (\zeta_1, \ldots, \zeta_d)$ as follows. If the *i*-th column belongs to the Young diagram of ω^j then we put $\zeta_i = \alpha_j$.

We then have

$$(A - \zeta_1 \operatorname{Id}) \cdots (A - \zeta_d \operatorname{Id}) = 0.$$

Example 4.3.2. Take the lexicographic ordering for \leq_t and assume that O is of type (2, 2)(1, 1) with eigenvalues α_1 and α_2 respectively of multiplicity 4 and 2. The corresponding Young diagrams are

1	2	3

Then the vector dimension is $\mathbf{v}_O = (4, 2)$ and $\boldsymbol{\zeta}_O = (\alpha_1, \alpha_1, \alpha_2)$.

We have

Lemma 4.3.3. For i > 0, the integer v_i is the rank of the partial product

$$(A - \zeta_1 \operatorname{Id}) \cdots (A - \zeta_i \operatorname{Id}).$$

The following result is due to Crawley-Boevey [8] (in characteristic zero with *O* nilpotent it is due to Kraft and Procesi [30]).

Theorem 4.3.4. Let $B \in \mathfrak{gl}_n$. The following assertions are equivalent. (1) $B \in \overline{O}$.

(2) There is a flag of subspaces $\mathbb{K}^n = V_0 \supset V_1 \supset V_2 \supset \cdots \supset V_{d-1} \supset V_d = 0$ with dim $V_i = v_i$ and such that $(B - \zeta_i \operatorname{Id})(V_{i-1}) \subset V_i$ for all $1 \le i \le d$.

(3) There are vector spaces V_j and linear maps a, b, ϕ_j, ϕ_i^* ,

$$V = V_0 \stackrel{b}{\underset{a}{\longleftrightarrow}} V_1 \stackrel{\phi_1^*}{\underset{\phi_1}{\longleftrightarrow}} V_2 \stackrel{\phi_2^*}{\underset{\phi_2}{\longleftrightarrow}} \dots \stackrel{\phi_{d-1}^*}{\underset{\phi_{d-1}}{\longleftrightarrow}} V_d = 0$$

where V_j has dimension v_j , and satisfying

$$B = ab + \zeta_1 \text{Id},$$

$$\phi_j \phi_j^* - \phi_{j-1}^* \phi_{j-1} = (\zeta_j - \zeta_{j+1}) \text{Id}, \qquad (1 \le j < d).$$

where $\phi_0^* = b$ and $\phi_0 = a$.

Remark 4.3.5. We obtain (3) from (2) by putting $\phi_i^* := (B - \zeta_{i+1} \text{Id})|_{V_i}$ and by letting ϕ_i be the inclusion $V_{i+1} \subset V_i$.

Let Γ_O be the quiver

 $\bullet^1 \longleftarrow \bullet^2 \longleftarrow \cdots \longleftarrow \bullet^{d-1}$

whose underlying graph is the Dynkin diagram of type A_{d-1} and put $I := \{1, \ldots, d-1\}$. Put $\mathbf{w} := (n, 0, \ldots, 0)$ and define $\xi_O = (\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_{d-1})$ by $\xi_j := \zeta_j - \zeta_{j+1}$.

Theorem 4.3.6. The map $q : \mu_{\mathbf{v}_O, \mathbf{w}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_O) \to \overline{O}$ given by $(B, a, b) \mapsto ab + \zeta_1 \operatorname{Id}$ is well-defined and surjective. It induces a bijective morphism $\tilde{q} : \mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi}_O}(\mathbf{v}_O, \mathbf{w}) \longrightarrow \overline{O}$. If $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, then q is a categorical quotient by $\operatorname{GL}_{\mathbf{v}}$, i.e., the map $\mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi}_O}(\mathbf{v}_O, \mathbf{w}) \longrightarrow \overline{O}$ is an isomorphism. The bijective morphism \tilde{q} restricts to $\mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi}_O}^s(\mathbf{v}_O, \mathbf{w}) \longrightarrow O$.

Proof. The first assertion follows from Theorem 4.3.4. The second assertion can be proved using the "First Fundamental Theorem of Invariant Theory" as in Kraft and Procesi [30, §2]. The third assertion follows from the second one using Proposition 2.2.1 (this assertion is actually stated in Kraft and Procesi [30, §2] for nilpotent orbits and in Crawley-Boevey [7, Lemma 9.1] for any orbits). For an arrow of $\overline{\Gamma}_O$ with tail *i* and head *j*, we denote by $B_{i,j}$ the corresponding coordinate of *B*. By Crawley-Boevey [6, §3], we have $f(B, a, b) \in O$ if and only if the $B_{i+1,i}$'s and *a* are all injective and if the maps $B_{i,i+1}$'s and *b* are all surjective, i.e., (B, a, b) is a 0-stable representation. Hence the last assertion.

Remark 4.3.7. If *C* is the GL_v-orbit of any representation $(B, a, b) \in \mu_{\mathbf{v}_O, \mathbf{w}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_O)$ then a'b' = ab for any $(B', a', b') \in \overline{C}$.

We says that $(n_1, \ldots, n_{d-1}) \in (\mathbb{Z}_{>0})^{d-1}$ is decreasing if $n_1 > \cdots > n_{d-1}$.

Remark 4.3.8. Let $\mathbf{v} = (v_1, \dots, v_{d-1})$ be a decreasing sequence with $n > v_1$, and let $\boldsymbol{\xi} = (\xi_1, \dots, \xi_{d-1})$. Then there is a total ordering \leq_t on \mathcal{P} and an adjoint orbit O such that $(\boldsymbol{\xi}, \mathbf{v}) = (\boldsymbol{\xi}_O, \mathbf{v}_O)$ if and only if the following condition is satisfied, see Crawley-Boevey [8, §2].

(*) For any $j \in I$ with $\xi_j = 0$ we have $v_{j-1} - v_j \ge v_j - v_{j+1}$ with $v_0 := n$.

4.3.3 Partial resolutions of Zariski closure of adjoint orbits as quiver varieties

Let *P* be a parabolic subgroup of $GL_n(\mathbb{K})$ (which for simplicity is assumed to contain the upper triangular matrices), *L* a Levi subgroup of *P* and let $\Sigma = \sigma + C$ where σ is in the center z_1 of the Lie algebra 1 of *L* and

where *C* is a nilpotent orbit of I. We denote by U_P the unipotent radical of *P* and by u_P the Lie algebra of U_P . The aim of this section is to identify the variety

$$\mathbb{X}_{L,P,\Sigma} := \left\{ (X, gP) \in \mathfrak{gl}_n \times (\mathrm{GL}_n/P) \mid g^{-1}Xg \in \overline{\Sigma} + \mathfrak{u}_P \right\}$$

with a quiver variety of the form $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w})$ when $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ (in positive characteristic we have a bijective morphism $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w}) \to \mathbb{X}_{L,P,\Sigma}$).

Note that

$$\dim \mathbb{X}_{L,P\Sigma} = \dim \operatorname{GL}_n - \dim L + \dim \Sigma.$$
(4.3.2)

Taking a GL_n -conjugate of *L* if necessary, we may assume that $L = GL_{s_{p+1}} \times GL_{s_p} \times \cdots \times GL_{s_1}$. Since σ is in the center of I, we may write σ as the diagonal matrix

$$\left(\overbrace{\epsilon_{p+1},\ldots,\epsilon_{p+1}}^{s_{p+1}},\overbrace{\epsilon_{p},\ldots,\epsilon_{p}}^{s_{p}},\ldots,\overbrace{\epsilon_{1},\ldots,\epsilon_{1}}^{s_{1}}\right).$$

The nilpotent orbit C of I decomposes as

$$C = C_{p+1} \times \cdots \times C_1$$

with C_i a nilpotent orbit of \mathfrak{gl}_{s_i} . For i = 1, ..., p + 1, let μ^i be the partition of s_i which gives the size of the blocks of the Jordan form of C_i .

We choose a total ordering \leq_t on \mathcal{P} such that, re-ordering if necessary, we have $\mu^{p+1} \leq_t \mu^p \leq_t \cdots \leq_t \mu^1$ and the following condition is satisfied

(**) if $\epsilon_i = \epsilon_j$ then for any $i \le k \le j$ we have $\epsilon_k = \epsilon_i$.

This choice of \leq_t is only for convenience (see above Example 4.3.10).

Let $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_k$ be the distinct eigenvalues of σ with respective multiplicities m_1, \ldots, m_k . For each $i = 1, \ldots, k$, we define a partition λ_i of m_i as the sum of the partitions μ^r where r runs over the set $\{r | \epsilon_r = \alpha_i\}$. The partitions $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_k$ defines a unique nilpotent orbits of the Lie algebra m of $M := C_{GL_n}(\sigma)$. Let v be an element in this orbit and let O be the unique adjoint orbit of \mathfrak{gl}_n that contains $\sigma + v$. The following proposition is well-known.

Proposition 4.3.9. The image of the projection $p : \mathbb{X}_{L,P,\Sigma} \to \mathfrak{gl}_n$ is \overline{O} . Moreover it induces an isomorphism $p^{-1}(O) \simeq O$. If M = L, the map p is an isomorphism $\mathbb{X}_{L,P,\Sigma} \simeq \overline{O}$.

We have dim $O = \dim \mathbb{X}_{L,P,\Sigma}$ and so

$$\dim O = \dim G - \dim L + \dim \Sigma \tag{4.3.3}$$

We now denote by \mathcal{F} the variety of partial flags $\{0\} = E^{p+1} \subset E^p \subset \cdots \subset E^1 \subset E^0 = \mathbb{K}^n$ with dim $E^{r-1}/E^r = s_r$. For an element $X \in \mathfrak{gl}_n$ that leaves stable a partial flag

$$\left(\{0\} = E^{p+1} \subset E^p \subset \dots \subset E^1 \subset E^0 = \mathbb{K}^n\right) \in \mathcal{F}$$

we denote by X_r , r = 1, ..., p + 1, the induced endomorphism of $E^{r-1}/E^r \simeq \mathbb{K}^{s_r}$.

We denote by $\mathbb{Z}_{L,P,\Sigma}$ (resp. $\mathbb{Z}_{L,P,\Sigma}^{o}$) the subvariety of $\mathfrak{gl}_n \times \mathcal{F}$ of pairs (X, f) such that $X \cdot f = f$ and such that for all $r = 1, \ldots, p + 1$, we have $X_r \in \epsilon_r \operatorname{Id} + \overline{C}_r$ (resp. $X_r \in \epsilon_r \operatorname{Id} + C_r$).

Note that $\mathcal{F} \simeq \operatorname{GL}_n/P$ and so the two varieties $\mathbb{Z}_{L,P\Sigma}$ and $\mathbb{X}_{L,P\Sigma}$ are isomorphic.

There exist a unique positive integer d, a decreasing sequence of positive integers

$$\mathbf{v}_{L,P,\Sigma} = (v_1, \dots, v_{d-1}) \in (\mathbb{Z}_{>0})^{d-1}$$

and *p* elements $i_1 < \cdots < i_p$ in $\{1, \dots, d-1\}$ such that if we put $i_0 := 0, v_0 := n, i_{p+1} := d$, and $v_d := 0$, then for each $r = 1, \dots, p+1$, we have $v_{i_{r-1}} - v_{i_r} = s_r$, and $(v_{i_{r-1}} - v_{i_{r-1}+1}, \dots, v_{i_r-1} - v_{i_r})$ is the dual partition of μ^r .

This defines a type A_{d-1} quiver $\Gamma_{L,P,\Sigma}$ as in §4.3.2. We keep the same **w** as in §4.3.2 and we define $\zeta_{L,P,\Sigma} = (\zeta_1, \ldots, \zeta_d)$ by $\zeta_j = \epsilon_{r+1}$ if $i_r < j \le i_{r+1}$ with $r = 0, \ldots, p$. As in §4.3.2, this defines a unique parameter $\xi_{L,P,\Sigma} = (\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_{d-1}) \in \mathbb{K}^I$ such that $\xi_i = \zeta_i - \zeta_{i+1}$. We now choose a stability parameter $\theta \in (\mathbb{Z}_{\ge 0})^I$ with the requirement that $\theta_j \ne 0$ exactly when $j \in \{i_1, \ldots, i_p\}$.

The quiver $\Gamma_{L,P,\Sigma}$ defined above is the same as the quiver Γ_O associated with the adjoint orbit O in §4.3.2. Denote by $(\mathbf{v}_O, \boldsymbol{\xi}_O)$ the datum arising from O as in §4.3.2 with respect to \leq_t . The dimension vector \mathbf{v}_O might differ from $\mathbf{v}_{L,P,\Sigma}$ as shown in the example below. However since \leq_t respect the condition (**) on the ϵ_i 's, we always have $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{L,P,\Sigma} = \boldsymbol{\xi}_O$.

Example 4.3.10. Assume that $L = GL_1 \times GL_2 \times GL_2 \times GL_3 \times GL_3$, $C = C_{(1)} \times C_{(1,1)} \times C_{(2)} \times C_{(2,1)} \times C_{(3)}$ where C_{μ} denotes the nilpotent orbit corresponding to the partition μ , and that σ is the diagonal matrix

$$\underbrace{(\underbrace{\alpha,\alpha,\alpha,\alpha,\alpha}_{5},\underbrace{\beta,\beta,\beta,\beta,\beta,\beta,\beta}_{6})}_{6}$$

with $\alpha \neq \beta$. Clearly σ is in the center of l and $M = GL_5 \times GL_6$. The underlying graph of $\Gamma_{L,P,\Sigma}$ is A_8 and $\mathbf{w} = (11, 0, 0, 0)$.

Assume that \leq_t is the lexicographic ordering. The type of O is $(5, 1)(4, 1) \in \tilde{\mathbf{T}}_{11}^t$. Note that $(1) \leq_t (1, 1) \leq_t (2) \leq_t (2, 1) \leq_t (3)$. We thus have $\epsilon_1 = \epsilon_2 = \beta$ and $\epsilon_3 = \epsilon_4 = \epsilon_5 = \alpha$. Hence $\mathbf{v}_{L,P,\Sigma} = (10, 9, 8, 6, 5, 4, 3, 1), (i_1, \dots, i_p) = (3, 5, 7, 8), \theta = (0, 0, \theta_3, 0, \theta_5, 0, \theta_7, \theta_8)$ with $\theta_3, \theta_5, \theta_7, \theta_8 > 0, \zeta_{L,P,\Sigma} = (\beta, \beta, \beta, \beta, \beta, \alpha, \alpha, \alpha, \alpha), \xi_{L,P,\Sigma} = (0, 0, 0, 0, \beta - \alpha, 0, 0, 0)$. Finally note that $\mathbf{v}_O = (9, 8, 7, 6, 5, 3, 2, 1) \neq \mathbf{v}_{L,P,\Sigma}$.

The aim of the section is to show that there is a bijective morphism $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi_{L,P\Sigma},\theta}(\mathbf{v}_{L,P\Sigma},\mathbf{w}) \to \mathbb{Z}_{L,P\Sigma}$ which is an isomorphism when $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$.

Given $(B, a, b) \in \mu_{\mathbf{v}_{L,P,\Sigma},\mathbf{w}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{L,P,\Sigma})$ and an arrow of $\overline{\Gamma}_{L,P,\Sigma}$ with tail *i* and head *j*, we denote by $B_{i,j}$ the corresponding coordinate of *B*.

For a parameter $x \in \mathbb{K}^I$, put $J_x = \{i \in I | x_i = 0\}$ where *I* denotes the set of vertices of $\Gamma_{L,P,\Sigma}$. We will need the following lemma:

Lemma 4.3.11. Let $(B, a, b) \in \mu_{\mathbf{v}_{L,P,\Sigma}, \mathbf{w}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{L,P,\Sigma})$. Then (B, a, b) is $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ -semistable if and only if for all $i \in I - J_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}$ the map $a \circ B_{2,1} \circ \cdots \circ B_{i,i-1} : \mathbb{K}^{v_i} \to \mathbb{K}^n$ is injective.

Proof. Put $V := \bigoplus_i \mathbb{K}^{v_i}$. We first construct for each $s \in I$ a *B*-invariant graded subspace $L^s = \bigoplus_i L_i^s$ of *V*. Put $L_1^s := \text{Ker}(a)$, for all $i \in \{2, ..., s\}$ put $L_i^s := \text{Ker}(a \circ B_{2,1} \circ \cdots \circ B_{i,i-1})$, and for i > s put $L_i^s := B_{i-1,i} \circ B_{i-2,i-1} \circ \cdots \circ B_{s+1,s+2} \circ B_{s,s+1}(L_s^s)$. Let us see that L^s is a *B*-invariant subspace of *V*. For i < s we need to see that $B_{i,i+1}(L_i^s) \subset L_{i+1}^s$. We first prove it when i = 1. We have $ba - B_{2,1}B_{1,2} = \xi_1 \text{Id}$, hence $(a \circ B_{2,1})(B_{1,2}(\text{Ker}(a)) = a \circ (ba - \xi_1 \text{Id})(\text{Ker}(a)) = 0$ and so $B_{2,1}(L_1^s) \subset L_2^s$. Assume that this is true for all j < i. At the vertex *i*, we have the relation $B_{i-1,i}B_{i,i-1} - B_{i+1,i}B_{i,i+1} = \xi_2 \text{Id}$. For $x \in L_i^s$ we have

$$a \circ B_{2,1} \circ \dots \circ B_{i,i-1} \circ B_{i+1,i} (B_{i,i+1}(x)) = a \circ B_{2,1} \circ \dots \circ B_{i,i-1} \circ (B_{i-1,i}B_{i,i-1} - \xi_2 \mathrm{Id})(x)$$
$$= a \circ B_{2,1} \circ \dots \circ B_{i,i-1} \circ (B_{i-1,i}B_{i,i-1}(x)).$$

We need to see that the RHS is 0. By definition of L^s it is clear that $B_{i,i-1}(L_i^s) \subset L_{i-1}^s$ hence $B_{i,i-1}(x) \in L_{i-1}^s$. By induction hypothesis we then have $B_{i-1,i}(B_{i,i-1}(x)) \subset L_i^s$. By definition of L_i^s we thus have $a \circ B_{2,1} \circ \cdots \circ B_{i,i-1}(B_{i-1,i} \circ B_{i,i-1}(x)) = 0$. To see that L^s is a *B*-invariant subspace of *V* it remains to see that for all $i \ge s$ we have $B_{i+1,i}(L_{i+1}^s) \subset L_i^s$ which again can be proved by induction using the relations at the vertices.

Assume that (B, a, b) is θ -semistable. Assume that $s \in I - J_{\theta}$. If the map $a_s := a \circ B_{2,1} \circ \cdots \circ B_{s,s-1}$ is not injective then L^s is a non-trivial *B*-invariant subspace of *V* such that θ . dim $L^s > 0$ (as $\theta_s \neq 0$) which contradicts the stability condition (i) of Definition 4.2.1. Hence the map a_s must be injective for all $s \in I - J_{\theta}$.

Let us prove the converse. Assume that V' is a *B*-invariant subspace of *V* such that $V'_1 \subset \ker(a)$. Hence for all *i* and $x \in V'_i$ we have $B_{2,1} \circ \cdots \circ B_{i,i-1}(x) \in \operatorname{Ker}(a)$, i.e., $a \circ B_{2,1} \circ \cdots \circ B_{i,i-1}(x) = 0$, and so $V'_i \subset \operatorname{Ker}(a \circ B_{2,1} \circ \cdots \circ B_{i,i-1})$. Hence for $i \in I - J_{\theta}$ we have $V'_i = 0$ by assumption. Therefore θ . dim V' = 0 and so the condition (i) of Definition 4.2.1 is satisfied.

For $(B, a, b) \in \mathfrak{M}_{\xi_{L,P\Sigma}, \theta}(\mathbf{v}_{L,P,\Sigma}, \mathbf{w})$, we denote by $f_{(B,a,b)}$ the partial flag $\{0\} = \mathcal{E}^{p+1} \subset \mathcal{E}^p \subset \cdots \subset \mathcal{E}^1 \subset \mathcal{E}^0 = \mathbb{K}^n$ with $\mathcal{E}^r := \text{Im} (a \circ B_{2,1} \circ \cdots \circ B_{i_r,i_r-1})$. By Lemma 4.3.11, we have $f_{(B,a,b)} \in \mathcal{F}$.

Proposition 4.3.12. The map $\mu_{\mathbf{v}_{L,P\Sigma},\mathbf{w}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{L,P,\Sigma})^{ss} \to \mathbb{Z}_{L,P\Sigma}, (B, a, b) \mapsto (ab + \zeta_1 \mathrm{Id}, f_{(B,a,b)})$ is well-defined and induces a canonical bijective morphism $\mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{L,P\Sigma},\boldsymbol{\theta}}(\mathbf{v}_{L,P,\Sigma},\mathbf{w}) \to \mathbb{Z}_{L,P\Sigma}$ which restricts to $\mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{L,P\Sigma},\boldsymbol{\theta}}^s(\mathbf{v}_{L,P,\Sigma},\mathbf{w}) \to \mathbb{Z}_{L,P\Sigma}$ and which makes the following diagram commutative



where ρ maps a semisimple representation (B, a, b) to $ab + \zeta_1 \text{Id}$. If $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ this bijective map is an isomorphism $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi_{L,P\Sigma}, \theta}(\mathbf{v}_{L,P\Sigma}, \mathbf{w}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{Z}_{L,P\Sigma}$.

If $\theta_i > 0$ for all *i* and if $\xi_{L,P,\Sigma} = 0$, then this is a result of Nakajima [44, Theorem 7.3], see also [50] for more details.

Proof. The fact that the diagram is commutative follows from a generalization of Remark 4.3.7 to any decreasing dimension vector (see Kraft and Procesi [30, Proposition 3.4]). To alleviate the notation we omitt L, P, Σ from the notation $\xi_{L,P,\Sigma}, \mathbf{v}_{L,P,\Sigma}, \Gamma_{L,P,\Sigma}$. Let us see that the map

$$h: \mu_{\mathbf{v},\mathbf{w}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})^{ss} \to \mathbb{Z}_{L,P,\Sigma}, (B,a,b) \mapsto (ab + \zeta_1 \mathrm{Id}, f_{(B,a,b)})$$

is well-defined. Let $(B, a, b) \in \mu_{\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})^{ss}$ and put $X := ab + \zeta_1 \text{Id}$ and $\mathcal{E}^r := \text{Im} (a \circ B_{2,1} \circ \cdots \circ B_{i_r, i_r-1})$. The fact that *X* leaves stable the partial flag $f_{(B, a, b)}$ is straightforward from the preprojective relations

$$B_{i-1,i}B_{i,i-1} - B_{i+1,i}B_{i,i+1} = \xi_i \mathrm{Id}$$

with $B_{0,1} := b$ and $B_{1,0} := a$.

To alleviate the notation, for all i < j we denote by $f_{j,i}$ the map $B_{i+1,i} \circ \cdots \circ B_{j,j-1} : \mathbb{K}^{\nu_j} \to \mathbb{K}^{\nu_i}$.

Fix $r \in \{1, ..., p+1\}$ and define $H = \bigoplus_{i \in I \cup \{0\}} H_i$ by $H_i = \mathbb{K}^{v_i}$ if $i \ge i_r$ and by $H_i = \text{Im}(f_{i_r,i})$ if not. From the preprojective relations we see that (B, a, b) leaves H stable and so we can consider the restriction (B_H, a_H, b_H) of (B, a, b) to H and the quotient $(\overline{B}, \overline{a}, \overline{b})$ of (B, a, b) by (B_H, a_H, b_H) . Put $U_i := \mathbb{K}^{v_i}/H_i$. Then $U_i \simeq \mathbb{K}^{v_i - v_{i_r}}$ if $i < i_r$ and $U_i = \{0\}$ otherwise. From the preprojective relations we see that $X_r : \mathcal{E}^{r-1}/\mathcal{E}^r \to \mathcal{E}^{r-1}/\mathcal{E}^r$ coincides, with the map $Y_r : U_{i_{r-1}} \to U_{i_{r-1}}$ induced by $B_{i_{r-1}+1,i_{r-1}}B_{i_{r-1},i_{r-1}+1} + \zeta_{i_{r-1}+1}$ Id. In other words the diagram



is commutative.

We want to see that the map $Y_r \in \text{End}(U_{i_{r-1}}) \simeq \text{End}(\mathbb{K}^{s_r})$ leaves in $\zeta_{i_{r-1}+1}\text{Id} + \overline{C}_r$. Consider the subquiver Γ'



of Γ . Put $d' := i_r$, $\mathbf{w}' := (v_{i_{r-1}} - v_{i_r}, 0, \dots, 0)$, $\mathbf{v}' := (v_{i_{r-1}+1} - v_{i_r}, v_{i_{r-1}+2} - v_{i_r}, \dots, v_{i_r-1} - v_{i_r})$, and $\zeta' = (\zeta_{i_{r-1}+1}, \zeta_{i_{r-1}+2}, \dots, \zeta_{i_{r-1}+d'})$. We have $\xi'_i = 0$ for all $i = i_{r-1} + 1, \dots, i_r - 1$, i.e., $\zeta_{i_{r-1}+1} = \zeta_{i_{r-1}+2} = \dots = \zeta_{i_{r-1}+d'}$. Consider the projection of $(\overline{B}, \overline{a}, \overline{b})$ on

$$\left(\bigoplus_{i\in\{i_{r-1},\dots,i_r-2\}}\operatorname{Hom}\left(U_i,U_{i+1}\right)\oplus\bigoplus_{i\in\{i_{r-1}+1,\dots,i_r-1\}}\operatorname{Hom}\left(U_i,U_{i-1}\right)\right)\simeq\mathbf{M}(\overline{\Gamma}',\mathbf{v}',\mathbf{w}')$$

and denote by (B', a', b') the corresponding element in $\mathbf{M}(\overline{\Gamma}', \mathbf{v}', \mathbf{w}')$. Note that a' and b' come from $B_{i_{r-1}+1,i_{r-1}}$ and $B_{i_{r-1},i_{r-1}+1}$ respectively. The map $Y_r : U_{i_{r-1}} \to U_{i_{r-1}}$ is thus $a'b' + \zeta_{i_{r-1}+1}$ Id.

The sequence $(w'_1 - v'_1, v'_1 - v'_2, v'_2 - v'_3, \dots, v'_{d'-1})$ is the partition μ'_r . Now apply Proposition 4.3.6 to $(\Gamma', \mathbf{v}', \mathbf{w}', \boldsymbol{\xi}')$. Then we see that a'b' belongs to the Zariski closure of nilpotent orbit \overline{C}_r proving thus that $Y_r \in \zeta_{i_{r-1}+1} \mathrm{Id} + \overline{C}_r$.

By Proposition 4.3.12 and Proposition 4.3.9 we have

Corollary 4.3.13. The image of the composition $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi_{L,P\Sigma},\theta}(\mathbf{v}_{L_P,\Sigma},\mathbf{w}) \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathfrak{M}_{\xi_{L,P\Sigma}}(\mathbf{v}_{L,P,\Sigma},\mathbf{w}) \xrightarrow{\rho} \mathfrak{gl}_n$ is \overline{O} . Moreover if $J_{\theta} = J_{\xi}$, then $\pi \circ \rho$ is a bijective morphism onto its image (if $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, it is an isomorphism).

Remark 4.3.14. Assume that $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. The condition in Remark 4.3.8 to have $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi_{L,P\Sigma}}(\mathbf{v}_{L,P,\Sigma}, \mathbf{w}) \simeq \overline{O}$ may not be satisfied here. For instance in the example given by Shmelkin [50, Example 4.3] we have $\mathbf{v}_{L,P,\Sigma} = (4, 1)$, $\mathbf{w} = (5, 0), \zeta_{L,P,\Sigma} = (0, 0), \boldsymbol{\theta} = (1, 1)$, the adjoint orbit O is the nilpotent orbit with partition (3, 1, 1) while $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi_{L,P\Sigma}}(\mathbf{v}_{L,P,\Sigma}, \mathbf{w})$ is isomorphic to the Zariski closure of the nilpotent orbit with partition (3, 2).

4.3.4 Geometry of resolutions and parabolic induction

We review well-known results on the geometry of resolutions of Zariski closure of adjoint orbits (Proposition 4.3.18 and Proposition 4.3.19). In the case where the adjoint orbit is regular nilpotent the results are contained in Borho-Macpherson's paper [3]. In order to clarify the picture we also find appropriate to review Lusztig's parabolic induction of perverse sheaves [38].

Let $L, P, \Sigma, \sigma, C, O$ be as in §4.3.3 with $L = \operatorname{GL}_{s_{p+1}} \times \cdots \times \operatorname{GL}_{s_1} \subset \operatorname{GL}_n$. Recall also that μ_i is a partition of s_i defined by the coordinate of C in gl_{s_i} . For each $i = 1, \ldots, p + 1$, the dual partition $\mu'_i = (\mu'_{i,1}, \ldots, \mu'_{i,r_i})$ of μ_i defines a Levi subgroup $\hat{L}_i = \prod_j \operatorname{GL}_{\mu'_{i,j}} \subset \operatorname{GL}_{s_i}$. Let \hat{P}_i be a parabolic subgroup of GL_{s_i} having \hat{L}_i as a Levi subgroup and containing the upper triangular matrices. Then $\tilde{P} := \prod_i \hat{P}_i$ is a parabolic subgroup of GL_n having \hat{L} having $\hat{L} := \prod_{i=1}^{p+1} \hat{L}_i$ as a Levi factor. Put $\hat{P} := \tilde{P}.U_P$. It is the unique parabolic subgroup of GL_n having \hat{L} as a Levi factor and contained in P.

Consider the following maps

$$\mathbb{X}_{\hat{L},\hat{P},\{\sigma\}} \xrightarrow{\tilde{\pi}} \mathbb{X}_{L,P,\Sigma} \xrightarrow{p} \overline{O}$$

$$(4.3.4)$$

where $\tilde{\pi}(X, g\hat{P}) = (X, gP)$ and p(X, gP) = X.

Note that the variety $\mathbb{X}_{\hat{L},\hat{P},\{\sigma\}}$ is nonsingular and that $\tilde{\pi}$ is surjective.

The decomposition $\overline{C} = \coprod_{\alpha} C_{\alpha}$ as a disjoint union of *L*-orbits provides a stratification $\overline{\Sigma} = \coprod_{\alpha} \Sigma_{\alpha}$ with $\Sigma_{\alpha} = \sigma + C_{\alpha}$ and therefore a stratification of $\mathbb{X}_{L,P,\Sigma} = \coprod_{\alpha} \mathbb{X}_{L,P,\Sigma_{\alpha}}^{o}$ where

$$\mathbb{X}_{L_{P}\Sigma_{\alpha}}^{o} := \{ (X, gP) \in \mathfrak{g} \times (\mathrm{GL}_{n}/P) | g^{-1}Xg \in \Sigma_{\alpha} + \mathfrak{u}_{P} \}$$

is the smooth locus of $\mathbb{X}_{L,P,\Sigma_{\alpha}}$.

The following proposition is a particular case of a result of Lusztig [37] (cf. [33, proof of Proposition 5.1.19] for more details).

Proposition 4.3.15. For $x \in \overline{O}$, put $p^{-1}(x)_{\alpha} := p^{-1}(x) \cap \mathbb{X}^o_{L,P\Sigma_{\alpha}}$. Then

$$\dim \left\{ x \in \overline{O} \, \Big| \, \dim p^{-1}(x)_{\alpha} \ge \frac{i}{2} - \frac{1}{2} (\dim \Sigma - \dim \Sigma_{\alpha}) \right\} \le \dim \overline{O} - i$$

for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$.

Hence the map p satisfies the condition of Proposition 3.1.7 and so $p_*(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{X}_{LPS}})$ is a perverse sheaf by Proposition 3.1.7. If we apply the proposition to $(\hat{L}, \hat{P}, \{\sigma\})$ instead of (L, P, Σ) we find that $p \circ \tilde{\pi}$ is semi-small.

We now recall briefly Lusztig's parabolic induction of perverse sheaves [39, §4]. It will help to clarify the picture and also some references to the literature in §6.4.

Put $V_1 := \{(X, g) \in \mathfrak{gl}_n \times \operatorname{GL}_n | g^{-1}Xg \in \mathfrak{p}\}$ and $V_2 := \{(X, gP) \in \mathfrak{gl}_n \times (\operatorname{GL}_n/P) | g^{-1}Xg \in \mathfrak{p}\}$ and consider the diagram

$$\mathfrak{l} \xleftarrow{\rho} V_1 \xrightarrow{\rho'} V_2 \xrightarrow{\rho''} \mathfrak{gl}_n$$

where $\rho(X,g) = \pi_P(g^{-1}Xg)$ with $\pi_{\mathfrak{p}} : \mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{l} \oplus \mathfrak{u}_P \to \mathfrak{l}$ the natural projection, $\rho'(X,g) = (X,gP), \rho''(X,gP) = \mathfrak{l} \oplus \mathfrak{u}_P$ X. The parabolic induction functor $\operatorname{Ind}_{I \subset p}^{\mathfrak{gl}_n}$ is a functor from the category $\mathcal{M}_L(\mathfrak{l})$ of L-equivariant perverse sheaves on I to $\mathcal{D}_c^b(\mathfrak{gl}_n)$. Recall that a perverse sheaf K on I is said to be L-equivariant if $(pr_2)^*K \simeq m^*K$ where $m: L \times I \to I, (l, X) \mapsto lXl^{-1}$ and $pr_2: L \times I \to I$ is the projection. The category $\mathcal{M}_L(I)$ is then a full subcategory of $\mathcal{D}_{c}^{b}(1)$ (see [33, 4.2] for a detailed discussion on this). The morphism ρ is P-equivariant if we let P acts on V_1 as $g \cdot (X, h) = (X, hg^{-1})$ and on I as $g \cdot X = \pi_P(g) X \pi_P(g)^{-1}$ where π_P is the canonical projection $P = L \ltimes U_P \rightarrow L$. It is also a smooth morphism with connected fibers of dimension $m = \dim \operatorname{GL}_n + \dim U_P$. Hence if $K \in \mathcal{M}_L(\mathbb{I})$ then $\rho^* K[m]$ is a *P*-equivariant perverse sheaf on V_1 . Since ρ' is a locally trivial (for Zariski topology) principal P-bundle, the functor $(\rho')^*[\dim P]$ induces an equivalence of categories from the category of perverse sheaves on V_2 to the category of P-equivariant perverse sheaves on V_1 . Hence for any $K \in \mathcal{M}_L(\mathbb{I})$, there exists a unique (up to isomorphism) perverse sheaf \tilde{K} on V_2 such that

$$\rho^* K[m] \simeq (\rho')^* \tilde{K}[\dim P].$$

We define $\operatorname{ind}_{\mathbb{I}\subset p}^{\mathfrak{gl}_n}(K) := (\rho'')_* \tilde{K}$. The following result is due to Lusztig [39, §4].

Proposition 4.3.16. Let $Q = MU_Q$ be another Levi decomposition in GL_n with corresponding Lie algebra decomposition $q = \mathfrak{m} \oplus \mathfrak{u}_{Q}$. Assume that $L \subset M$ and $P \subset Q$. Let $K \in \mathcal{M}_{L}(\mathfrak{l})$ and assume that $\mathrm{Ind}_{\mathbb{I} \subset \mathrm{Point}}^{\mathfrak{m}}(K)$ is a perverse sheaf (it is then automatically M-equivariant). Then

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathfrak{l}\subset\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathfrak{gl}_n}(K)\simeq\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathfrak{m}\subset\mathfrak{q}}^{\mathfrak{gl}_n}\left(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathfrak{l}\subset\mathfrak{p}\cap\mathfrak{m}}^{\mathfrak{m}}(K)\right).$$

The following result is easy to prove from the following cartesian diagram:



where $\mathbb{Y}_{L,P,\Sigma} := \{(X,g) \in \mathfrak{gl}_n \times \operatorname{GL}_n | g^{-1}Xg \in \overline{\Sigma} + \mathfrak{u}_P\}$, and where the vertical arrows are inclusions and b_1, b_2, p are the restrictions of ρ, ρ', ρ'' .

Lemma 4.3.17. The GL_n-equivariant perverse sheaf $p_*\left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{K}_{L,P\Sigma}}\right)$ is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathfrak{l}\subset\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathfrak{gl}_n}\left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\overline{\Sigma}}\right)$. Similarly the GL_n-equivariant perverse sheaf $(p\tilde{\pi})_*(\underline{\kappa})$ is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathfrak{l}\subset\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathfrak{gl}_n}(\underline{\kappa})$ where $\underline{\kappa}_{\sigma}$ is the constant sheaf on $\{\sigma\}$ extended by zero on $\hat{\mathfrak{l}} - \{\sigma\}$.

Define $\mathbb{X}_{\hat{L},\tilde{P},\{\sigma\}} := \{(X, g\tilde{P}) \in \mathbb{I} \times (L/\tilde{P}) | g^{-1}Xg \in \sigma + \mathfrak{u}_{\tilde{P}}\} \text{ and let } \mathbb{Y} \text{ be the variety } \{(y, z, g) \in P \times \mathfrak{gl}_n \times \operatorname{GL}_n | g^{-1}zg \in \sigma + \mathfrak{u}_{\tilde{P}}\} \text{ modulo the action of } \hat{P} \text{ given by } p \cdot (y, z, g) := (yp^{-1}, z, gp^{-1}).$

Consider the following Cartesian diagram (see Borho and MacPherson [3, §2.10] in the case where *O* is regular nilpotent).



where $a_1(y, z, g) = (\pi_p(yg^{-1}zgy^{-1}), \pi_P(y)\tilde{P}), a_2(y, z, g) = (z, g\hat{P}), c(y, z, g) = (z, gy^{-1}), r(X, g\tilde{P}) = X$ where $\pi_P : L \ltimes U_P \to L$ is the canonical projection.

We now use this diagram to prove the following proposition.

Proposition 4.3.18. The morphism $\tilde{\pi}$ is semi-small with respect to $\mathbb{X}_{L,P\Sigma} = \coprod_{\alpha} \mathbb{X}_{L,P\Sigma}^{o}$.

Proof. By Proposition 4.3.15 applied to $(\hat{L}, \tilde{P}, \{\sigma\})$ instead of (L, P, Σ) we find that $r : \mathbb{X}_{\hat{L}, \tilde{P}, \{\sigma\}} \to \overline{\Sigma}$ is semi-small with respect to the stratification $\overline{\Sigma} = \coprod_{\alpha} \Sigma_{\alpha}$. On the other hand we see from the identity (4.3.2) that

$$\operatorname{codim}_{\overline{\Sigma}}(\Sigma_{\alpha}) = \operatorname{codim}_{\mathbb{Y}_{L,P,\Sigma}} \mathbb{Y}_{L,P,\Sigma_{\alpha}} = \operatorname{codim}_{\mathbb{X}_{L,P,\Sigma}} \mathbb{X}_{L,P,\Sigma_{\alpha}}.$$
(4.3.6)

From the first equality and Lemma 3.1.5 we deduce that *c* is semi-small with respect to $\mathbb{Y}_{L,P,\Sigma} = \coprod_{\alpha} \mathbb{Y}_{L,P,\Sigma_{\alpha}}$. Then applying Lemma 3.1.5 to the right square of the diagram (4.3.5) we deduce the proposition.

Proposition 4.3.19. The restriction of the sheaves $\mathcal{H}^i(\tilde{\pi}_*(\kappa))$ to $\mathbb{X}^o_{L,P\Sigma_n}$ are locally constant for all i and α .

Proof. From the above diagram (4.3.5) we see that

$$(b_2)^* \left(\tilde{\pi}_*(\underline{\kappa}) \right) [\dim P] \simeq (b_1)^* (r_*(\underline{\kappa}))[m]. \tag{4.3.7}$$

Since b_2 is a locally trivial principal *P*-bundle for the Zariski topology it is enough to prove that the restriction of $\mathcal{H}^i(r_*(\kappa))$ to Σ_α is locally constant for all *i* and α . The map *r* is semi-small and *L*-equivariant if we let *L* acts on $\mathbb{X}_{\hat{L},\tilde{P},\{\sigma\}}$ by $v \cdot (X, m\tilde{P}) = (vXv^{-1}, vm\tilde{P})$. The complex $r_*(\underline{\kappa})$ is thus a semisimple *L*-equivariant perverse sheaf. Since $\overline{\Sigma}$ has only a finite number of *L*-orbits, the simple constituents of $r_*(\underline{\kappa})$ are of the form $\underline{IC}_{\overline{\Sigma}}^{\bullet}$.

Remark 4.3.20. Diagrams similar to (4.3.5) are used by Lusztig to prove Proposition 4.3.16. In our situation this works as follows. As in Lemma 4.3.17 we have $r_*(\underline{\kappa}) = \text{Ind}_{1\subset \overline{p}}^{l}(\underline{\kappa}_{\sigma})$. Hence it follows from the isomorphism (4.3.7) that

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbb{I}\subset\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathfrak{gl}_n}\left(\operatorname{Ind}_{\hat{\mathfrak{l}}\subset\hat{\mathfrak{p}}}^{\mathfrak{l}}(\underline{\kappa}_{\sigma})\right)\simeq\operatorname{Ind}_{\hat{\mathfrak{l}}\subset\hat{\mathfrak{p}}}^{\mathfrak{gl}_n}(\underline{\kappa}_{\sigma})$$

which is a particular case of Proposition 4.3.16.

5 Comet-shaped quiver varieties

5.1 Generic tuples of adjoint orbits

Let O_1, \ldots, O_k be *k*-orbits of $\mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbb{K})$ and let $\tilde{\omega}_i$ be the type of O_i , then $\tilde{\omega} := (\tilde{\omega}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\omega}_k)$ is called the type of (O_1, \ldots, O_k) .

Definition 5.1.1. A *k*-tuple (C_1, \ldots, C_k) of semisimple adjoint orbits is said to be *generic* if $\sum_{i=1}^k \operatorname{Tr} C_i = 0$ and the following holds. If $V \subset \mathbb{K}^n$ is a subspace stable by some $X_i \in C_i$ for each *i* such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \operatorname{Tr}\left(X_{i}|_{V}\right) = 0,$$

then either V = 0 or $V = \mathbb{K}^n$.

Let C_i be the adjoint orbit of the semisimple part of an element of O_i . Then we say that (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is *generic* if the tuple (C_1, \ldots, C_k) of semisimple orbits is generic.

We have [18, Lemma 2.2.2]:

Lemma 5.1.2. For i = 1, ..., k, put $\tilde{\omega}_i = \omega_i^1 \omega_i^2 \cdots \omega_i^{r_i}$ with $\omega_i^j \in \mathcal{P}^*$ such that $\sum_j |\omega_i^j| = n$. Put $D = \min_i \max_j |\omega_i^j|$ and let $d = \gcd\{|\omega_i^j|\}$. Assume that

 $char(\mathbb{K}) \nmid D!$

If d > 1, generic k-tuples of adjoint orbits of \mathfrak{gl}_n of type $(\tilde{\omega}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\omega}_k)$ do not exist. If d = 1, they do.

Remark 5.1.3. Our definition of generic tuple is equivalent to that given in Kostov [29, §1.2] and in Crawley-Boevey [6, §6]. Let us recall that definition as we will need it. To do that, for each i = 1, 2, ..., k, we let $\alpha_{i,1}, \alpha_{i,2}, ..., \alpha_{i,p_i}$ be the distinct eigenvalues of O_i with respective multiplicities $m_{i,1}, m_{i,2}, ..., m_{i,p_i}$. Then $(O_1, ..., O_k)$ is generic if we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^k \sum_{j=1}^{p_i} m_{i,j} \alpha_{i,j} = 0$$

which corresponds to our condition $\sum_{i=1}^{k} \text{Tr}(O_i) = 0$, and if for any integers $0 \le m'_{i,j} \le m_{i,j}$ such that $\sum_{i=1}^{p_i} m'_{i,j}$ does not depend on *i* the equality

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \sum_{j=1}^{p_i} m'_{i,j} \alpha_{i,j} = 0$$

holds if and only if $m'_{i,i} = m_{i,j}$ for all i, j or $m'_{i,j} = 0$ for all i, j.

5.2 Affine comet-shaped quiver varieties

Let (O_1, \ldots, O_k) be a k-tuple of adjoint orbits of $\mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbb{K})$ and let $g \ge 0$ be an integer. Put

$$\mathbf{O} := (\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{2g} \times \overline{O}_1 \times \cdots \times \overline{O}_k,$$

$$\mathbf{O}^o := (\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{2g} \times O_1 \times \cdots \times O_k.$$

Consider the affine variety

$$\mathcal{W}_{\mathbf{O}} := \left\{ (A_1, B_1, \dots, A_g, B_g, X_1, \dots, X_k) \in \mathbf{O} \ \left| \sum_{i=1}^g [A_i, B_i] + \sum_{i=1}^k X_i = 0 \right\},\right.$$

and let $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}^{o}$ denote the open subset $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}} \cap \mathbf{0}^{o}$ of $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}$.

We assume that $\sum_{i=1}^{k} \operatorname{Tr}(O_i) = 0$ since otherwise $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}$ is clearly empty.

If (O'_1, \ldots, O'_k) is an other *k*-tuple of adjoint orbits of \mathfrak{gl}_n , then we write $\mathbf{O}' \leq \mathbf{O}$ if for all $i = 1, 2, \ldots, k$ we have $O'_i \subset \overline{O}_i$. Note that is (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is generic and $\mathbf{O}' \leq \mathbf{O}$, then (O'_1, \ldots, O'_k) is also generic.

Note that we have the finite partition

$$\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}} = \coprod_{\mathbf{O}' \leq \mathbf{O}} \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}'}^{o}$$

Let $PGL_n(\mathbb{K})$ acts on \mathcal{V}_0 by simultaneoulsy conjugating the 2g + k matrices and define

$$Q_{\mathbf{O}} := \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}} // \mathrm{PGL}_n = \mathrm{Spec} \left(\mathbb{K}[\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}]^{\mathrm{PGL}_n} \right)$$

We denote by Q_0^o the image of \mathcal{V}_0^o in Q_0 . By Theorem 2.1.1(3) it an open subset of Q_0 .

Definition 5.2.1. An element $(A_1, B_1, ..., A_g, B_g, X_1, ..., X_k) \in \mathcal{W}_{\mathbf{O}}^o$ is said to be *irreducible* if there is no non-zero proper subspace of \mathbb{K}^n which is preserved by all matrices $A_1, B_1, ..., A_g, B_g, X_1, ..., X_k$.

When g = 0, the problem of describing the *k*-tuples (O_1, \ldots, O_k) for which \mathcal{V}_0^o admits irreducible elements is stated and studied by Kostov (see [29] for a survey) who calls it the (additive) Deligne-Simpson problem.

In [6], Crawley-Boevey reformulates this problem and Kostov's answer in terms of preprojective algebras and the moment map for representations of quivers.

Let us now review Crawley-Boevey's work as we will need it later. More precisely we define a quiver Γ_0 and parameters \mathbf{v}_0 , \mathbf{w} , $\boldsymbol{\xi}_0$ such that there is a bijective morphism $\mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi}_0}(\mathbf{v}_0, \mathbf{w}) \to Q_0$ which is an isomorphism when $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$.

Consider the following quiver Γ_0^{-1} with *g* loops at the central vertex 0 and with set of vertices $I = \{0\} \cup \{[i, j]\}_{1 \le i \le k, 1 \le j \le s_i}$:



The dimension vector $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{0}}$ of $\Gamma_{\mathbf{0}}$ with coordinate v_i at $i \in I$ is defined as follows. We choose k total orderings \leq_i on \mathcal{P} and for each i = 1, 2, ..., k, we define the sequence $v_{[i,1]} > v_{[i,2]} > \cdots > v_{[i,s_i]}$ as the dimension vector \mathbf{v}_{O_i} associated with the orbit O_i with respect to \leq_i as in §4.3. Note that the vector $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{0}}$ depends only on the type of the adjoint orbits O_1, \ldots, O_k .

We also define $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{\mathbf{O}} \in \mathbb{K}^{I}$ as follows. For each *i*, let $\zeta_{O_{i}} = (\zeta_{i,1}, \dots, \zeta_{i,s_{i}+1})$ and $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{O_{i}} = (\boldsymbol{\xi}_{[i,1]}, \dots, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{[i,s_{i}]})$ be the two sequences defined from O_{i} as in §4.3. We also put $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{0} = -\sum_{i=1}^{k} \zeta_{i,1}$. This defines an element $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{\mathbf{O}} = \{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{0}\} \cup \{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{[i,j]}\}_{i,j} \in \mathbb{K}^{I}$ such that $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{\mathbf{O}} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}} = 0$. For a representation φ of $\overline{\Gamma}_{\mathbf{O}}$, denote by $\varphi_{[i,1]}$ the linear map associated to the arrow whose tail is [i, 1], by $\varphi_{1}, \dots, \varphi_{g}$ the matrices associated to the loops in Ω and by $\varphi_{1}^{*}, \dots, \varphi_{g}^{*}$ the ones associated to the loops in $\overline{\Omega} - \Omega$. We have the following consequence of Proposition 4.3.6 (see Crawley-Boevey [6][7]).

¹The picture is from [54].

Proposition 5.2.2. The map $\mu_{\mathbf{v}_0}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_0) \to \mathcal{V}_0$ given by $\varphi \mapsto (A_1, B_1, \dots, A_g, B_g, X_1, \dots, X_k)$, with

$$A_{i} = \varphi_{i}, B_{i} = \varphi_{i}^{*}, X_{i} = \varphi_{[i,1]}\varphi_{[i,1]}^{*} + \zeta_{i,1} \mathrm{Id},$$
(5.2.1)

is well-defined and maps simple representations onto the subset $(\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}^{o})^{\text{irr}}$ of irreducible elements. This map induces a bijective morphism

$$\mathfrak{M}_{\xi_0}(\mathbf{v}_0) \longrightarrow Q_0$$

which maps $\mathfrak{M}^{s}_{\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{O}}}(\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}})$ onto $(\mathbf{Q}^{o}_{\mathbf{O}})^{\text{irr}}$. If $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, this bijective map is an isomorphism.

The above proposition together with Theorem 4.1.7 implies a criterion in terms of roots for the nonemptyness of $(\mathcal{V}_{\Omega}^{o})^{\text{irr}}$ solving thus the additive Deligne-Simpson problem.

From Proposition 5.2.2 and Theorem 4.1.2 we have the following result:

Corollary 5.2.3. If $(\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}^{o})^{\text{irr}} \neq \emptyset$ then both $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}$ and $Q_{\mathbf{0}}$ are irreducible respectively of dimension dim $\mathbf{0} - n^{2} + 1$ and

$$d_{\mathbf{O}} = 2 - {}^{t}\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}}\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{O}}\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}} = \dim \mathbf{O} - 2n^{2} + 2$$
(5.2.2)

where C_0 is the Cartan matrix of Γ_0 .

We now state a result in the generic case. The proof is omitted as it is an easy generalisation of the case of semisimple orbits [18, Proposition 2.2.3].

Proposition 5.2.4. Assume that (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is generic. Then $(\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}^o)^{\text{irr}} = \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}^o$ and the map $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}} \to \mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{O}}$ is a principal PGL_n-bundle for the étale topology (and so it is a geometric quotient). In particular the PGL_n-orbits of $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}$ are all closed of same dimension dim PGL_n. Finally the two varieties $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}^o$ and $\mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{O}}^o$ are nonsingular.

The following result is a consequence of Proposition 5.2.4 and Corollary 5.2.3.

Corollary 5.2.5. Assume that (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is generic. Then the partitions

$$\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}} = \prod_{\mathbf{O}' \leq \mathbf{O}} \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}'}^{o}, \quad and \quad \mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{O}} = \prod_{\mathbf{O}' \leq \mathbf{O}} \mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{O}'}^{o}$$
(5.2.3)

are stratifications.

Crawley-Boevey's criterion for the non-emptyness of \mathcal{V}_0 and \mathcal{V}_0^o simplifies in the generic case as follows.

Theorem 5.2.6. Assume that (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is a generic tuple. Then the following three assertions are equivalent.

(i) The set $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}$ is not empty. (ii) The set $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}^{o}$ is not empty. (iii) $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}} \in \Phi^{+}(\Gamma_{\mathbf{O}})$.

Although this theorem is not stated in Crawley-Boevey's papers, the main ingredients for its proof are there. For the convenience of the reader we give the proof in details (repeating if necessary some arguments of Crawley-Boevey).

We start with an intermediate result.

Following Crawley-Boevey's terminology [8], we say that a dimension vector $\boldsymbol{\beta} = \{\beta_i\}_{i \in I}$ of $\Gamma_{\mathbf{O}}$ with $\beta_0 = n$ is *strict* if for any i = 1, 2, ..., k we have $n \ge \beta_{[i,1]} \ge \cdots \ge \beta_{[i,s_i]}$.

We have the following proposition.

Proposition 5.2.7. Assume that $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}$ is not empty. Then the dimension vector $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}}$ is a sum $\beta^1 + \beta^2 + \cdots + \beta^r$ of strict positive roots such that $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{\mathbf{O}} \cdot \boldsymbol{\beta}^i = 0$ for all $i = 1, 2, \dots, r$. If moreover (O_1, \dots, O_k) is generic, then r = 1, *i.e.*, $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}}$ is a positive root.

Proof. By Theorem 4.3.4 and Remark 4.3.5, we can choose an element $B \in \mu_{\mathbf{v}_0}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_0)$ whose coordinates B_h , where *h* describes the set of arrows of Γ_0 which are not loops, are injective. Let π be the canonical projection $\mathbf{M}(\overline{\Gamma}_0, \mathbf{v}_0) \to \mathbf{M}(\Gamma_0, \mathbf{v}_0)$. Write $\pi(B)$ as a direct sum $I_1 \oplus I_2 \oplus \cdots \oplus I_r$ of indecomposable representations of Γ_0 and let β^m be the dimension vector of I_m . We have $\mathbf{v}_0 = \beta^1 + \cdots + \beta^r$ and since the maps B_h are injective, the maps $(I_m)_h$ are also injective and so β^m is a strict dimension vector for all $m = 1, \ldots, r$. It is a well-known theorem of Kac [22] that the dimension vector of an indecomposable representation is a positive root. Hence the β^1, \ldots, β^r are positive strict roots. It remains to see that $\beta^m \cdot \boldsymbol{\xi}_0 = 0$ for all $m = 1, \ldots, r$. But β^m is the dimension vector of a direct summand of a representation of Γ_0 that lifts to a representation of $\mu_{\mathbf{v}_0}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_0)$, hence by Crawley-Boevey's theorem [5, Theorem 3.3] we must have $\beta^m \cdot \boldsymbol{\xi}_0 = 0$.

Assume now that (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is generic. To prove that r = 1 we repeat Crawley-Boevey's argument in [6, §3]. For each $i = 1, 2, \ldots, k$, we let $\alpha_{i,1}, \alpha_{i,2}, \ldots, \alpha_{i,p_i}$ be the distinct eigenvalues of O_i with respective multiplicities $m_{i,1}, m_{i,2}, \ldots, m_{i,p_i}$. Let $s \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$. For given $1 \le i \le k, 1 \le f \le p_i$, define

$$m_{i,f}^{s} = \sum_{j=1 \atop \zeta_{i,j} = \alpha_{i,f}}^{s_i+1} \left(\beta_{[i,j-1]}^{s} - \beta_{[i,j]}^{s}\right)$$

where for convenience $\beta_{[i,s_i+1]}^s = 0$ and [i, 0] denotes also the vertex 0. Since β^s is strict, the integer $m_{i,f}^s$ is positive. Moreover

$$\sum_{f=1}^{p_i} m_{i,f}^s = \beta_0^s \tag{5.2.4}$$

is independent of *i*. Now

$$\sum_{s=1}^{r} m_{i,f}^{s} = \sum_{\substack{j=1\\\zeta_{i,j}=\alpha_{i,f}}}^{s_{i}+1} \left(v_{[i,j-1]} - v_{[i,j]} \right) = m_{i,f}$$
(5.2.5)

where $v_{[i,s_i+1]} = 0$. Hence $0 \le m_{i,f}^s \le m_{i,f}$ and

$$0 = \boldsymbol{\xi_{0}} \cdot \boldsymbol{\beta}^{s} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{k} \sum_{j=1}^{s_{i}} \left(\zeta_{i,j} - \zeta_{i,j+1}\right) \boldsymbol{\beta}_{[i,j]}^{s}\right) - \left(\sum_{i=1}^{k} \zeta_{i,1}\right) \boldsymbol{\beta}_{0}^{s}$$
$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{k} \sum_{j=1}^{s_{i}+1} \zeta_{i,j} \left(\boldsymbol{\beta}_{[i,j-1]}^{s} - \boldsymbol{\beta}_{[i,j]}^{s}\right)$$
$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{k} \sum_{f=1}^{p_{i}} \alpha_{i,f} m_{i,f}^{s}$$

which contradicts the genericity condition (see Remark 5.1.3) unless $m_{i,f}^s = m_{i,f}$ for all $i, f, \text{ or } m_{i,f}^s = 0$ for all i, f. But since β^s is a strict root we must have $\beta_0^s > 0$ and so by (5.2.4) we can not have $m_{i,f}^s = 0$ for all i, f. Hence we must have $m_{i,f}^s = m_{i,f}$ for all i, f and so from the identity (5.2.5) we must have r = 1.

Proof of Theorem 5.2.6. (ii) implies (i) is trivial and by Proposition 5.2.7 (i) implies (iii). Hence it remains to see that (iii) implies (ii). But this is exactly what is proved in Crawley-Boevey [6, \S 6].

For each $i \in I - \{0\}$, we let $s_i : \mathbb{Z}^I \to \mathbb{Z}^I$ be the reflection defined by

$$s_i(x) = x - (x, \mathbf{e}_i)\mathbf{e}_i,$$

where (,) is the form defined by $(\mathbf{e}_i, \mathbf{e}_j) = c_{ij}$, cf. §4.1.

For $\mathbf{u} \in \mathbb{Z}^{I}$ and i = 1, 2, ..., k denote by \mathbf{u}_{i}^{\sharp} the unordered collection of numbers

 $n - u_{[i,1]}, u_{[i,1]} - u_{[i,2]}, \ldots, u_{[i,s_i-1]} - u_{[i,s_i]}, u_{[i,s_i]}.$

Since the action of the reflexion $s_{[i,j]}$ has the effect of exchanging the *j*th and (j+1)th terms in this collection we have the following lemma.

Lemma 5.2.8. If $\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v} \in \mathbb{Z}^I$ satisfies $(\mathbf{v})_i^{\sharp} = (\mathbf{u})_i^{\sharp}$ for all i = 1, ..., k, then there exists an element w in the subgroup of the Weyl group of Γ generated by the reflexions $s_{[i,j]}$ such that $\mathbf{u} = w(\mathbf{v})$.

Proposition 5.2.9. If $g \ge 1$, then $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{0}}$ is always an imaginary root.

Proof. Since $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}}$ is a decreasing dimension vector, for each i = 1, 2, ..., k, it defines a unique partition $\mu^{i} = (\mu_{1}^{i}, ..., \mu_{r_{i}}^{i})$ of n whose parts are of the form $v_{[i,j]} - v_{[i,j+1]}$, $j = 0, ..., s_{i}$ (with the convention that $v_{[i,0]} = n$ and $v_{[i,s_{i}+1]} = 0$). Define a dimension vector \mathbf{f} of $\Gamma_{\mathbf{O}}$ with the requirement that $f_{0} = n$ and $f_{[i,j]} = n - \sum_{r=1}^{j} \mu_{r}^{i}$. Note that $\mathbf{f} = \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}}$ if and only if $v_{[i,j]} - v_{[i,j+1]} \ge v_{[i,j+1]} - v_{[i,j+2]}$ for all i, j. We have $(\mathbf{e}_{0}, \mathbf{f}) = (2 - 2g)n - \sum_{i=1}^{k} f_{[i,1]} \le 0$, and $(\mathbf{e}_{[i,j]}, \mathbf{f}) = \mu_{j+1}^{i} - \mu_{j}^{i} \le 0$. Hence \mathbf{f} is in the fundamental set of imaginary roots by definition (see Kac [22, Chapter 1]). By Lemma 5.2.8, the vector \mathbf{f} can be obtained from $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}}$ by an element in the Weyl group of $\Gamma_{\mathbf{O}}$, we conclude that $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}}$ is always an imaginary root of $\Gamma_{\mathbf{O}}$.

Theorem 5.2.6 and Proposition 5.2.9 have the following consequence.

Corollary 5.2.10. If (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is generic and $g \ge 1$, then $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}^o$ is not empty.

The following proposition is due to Crawley-Boevey [6].

Proposition 5.2.11. If (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is generic and g = 0, then $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{0}}$ is a real root if and only if $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}^o$ consists of a single PGL_n-orbit (in which case $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}^o = \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}$).

Example 5.2.12. Here we assume that g = 0, k = 3 = n. Let O be the regular nilpotent orbits of \mathfrak{gl}_3 and let S be the regular semisimple adjoint orbit with eigenvalues 1, 2, -3. The tuple $(O_1, O_2, O_3) = (O, O, S)$ is then generic, the underlying graph of the associated quiver Γ_0 is \tilde{E}_6 and \mathbf{v}_0 is the indivisible positive imaginary root. Hence \mathcal{V}_0 is not empty by Theorem 5.2.6. Moreover we can use again Theorem 5.2.6 to verify that the only non-empty strata of \mathcal{V}_0 are \mathcal{V}_0^o and the two strata $\mathcal{V}_{0_1}^o$ and $\mathcal{V}_{0_2}^o$ corresponding respectively to (O, C, S) and (C, O, S) where C is the nilpotent subregular adjoint orbit. Note that \mathbf{v}_{0_i} , i = 1, 2, is the real root $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + 2\alpha_3 + 3\alpha_4 + 2\alpha_5 + \alpha_6$ of E_6 (in the notation of [4, PLANCHE V]) and so \mathcal{V}_{0_i} is a single PGL_n-orbit by Proposition 5.2.11.

Remark 5.2.13. If $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}$ is not empty then for any \mathbf{O} such that $\mathbf{O}' \leq \mathbf{O}$ the variety $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}$ will be also not empty. We may use this together with the equivalence between the two assertions (i) and (iii) of Theorem 5.2.6 to construct new roots of quivers from known ones.

5.3 General comet-shaped quiver varieties

Let (O_1, \ldots, O_k) be a tuple of adjoint orbits of $\mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbb{K})$, and for each $i = 1, \ldots, k$, let $(L_i, P_i, \sigma_i, C_i)$ be as in §4.3.3 such that the image of the first projection $p_i : \mathbb{X}_{L_i, P_i, \Sigma_i} \to \mathfrak{gl}_n$ is \overline{O}_i where $\Sigma_i = \sigma_i + C_i$. As in the introduction we put $\mathbf{P} = P_1 \times \cdots \times P_k$, $\mathbf{L} = L_1 \times \cdots \times L_k$ and $\Sigma = \Sigma_1 \times \cdots \times \Sigma_k$, $\mathbf{C} := C_1 \times \cdots \times C_k$. Put $\mathbb{O}_{\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{P}, \Sigma} = (\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{2g} \times \mathbb{X}_{\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{P}, \Sigma} = (\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{2g} \times \mathbb{X}_{\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{P}, \Sigma}^o$ and

$$\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}} := \left\{ \left(A_1, B_1, \dots, A_g, B_g, (X_1, \dots, X_k, g_1 P_1, \dots, g_k P_k) \right) \in \mathbb{O}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}} \left| \sum_j [A_j, B_j] + \sum_i X_i = 0 \right\}.$$

Let $\mathbf{p} = (id)^{2g} \times p_1 \times \cdots \times p_k : \mathbb{O}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} \to \mathbf{O}$ and let $\rho : \mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} \to \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}$ be its restriction. The map ρ is clearly projective. Let \mathbf{GL}_n act on $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ diagonally by conjugation on the first 2g + k coordinates and by left multiplication on the last k coordinates. These actions of \mathbf{GL}_n on $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ and $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}$ induces actions of \mathbf{PGL}_n for which the morphism ρ is \mathbf{PGL}_n -equivariant.



is Cartesian. If $\mathbb{K} = \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ and if our data $(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{P}, \boldsymbol{\Sigma})$ is defined over \mathbb{F}_q then the above diagram is also defined over \mathbb{F}_q .

Proof. Since the tuple (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is generic, the quotient $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}} \to Q_{\mathbf{O}}$ is a principal PGL_n-bundle in the étale topology (see Proposition 5.2.4) and so the result follows from Corollary 2.1.6.

In general (i.e. when the tuple (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is not necessarily generic) we can always define the GIT quotient

 $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}//\Psi \mathbf{GL}_n$

with respect to some GL_n -linearization Ψ of some ample line bundle M on $\mathbb{V}_{L,P,\Sigma}$. Indeed $\mathbb{V}_{L,P,\Sigma}$ is projective over \mathcal{W}_0 and so such a pair (M, Ψ) always exists (see above Corollary 2.1.6).

Assuming that (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is generic, we show in this section that the quotient $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{P}, \Sigma} / / \Psi GL_n$ can be identified (at least when $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$) with a quiver variety $\mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}}(\mathbf{v})$ for appropriate choices of $\boldsymbol{\xi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}, \mathbf{v}$.

For each i = 1, ..., k, we can define a type A quiver $\Gamma_{L_i, P_i, \Sigma_i}$ together with parameters $\xi_{L_i, P_i, \Sigma_i}, \theta_i, \mathbf{v}_{L_i, P_i, \Sigma_i}$ as in §4.3.3 such that there is a canonical bijective morphism $\mathbb{X}_{L_i, P_i, \Sigma_i} \to \mathfrak{M}_{\xi_{L_i, P_i, \Sigma_i}, \theta_i}(\mathbf{v}_{L_i, P_i, \Sigma_i}, \mathbf{w})$ which is an isomorphism when $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$.

We now define a comet shaped quiver $\Gamma_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ as in §5.2 such that each leg with vertices $[1, 1], \ldots, [1, s_i]$ is exactly the quiver $\Gamma_{L_i,P_i,\Sigma_i}$. I.e., if we delete the central vertex {0} from $\Gamma_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$, we recover the *k* type *A* quivers $\Gamma_{L_1,P_1,\Sigma_1}, \ldots, \Gamma_{L_k,P_k,\Sigma_k}$. We denote by *I* the set of vertices of $\Gamma_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$, and we define a dimension vector $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} = \{v_i\}_{i\in I}$ by putting $v_0 := n$ and, for each $i = 1, \ldots, k$, $(v_{[i,1]}, \ldots, v_{[i,s_i]}) := \mathbf{v}_{L_i,P_i,\Sigma_i}$. Multiplying the vectors $\boldsymbol{\theta}_i$ by a strictly positive integer if necessary, there is $\boldsymbol{\theta} \in \mathbb{Z}^I$ such that its projection on $\Gamma_{L_i,P_i,\Sigma_i}$ is $\boldsymbol{\theta}_i$ for each *i* and such that $\boldsymbol{\theta} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} = 0$. There is a unique $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} \in \mathbb{K}^I$ whose projection on $\Gamma_{L_i,P_i,\Sigma_i}$ is $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{L_i,P_i,\Sigma_i}$ for all *i* and $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} = 0$. Note that θ_0 must be negative.

The quiver $\Gamma_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ and the parameter $\xi_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ are the same as $\Gamma_{\mathbf{O}}$ and $\xi_{\mathbf{O}}$ obtained from (O_1,\ldots,O_k) , see above Example 4.3.10. However in general the dimension vector $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ differs from $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}}$ as shown in Example 4.3.10.

To alleviate the notation we will use Γ , ξ , \mathbf{v} instead of $\Gamma_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$, $\xi_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ and $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$.

Let Γ^{\dagger} be the quiver obtained from Γ by deleting the central vertex (i.e., it is the union of the quivers $\Gamma_{L_1,P_1,\Sigma_1}, \ldots, \Gamma_{L_k,P_k,\Sigma_k}$). We denote by $I^{\dagger} = \{[i, j]\}_{i,j}$ the set of vertices of Γ^{\dagger} . For a parameter $x \in \mathbb{K}^I$, we denote by x^{\dagger} its projection on $\mathbb{K}^{I^{\dagger}}$.

We put

$$\mathbf{Z}\left(\overline{\Gamma}^{\dagger}, \mathbf{v}^{\dagger}, \mathbf{w}\right) := (\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{2g} \times \mathbf{M}\left(\overline{\Gamma}^{\dagger}, \mathbf{v}^{\dagger}, \mathbf{w}\right).$$

We let $\operatorname{GL}_{\mathbf{v}^{\dagger}}$ acts on $\mathbf{Z}(\overline{\Gamma}^{\dagger}, \mathbf{v}^{\dagger}, \mathbf{w})$ by the trivial action on $(\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{2g}$ and by the usual action on the second coordinate.

We identify in the obvious way $\mathbf{M}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v})$ with $\mathbf{Z}(\overline{\Gamma}^{\dagger}, \mathbf{v}^{\dagger}, \mathbf{w})$ and we regard $\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})$ as a $\mathrm{GL}_{\mathbf{v}^{\dagger}}$ -stable closed subvariety of $(\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{2g} \times \mu_{\mathbf{v}^{\dagger},\mathbf{w}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\dagger})$. To avoid any confusion, for a closed $\mathrm{GL}_{\mathbf{v}}$ -stable subset X of $\mathbf{M}(\overline{\Gamma}, \mathbf{v}) = \mathbf{Z}(\overline{\Gamma}^{\dagger}, \mathbf{v}^{\dagger}, \mathbf{w})$ we denote by $X^{ss}(\Phi)$ the set of $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ -semistable points of X and by $X^{ss}(\Phi^{\dagger})$ the set of $\boldsymbol{\theta}^{\dagger}$ -semistable points. Clearly $X^{ss}(\Phi) \subset X^{ss}(\Phi^{\dagger})$.

Define

$$\Im_{\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\dagger},\boldsymbol{\theta}^{\dagger}}\left(\mathbf{v}^{\dagger},\mathbf{w}\right) := \left((\mathfrak{gl}_{n})^{2g} \times \boldsymbol{\mu}_{\mathbf{v}^{\dagger},\mathbf{w}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\dagger})\right) / /_{\boldsymbol{\theta}^{\dagger}} \mathrm{GL}_{\mathbf{v}^{\dagger}} \simeq (\mathfrak{gl}_{n})^{2g} \times \mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\dagger},\boldsymbol{\theta}^{\dagger}}(\mathbf{v}^{\dagger},\mathbf{w}).$$

There is a canonical bijective map $f_1 : \mathfrak{Z}_{\xi^{\dagger},\theta^{\dagger}}(\mathbf{v}^{\dagger},\mathbf{w}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{O}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ (which is an isomorphism when $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$). Let $q : \left((\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{2g} \times \mu_{\mathbf{v}^{\dagger},\mathbf{w}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\dagger})\right)^{ss}(\Phi^{\dagger}) \to \mathfrak{Z}_{\xi^{\dagger},\theta^{\dagger}}(\mathbf{v}^{\dagger},\mathbf{w})$ denote the quotient map. By Proposition 2.2.1 the map f_1 restricts to a bijective morphism $q\left(\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})^{ss}(\Phi^{\dagger})\right) \to \mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ and there is a canonical bijective map $\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})//_{\theta^{\dagger}} \mathrm{GL}_{\mathbf{v}^{\dagger}} \to q\left(\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})^{ss}(\Phi^{\dagger})\right)$. Composing the two bijective morphisms we end up with a bijective morphism $f_2 : \mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})//_{\theta^{\dagger}} \mathrm{GL}_{\mathbf{v}^{\dagger}} \to \mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ which is an isomorphism when $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$.

Proposition 5.3.2. Assume that tuple (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is generic, then an element of $\mu_v^{-1}(\xi)$ is θ -semistable (resp. θ -stable) if and only if it is θ^{\dagger} -semistable (resp. θ^{\dagger} -stable).

Proof. Assume that $\varphi \in \mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})$ is θ^{\dagger} -semistable. Let ψ be a subrepresentation of φ . It is an element in $\mu_{\mathbf{v}'}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})$ for some $\mathbf{v}' \leq \mathbf{v}$. We need to verify that $\theta \cdot \mathbf{v}' \leq 0$. If $v'_0 = v_0$, then we must have $\theta \cdot \mathbf{v}' \leq \theta \cdot \mathbf{v} = 0$ since $\theta^{\dagger} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{I^{\dagger}}$. If $v'_0 = 0$, then the subspaces $V'_{[i,1]}$ are contained in Ker (a_i) for all $i = 1, \ldots, k$ and so $\theta \cdot \mathbf{v}' = \theta^{\dagger} \cdot (\mathbf{v}')^{\dagger} \leq 0$ since φ is θ^{\dagger} -semistable. Let $(A_1^{\varphi}, B_1^{\varphi}, \ldots, A_g^{\varphi}, B_g^{\varphi}, X_1^{\varphi}, \ldots, X_k^{\varphi})$ be given by Formula (5.2.1). Since ψ is a subrepresentation of φ , the subspace $V'_0 \subset V_0 = \mathbb{K}^{v_0}$ is preserved by all matrices $A_1^{\varphi}, B_2^{\varphi}, B_g^{\varphi}, X_1^{\varphi}, \ldots, X_k^{\varphi}$. Recall also that any tuple $(O'_1, \ldots, O'_k) \leq (O_1, \ldots, O_k)$ is generic. Hence by Proposition 5.2.4, the tuple $(A_1^{\varphi}, B_1^{\varphi}, \ldots, A_g^{\varphi}, B_g^{\varphi}, X_1^{\varphi}, \ldots, X_k^{\varphi})$, which belongs to some $(O'_1, \ldots, O'_k) \leq (O_1, \ldots, O_k)$, is irreducible. Hence $v'_0 = 0$ or $v'_0 = n$.

Proposition 5.3.3. Assume that (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is generic. Then the morphism f_2 induces a bijective morphism $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v}) \to \mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ (which is an isomorphism when $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$).

Proof. The proposition follows from Proposition 5.3.2 and Proposition 2.1.2 applied to $X = \mu_v^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}), G'' = GL_v = GL_n \times GL_{v^{\dagger}}.$

Remark 5.3.4. If (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is not generic, a-priori we only have a bijective morphism $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ onto an open subset of a quotient $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}}//\Psi \mathrm{GL}_n$.

We now assume until the end of this section that the tuple (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is generic.

Thanks to Proposition 5.3.2 we can now omitt Φ and Φ^{\dagger} from the notation $\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})^{ss}(\Phi)$ or $\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})^{ss}(\Phi^{\dagger})$ and write simply $\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})^{ss}$.

Remark 5.3.5. Assume that the θ_i 's, i = 1, ..., k, have strictly positive coordinates. Then $\mu_v^{-1}(\xi)^{ss} = \mu_v^{-1}(\xi)^s$. This identity also happens when θ is generic. We want to notice that in this situation we can actually choose our θ_i 's (taking larger values of the coordinates if necessary) such that θ is generic. Indeed the set $\mu_v^{-1}(\xi)^{ss}$ depends only on the position of the non-zero coordinates of the θ_i 's and not on their values (cf. Remark 4.2.2 (ii)).

Put

$$\mathfrak{N}_{\boldsymbol{\xi},\boldsymbol{\theta}^{\dagger}}(\mathbf{v}^{\dagger},\mathbf{w}) := \mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}) //_{\boldsymbol{\theta}^{\dagger}} \mathrm{GL}_{\mathbf{v}^{\dagger}}.$$

We summarize what we said with the following commutative diagram



where $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ is defined as in Proposition 5.3.1 and where f_3 is the factorization morphism (as $q \circ \pi_2 \circ f_2$ is constant on GL_n -orbits). The top vertical arrows are the canonical inclusions and the bottom vertical arrows are the canonical quotient maps.

Remark 5.3.6. When $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$, the maps f_1, f_2, f_3 are isomorphisms and the diagram is Cartesian.

Recall that $\Sigma_i = \sigma_i + C_i$. Put $\mathbf{C} = C_1 \times \cdots \times C_k$. Then the decomposition of $\overline{\mathbf{C}} = \coprod_{\alpha} \mathbf{C}_{\alpha}$ as a union of **L**-orbits provides a stratification $\overline{\Sigma} = \coprod_{\alpha} \Sigma_{\alpha}$. We thus a have a decomposition

$$\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}} = \coprod_{\alpha} \mathbb{V}^{o}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}_{\alpha}}$$
(5.3.2)

where $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma_{\alpha}}^{o} := \mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma_{\alpha}} \cap \mathbb{O}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma_{\alpha}}^{o}$. By Proposition 4.3.12, the subset $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}^{o} \subset \mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ corresponds to the stable points, i.e., $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}^{o} \simeq \mathfrak{N}_{\boldsymbol{\xi},\theta^{\dagger}}^{s}(\mathbf{v}^{\dagger},\mathbf{w}) = \mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\xi})^{s}/\mathrm{GL}_{\mathbf{v}^{\dagger}}$. The image of $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma_{\alpha}}$ by the projective morphism

$$\rho: \mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}$$

is of the form $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}_{\alpha}}$ for some $\mathbf{O}_{\alpha} \leq \mathbf{O}$.

Theorem 5.3.7. The variety $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma_{\alpha}}$ is not empty if and only if $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma_{\alpha}}$ is a root of $\Gamma_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma_{\alpha}}$. In this case the piece $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma_{\alpha}}^{o}$ is also not empty and is an irreducible nonsingular dense open subset of $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma_{\alpha}}$ of dimension

$$(2g+k-1)n^2+1-\dim \mathbf{L}+\dim \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{\alpha}.$$

In particular the partition (5.3.2) is a stratification.

Since $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} \to \mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ is a principal PGL_n-bundle we have the following result.

Corollary 5.3.8. The stratum $\mathbb{Q}^o_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_o}$ is irreducible and the decomposition

$$\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}} = \coprod_{\alpha} \mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{\alpha}}^{o}$$

is a stratification.

Recall that **v**₀ be the dimension vector of Γ obtained from the tuple (O_1, \ldots, O_k) as in §5.2. Let $W(\Gamma^{\dagger})$ denote the Weyl group of Γ^{\dagger} .

Lemma 5.3.9. The two vectors **v** and **v**₀ are in the same $W(\Gamma^{\dagger})$ -orbit.

Proof. It follows from Lemma 5.2.8 as for each i = 1, ..., k, we have $(\mathbf{v}_0)_i^{\sharp} = \mathbf{v}_i^{\sharp}$.

п

Proof of Theorem 5.3.7. We prove it for $\Sigma = \Sigma_{\alpha}$ as the proof will be the same for any Σ_{α} . Note that $\mathbb{V}_{L,P,\Sigma}$ is not empty if and only if \mathcal{V}_{O} is not empty. Hence the first assertion follows from Lemma 5.3.9 and Proposition 5.2.6.

Assume that $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ is not empty. Then $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}$ is not empty and so by Proposition 5.2.6 the set $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}^{o}$ is also not empty. Since the inverse image of $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}^{o}$ by the map $\rho : \mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} \to \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}$ is contained in $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}^{o}$, the open subset $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}^{o}$ of $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ is not empty.

Consider $\mathbb{Y}_{L,P,\Sigma}^{o} := \{(X,g) \in \mathfrak{gl}_n \times \operatorname{GL}_n | g^{-1}Xg \in \Sigma + \mathfrak{u}_P\}$. Then the canonical map $\mathbb{Y}_{L,P,\Sigma}^{o} \to \mathbb{X}_{L,P,\Sigma}^{o}$, $(X,g) \mapsto (X,gP)$ is a locally trivial principal *P*-bundle (for the Zariski topology). Note that $\mathbb{Y}_{L,P,\Sigma}^{o} \cong G \times (\Sigma + \mathfrak{u}_P)$. Now consider the set $\mathbb{L}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}^{o}$ of (2g + k)-tuples $(A_1, B_1, \ldots, A_g, B_g, (g_1, y_1), \ldots, (g_k, y_k))$ in $(\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{2g} \times (G \times (\Sigma_1 + \mathfrak{u}_P)) \times \cdots \times (G \times (\Sigma_k + \mathfrak{u}_P))$ such that

$$\sum_{j} [A_j, B_j] + \sum_{i} g_i y_i g_i^{-1} = 0.$$

The natural map $\mathbb{L}^{o}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} \to \mathbb{V}^{o}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ is then a locally trivial principal **P**-bundle. Hence we are reduced to prove that $\mathbb{L}^{o}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ is nonsingular. A sufficient condition for a point $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{L}^{o}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ to be nonsingular is that the differential $d_{\mathbf{x}}\mu$ of the map

$$u: (\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{2g} \times (G \times (\Sigma_1 + \mathfrak{u}_P)) \times \cdots \times (G \times (\Sigma_k + \mathfrak{u}_P)) \longrightarrow \mathfrak{sl}_n$$

given by $(A_1, B_1, \ldots, A_g, B_g, (g_1, \sigma_1), \ldots, (g_k, \sigma_k)) \mapsto \sum_j [A_j, B_j] + \sum_i g_i y_i g_i^{-1}$ is surjective.

Let y_i be the coordinate of \mathbf{x} in $\Sigma_i + u_P$. Consider the restriction λ of μ to the closed subset $(\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{2g} \times (G \times \{y_1\}) \times \cdots \times (G \times \{y_k\})$. It is enough to prove that the differential $d_{\mathbf{x}}\lambda$ is surjective. But this what we prove to see that the variety $\mathcal{W}^o_{\mathbf{S}}$ is nonsingular (**S** being $(\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{2g} \times \overline{S}_1 \times \cdots \times \overline{S}_k$ where $S_i \subset \overline{O}_i$ is the adjoint orbit of y_k), see Theorem 5.2.4 and references therein. The variety $\mathbb{V}^o_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ is thus nonsingular and its irreducible components are all of same dimension. To compute the dimension of $\mathbb{V}^o_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ we may use what we just said or use the fact that there is a bijective morphism $\mathfrak{N}^s_{\xi,\theta^{\dagger}}(\mathbf{v}^{\dagger}, \mathbf{w}) \to \mathbb{V}^o_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ and then use Theorem 4.1.2 (a straightforward calculation shows that ${}^t\mathbf{v}\mathbf{C}\mathbf{v} = 2n^2 - \dim \mathbf{O}$).

Let us see now that $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ is irreducible. Let $\hat{\mathbf{L}}$, $\hat{\mathbf{P}}$ be defined as in §4.3.4 and put $\sigma := (\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_k)$. The canonical map $\mathbb{V}_{\hat{\mathbf{L}},\hat{\mathbf{P}},\{\sigma\}} \to \mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ defined by $(X, g\hat{\mathbf{P}}) \mapsto (X, g\mathbf{P})$ being surjective it is enough to show that $\mathbb{V}_{\hat{\mathbf{L}},\hat{\mathbf{P}},\{\sigma\}}$ is irreducible. We are thus reduced to prove the irreducibility of $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ when Σ is reduced to a point $\{\sigma\}$ which we now assume. Hence $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\{\sigma\}} = \mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\{\sigma\}}^o$ and the parameter θ satisfies $\theta_i > 0$ for all $i \in I^{\dagger}$. By Remark 5.3.5, we may assume that θ is generic with respect to \mathbf{v} . We now need to prove the irreducibility of $\mathfrak{N}_{\boldsymbol{\xi},\theta^{\dagger}}(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{w})$. Since $\mathfrak{N}_{\boldsymbol{\xi},\theta^{\dagger}}(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{w}) \to \mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi},\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ is a principal PGL_n-bundle, we are reduced to prove that $\mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi},\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ is irreducible.

Assume first that $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then by Theorem 4.1.5 we have $H_c^i(\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v}), \mathbb{C}) \simeq H_c^i(\mathfrak{M}_{\theta,\theta}(\mathbf{v}), \mathbb{C})$. Recall that the dimension of $H_c^{2e}(X, \mathbb{C})$ where *e* is the dimension of *X* equals the number of irreducible components of *X* of dimension *e*. The varieties $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ and $\mathfrak{M}_{\theta,\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ are both of pure dimension by Theorem 4.1.2. Hence we are reduced to see that $\mathfrak{M}_{\theta,\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ is irreducible. The representations in $\mu_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(\theta)$ are all simple because θ is generic, hence $\mathfrak{M}_{\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ is irreducible and nonsingular (see Theorem 4.1.2). The canonical map $\mathfrak{M}_{\theta,\theta}(\mathbf{v}) \to \mathfrak{M}_{\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ being a resolution of singularities is thus an isomorphism and so $\mathfrak{M}_{\theta,\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ is irreducible.

Assume that $\mathbb{K} = \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$. By Theorem 4.1.6 there exists r_0 such that for all $r \ge r_0$ we have $\#\{\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v})(\mathbb{F}_{q^r})\} =$ $\#\{\mathfrak{M}_{\theta,\theta}(\mathbf{v})(\mathbb{F}_{q^r})\}$. As the canonical map $\mathfrak{M}_{\theta,\theta}(\mathbf{v}) \to \mathfrak{M}_{\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ is an isomorphism we actually have

$$\sharp\{\mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\xi},\boldsymbol{\theta}}(\mathbf{v})(\mathbb{F}_{q^r})\} = \sharp\{\mathfrak{M}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}(\mathbf{v})(\mathbb{F}_{q^r})\}.$$
(5.3.3)

Note that the dimension of the compactly supported ℓ -adic cohomology group $H_c^{2e}(X, \kappa)$ with ℓ invertible in \mathbb{K} and $e = \dim X$ also equals the number m of irreducible components of X of dimension e. Moreover if X is defined over \mathbb{F}_q , then the Frobenius F^* acts on $H_c^{2e}(X, \kappa)$ as multiplication by q^e . Therefore, the coefficient of q^e in $\sharp(X(\mathbb{F}_q))$ equals m. From the identity (5.3.3) we deduce that $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi,\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ is irreducible if and only if $\mathfrak{M}_{\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ is irreducible. But as above the variety $\mathfrak{M}_{\theta}(\mathbf{v})$ is irreducible as θ is generic.

5.4 A restriction property

We keep the notation of §5.3 and we assume that (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is generic and that $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}$ is not empty. Note that $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{LP},\Sigma}^o$ is then also not empty by Theorem 5.3.7.

The aim of this section is to prove the following theorem.

Theorem 5.4.1. Let *i* be the natural inclusion $\mathbb{V}_{L,P,\Sigma} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{O}_{L,P,\Sigma}$. Then

$$i^*\left(IC^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{O}_{\mathrm{L},\mathrm{P},\Sigma}}\right) = IC^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{V}_{\mathrm{L},\mathrm{P},\Sigma}}.$$

By §5.3, we have a stratification

$$\mathbb{O}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}} = \coprod_{\alpha} \mathbb{O}^{o}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}_{\alpha}}$$

with $\mathbb{O}^{o}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma_{q}} := (\mathfrak{gl}_{n})^{2g} \times \mathbb{X}^{o}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma_{q}}$. It satisfies the conditions (i) of Proposition 3.2.1.

We consider the semi-small resolution $\tilde{\pi} : \mathbb{O}_{\hat{\mathbf{L}}, \hat{\mathbf{P}}, \{\sigma\}} \to \mathbb{O}_{\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{P}, \Sigma}$ considered in §4.3.4 and its restriction $\tilde{\rho} : \mathbb{V}_{\hat{\mathbf{L}}, \hat{\mathbf{P}}, \{\sigma\}} \to \mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{P}, \Sigma}$.

Proposition 5.4.2. The morphism $\tilde{\rho}$ is a semi-small resolution. Moreover the diagram



is Cartesian (the vertical arrows being the canonical inclusions) and the restriction of the sheaf $\mathcal{H}^{i}(\tilde{\pi}_{*}(\kappa))$ to each piece $\mathbb{O}^{o}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{a}}$ is a locally constant sheaf.

Proof. The diagram is Cartesian by definition of the varieties $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$. The variety $\mathbb{V}_{\hat{\mathbf{L}},\hat{\mathbf{P}},\{\sigma\}}$ is also nonsingular by Theorem 5.3.7. Hence $\tilde{\rho}$ is a resolution of singularities.

By Proposition 4.3.18 the map $\tilde{\pi}$ is semi-small with respect to $\mathbb{O}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} = \coprod_{\alpha} \mathbb{O}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma_{\alpha}}^{o}$. By Theorem 5.3.7 we see that the codimension of $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma_{\alpha}}^{o}$ in $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma_{\alpha}}$ in $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ equals the codimension of $\mathbb{O}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma_{\alpha}}^{o}$ in $\mathbb{O}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma_{\alpha}}$, hence $\tilde{\rho}$ is also semi-small. The last assertion of the proposition follows from Proposition 4.3.19.

Theorem 5.4.1 is now a consequence of Proposition 5.4.2 and Proposition 3.2.1.

We have the following particular case of Theorem 5.4.1.

Proposition 5.4.3. Let *i* denotes the inclusion $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{0}$. Then $i^*(IC^{\bullet}_{\mathbf{0}}) \simeq IC^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}}$.

6 Characters and Fourier transforms

Here \mathbb{K} is an algebraic closure of a finite field \mathbb{F}_q . In this section we put $G := \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{K})$ and $\mathfrak{g} := \mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbb{K})$. We denote by F the standard Frobenius endomorphism $\mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}$ that maps a matrix $(a_{ij})_{i,j}$ to $(a_{ij}^q)_{i,j}$ so that $G^F = \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ and $\mathfrak{g}^F = \mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$.

6.1 Preliminaries on finite groups

Let κ be an algorate like of characteristic 0. Let $z \mapsto \overline{z}$ be an involution of κ that maps roots of unity to their inverses. For a finite set *E*, we define \langle , \rangle_E on the space of all functions $E \to \kappa$ by

$$\langle f, g \rangle_E = \frac{1}{|E|} \sum_{x \in E} f(x) \overline{g(x)}.$$

Now let H be a subgroup of a finite group K and let \tilde{H} be a subgroup of $N_K(H)$ containing H. Let $\rho^1 : \tilde{H} \to \operatorname{GL}(V^1)$ and $\rho^2 : \tilde{H} \to \operatorname{GL}(V^2)$ be two representations of \tilde{H} in the finite dimensional κ -vector spaces V^1, V^2 . We denote by χ^1 and χ^2 their associated characters. The group \tilde{H} acts on the space $\operatorname{Hom}(V^1, V^2)$ as follows. For $f \in \operatorname{Hom}(V^1, V^2)$, we define $r \cdot f : V^1 \to V^2$ by $(r \cdot f)(v) = r \cdot f(r^{-1} \cdot v)$. Moreover we see that the subspace $\operatorname{Hom}_H(V^1, V^2)$ of fixed points of $\operatorname{Hom}(V^1, V^2)$ by H is clearly \tilde{H} -stable (it is therefore an $\kappa[\tilde{H}/H]$ -module).

For any $r \in \tilde{H}$, we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(r | \operatorname{Hom}(V^{1}, V^{2})\right) = \chi^{1}(r)\chi^{2}(r^{-1}).$$
(6.1.1)

For $s \in \tilde{H}$, we denote by χ_s^i the restriction of χ^i to the coset $Hs := \{hs \mid h \in H\}$.

Proposition 6.1.1. Let $s \in \tilde{H}$. We have

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(s \mid \operatorname{Hom}_{H}(V^{1}, V^{2})\right) = \left\langle \chi_{s}^{1}, \chi_{s}^{2} \right\rangle_{Hs}.$$

Proof. Put $E := \text{Hom}(V^1, V^2)$ and $E_H := \text{Hom}_H(V^1, V^2)$ and denote $p : E \to E_H$ the map $p(x) = \frac{1}{|H|} \sum_{h \in H} h \cdot x$. Then E' := Ker p is an \tilde{H} -stable subspace of E and $E = E_H \oplus E'$. Since

$$\left(\frac{1}{|H|}\sum_{h\in H}hs\right)\Big|_{E'}=0$$

we deduce that

$$\operatorname{Tr}(s \mid E_H) = \frac{1}{|H|} \sum_{h \in H} \operatorname{Tr}(hs \mid E).$$

By Formula (6.1.1), the right hand side of this equation is $\langle \chi_s^1, \chi_s^2 \rangle_{H_s}$.

We now let φ and ψ be the characters of \tilde{H} and K associated respectively to representations $\tilde{H} \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$ and $K \to \operatorname{GL}(W)$. The group \tilde{H} acts on the K-module $\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{K}(V) := \kappa[K] \otimes_{\kappa[H]} V$ by $t \cdot (x \otimes v) = xt^{-1} \otimes t \cdot v$. Its restriction to H being trivial, it factorizes through an action of \tilde{H}/H on $\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{K}(V)$. Under the natural isomorphism (Frobenius reciprocity)

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{H}(V,W) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{K}\left(\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{K}(V),W\right)$$
(6.1.2)

the action of \tilde{H}/H on $\operatorname{Hom}_H(V, W)$ described earlier corresponds to the action of \tilde{H}/H on the κ -vector space Hom_K $\left(\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{K}(V), W\right)$ given by $(t \cdot f)(x \otimes v) = f(t^{-1} \cdot (x \otimes v))$. For a subset *E* of *K* and a function $f : E \to \kappa$, we define $\operatorname{Ind}_{E}^{K}(f) : K \to \kappa$ by

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{E}^{K}(f)(k) = \frac{1}{|E|} \sum_{\{g \in K \mid g^{-1}kg \in E\}} f(g^{-1}kg)$$

Then we have the following generalization of Frobenius reciprocity for functions:

Lemma 6.1.2. Let $h : K \to \kappa$ be a function. Then

$$\left\langle \operatorname{Ind}_{E}^{K}(f),h\right\rangle_{K} = \left\langle f,\operatorname{Res}_{E}^{K}(h)\right\rangle_{E}$$

Proof. It follows from a straightforward calculation.

By Proposition 6.1.1, (6.1.2) and the above lemma, we have the following proposition:

Proposition 6.1.3. Let $v \in \tilde{H}/H$ and let $\dot{v} \in \tilde{H}$ be a representative of v. Then

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\nu \mid \operatorname{Hom}_{K}\left(\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{K}(V), W\right)\right) = \left\langle\operatorname{Ind}_{H\dot{\nu}}^{K}(\varphi_{\nu}), \psi\right\rangle_{K}$$

where φ_v denotes the restriction of φ to $H\dot{v}$.

6.2 Littlewood-Richardson coefficients

For a positive integer m, we denote by S_m the symmetric group in m letters.

5

Notation 6.2.1. For a subgroup H of a group K, we denote by $W_K(H)$ the quotient $N_K(H)/H$.

Fix a sequence $\tau_o = (a_1, m_1)(a_2, m_2) \cdots (a_s, m_s)$ with $a_i, m_i \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ such that $\sum_i a_i m_i = n$ and $m_i \neq m_j$ if $i \neq j$. Put

$$S := (S_{m_1})^{a_1} \times \cdots \times (S_{m_s})^{a_s} \subset S_n$$

where $(S_m)^d$ stands for $S_m \times \cdots \times S_m$ (*d* times). Then we may write $N_{S_n}(S)$ as the semidirect product $S \rtimes (\prod_{i=1}^s S_{a_i})$ where each S_{a_i} acts on $(S_{m_i})^{a_i}$ by permutation of the coordinates.

Hence

$$W_{S_n}(S) \simeq \prod_{i=1}^{s} S_{a_i}.$$
 (6.2.1)

The group $N_{S_n}(S)$ acts on the category of $\kappa[S]$ -modules in the natural way, i.e., if $\rho : S \to GL(V)$ and $n \in N_{S_n}(S)$, then $n^*(\rho)$ is the representation $\rho \circ n^{-1} : S \to GL(V)$.

For a representation $\rho: S \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$, we denote by $W_{S_n}(S,\rho)$ the quotient $N_{S_n}(S,\rho)/S$ where

$$N_{S_n}(S,\rho) = \{n \in N_{S_n}(S) \mid n^*(\rho) \simeq \rho\}.$$

Let $\rho : S \to GL(V)$ be an irreducible representation. Then for each i = 1, ..., s, there exists a partition $(d_{i,1}, ..., d_{i,r_i})$ of a_i and non-isomorphic irreducible $\kappa[S_{m_i}]$ -modules $V_{i,1}, ..., V_{i,r_i}$ such that

$$V = \bigotimes_{i,j} T^{d_{i,j}} \left(V_{i,j} \right)$$

where for a κ -vector space E, we put $T^d E := E \otimes \cdots \otimes E$ with E repeated d times.

Then the isomorphism (6.2.1) restricts to an isomorphism

$$W_{S_n}(S,\rho) \simeq \prod_{i,j} S_{d_{i,j}}$$

For each (i, j), the group $(S_{m_i})^{d_{i,j}} \rtimes S_{d_{i,j}}$ acts on $T^{d_{i,j}}(V_{i,j}) = V_{i,j} \otimes \cdots \otimes V_{i,j}$ as

$$(w, s) \cdot (x_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes x_{d_{i,j}}) = (w_1 \cdot x_{s^{-1}(1)} \otimes \cdots \otimes w_{d_{i,j}} \cdot x_{s^{-1}(d_{i,j})}).$$

This defines an action of $N_{S_n}(S,\rho) \simeq \prod_{i,j} ((S_{m_i})^{d_{i,j}} \rtimes S_{d_{i,j}}) \simeq S \rtimes (\prod_{i,j} S_{d_{i,j}})$ on *V*. We denote by $\tilde{\chi}$: $N_{S_n}(S,\rho) \to \kappa$ the corresponding character, and for $v \in \prod_{i,j} S_{d_{i,j}}$ we denote by $\tilde{\chi}_v$ its restriction to the coset Sv.

By Proposition 6.1.3 we have:

Proposition 6.2.2. For any $\kappa[S_n]$ -module W with character ψ and any $v \in W_{S_n}(S, \rho)$ we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\nu \mid \operatorname{Hom}_{S_{n}}\left(\operatorname{Ind}_{S}^{S_{n}}(V), W\right)\right) = \left\langle\operatorname{Ind}_{S_{\nu}}^{S_{n}}(\tilde{\chi}_{\nu}), \psi\right\rangle_{S_{n}}$$

Lemma 6.2.3. Let $\chi_{i,j}$ be the character associated with the $\kappa[S_{m_i}]$ -modules $V_{i,j}$. Assume that v acts on each $(S_{m_i})^{d_{i,j}}$ by circular permutation of the coordinates, namely $v \cdot (g_1, \ldots, g_{d_{i,j}}) = (g_2, g_3, \ldots, g_{d_{i,j}}, g_1)$. Let $w_{i,j} = (w_{i,j,1}, w_{i,j,2}, \ldots, w_{i,j,d_{i,j}}) \in (S_{m_i})^{d_{i,j}}$ and let $w \in S = \prod_{i,j} (S_{m_i})^{d_{i,j}}$ be the element with coordinates $w_{i,j}$. We have

$$\tilde{\chi}(w,v) = \prod_{i,j} \chi_{i,j}(w_{i,j,1}w_{i,j,2}\cdots w_{i,j,d_{i,j}}).$$

We now show that this trace is also a Littlewood-Richardson coefficient (or more precisely a twisted version of it). We will use this result later on.

Let $\mathbf{x} = \{x_1, x_2, ...\}$ be an infinite set of variables and let $\Lambda(\mathbf{x})$ be the corresponding ring of symmetric functions. For a partition λ , let $s_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x})$ be the associated Schur symmetric function. Let \leq denote the dominance ordering on the set of partitions \mathcal{P} . For a type $\omega = (d_1, \omega^1) \cdots (d_r, \omega^r) \in \mathbf{T}_n$, define ω^+ as the partition $\sum_{i=1}^r d_i \cdot \omega^i$.

For a type $\omega = (d_1, \omega^1) \cdots (d_r, \omega^r) \in \mathbf{T}_n$, we define $\{c_{\omega}^{\mu}\}_{\mu \in \mathcal{P}_n}$ by

$$s_{\omega}(\mathbf{x}) := s_{\omega^1}(\mathbf{x}^{d_1}) s_{\omega^2}(\mathbf{x}^{d_2}) \cdots s_{\omega^r}(\mathbf{x}^{d_r}) = \sum_{\mu \trianglelefteq \omega^+} c_{\omega}^{\mu} s_{\mu}(\mathbf{x})$$

where $\mathbf{x}^d := \{x_1^d, x_2^d, ...\}$. We call the coefficients c_{ω}^{μ} the *twisted Littlewood-Richardson coefficients*. If $d_1 = d_2 = \cdots = d_r = 1$, these are the usual Littlewood-Richardson coefficients.

For $\lambda = (1^{m_1}, 2^{m_2}, \dots) \in \mathcal{P}$, put

$$z_{\lambda} := \prod_{i \ge 1} i^{m_i} . m_i!$$

It is also the cardinality of the centralizer in $S_{|\lambda|}$ of an element of type λ (i.e. whose decomposition as a product of disjoint cycles is given by λ). We denote by χ^{λ} the irreducible character of $S_{|\lambda|}$ associated to λ as in Macdonald [42, I, §7] and by χ^{λ}_{μ} its value at an element of type μ .

Proposition 6.2.4. We have

$$c^{\mu}_{\omega} = \sum_{\rho} \chi^{\mu}_{\rho} \sum_{\alpha} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{r} z^{-1}_{\alpha_i} \chi^{\omega^i}_{\alpha^i} \right)$$

where the second sum runs over the $\alpha = (\alpha^1, \dots, \alpha^r) \in \mathcal{P}_{|\omega^i|} \times \dots \times \mathcal{P}_{|\omega^r|}$ such that $\bigcup_i d_i \cdot \alpha^i = \rho$.

Proof. We have $s_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x}^d) = \sum_{\rho} z_{\rho}^{-1} \chi_{\rho}^{\lambda} p_{\rho}(\mathbf{x}^d)$ where p_{ρ} is the power symmetric function (see [42]). On the other hand, $p_{\rho^1}(\mathbf{x}^{d_1}) \cdots p_{\rho^r}(\mathbf{x}^{d_r}) = p_{\cup id_i \rho^i}(\mathbf{x})$. Hence

$$s_{\omega}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{\rho} \left(\sum_{\alpha} \prod_{i} z_{\alpha^{i}}^{-1} \chi_{\alpha^{i}}^{\omega^{i}} \right) p_{\rho}(\mathbf{x})$$

where the second sum runs over the $\alpha = (\alpha^1, ..., \alpha^r) \in \mathcal{P}_{|\omega^i|} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{P}_{|\omega^r|}$ such that $\bigcup_i d_i \cdot \alpha^i = \rho$. We now decompose p_ρ in the basis $\{s_\lambda\}_\lambda$ and we get the result.

For $\lambda \in \mathcal{P}$, we denote by V_{λ} an irreducible $\kappa[S_{|\lambda|}]$ -module with corresponding character χ^{λ} .

Proposition 6.2.5. Put $V_{\omega} := \bigotimes_{i=1}^{r} T^{d_i} V_{\omega^i}$ and $S := \prod_i (S_{|\omega^i|})^{d_i}$ and let ρ be the representation $S \to GL(V_{\omega})$. Let $v \in W_{S_n}(S,\rho)$ be the element which acts on each $(S_{|\omega^i|})^{d_i}$ by circular permutation of the coordinates. For any $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_n$ we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(v \mid \operatorname{Hom}_{S_n}\left(\operatorname{Ind}_{S}^{S_n}(V_{\omega}), V_{\mu}\right)\right) = c_{\omega}^{\mu}.$$

Proof. This is a consequence of Proposition 6.2.2 and Proposition 6.2.4.

6.3 Rational Levi subgroups and Weyl groups

By a *Levi subgroup* of *G*, we shall mean a Levi subgroup of a parabolic subgroup of *G*, i.e., a subgroup of *G* which is GL_n -conjugate to some subgroup of the form $\prod_{i=1}^r GL_{n_i}$ with $\sum_i n_i = n$. A maximal torus of *G* is a Levi subgroup which is isomorphic to $(\mathbb{K}^{\times})^n$. Let *L* be an *F*-stable Levi subgroup of *G*. An *F*-stable subtorus of *S* of *L* of rank *r* is said to be *split* if there is an isomorphism $S \simeq (\mathbb{K}^{\times})^r$ which is defined over \mathbb{F}_q , i.e., $S^F \simeq (\mathbb{F}_q^{\times})^r$. The \mathbb{F}_q -rank of *L* is defined as the maximal value of the ranks of the split subtori of *L*. Since the maximal torus of diagonal matrices is split, any *F*-stable Levi subgroup that contains diagonal matrices is of \mathbb{F}_q -rank *n*.

If *T* is an *F*-stable maximal torus of *L* of same \mathbb{F}_q -rank as *L*, in which case we say that *T* is an *L*-split maximal torus of *L*. In this case we denote by W_L , instead of $W_L(T)$ (see Notation 6.2.1), the Weyl group of *L* with respect to *T*.

If *f* is a group automorphism of *K*, we say that two elements *k* and *h* of *K* are *f*-conjugate if there exists $g \in K$ such that $k = ghf(g)^{-1}$.

The identification of the symmetric group S_n with the monomial matrices in GL_n with entries in $\{0, 1\}$ gives an isomorphism $S_n \simeq W_G$. Fix a sequence of integers $\mathbf{m} = (m_1, \ldots, m_r)$ such that $\sum_i m_i = n$ and consider the Levi subgroup $L_o = GL_{\mathbf{m}} := \prod_{i=1}^r GL_{m_i}$. Then $W_{L_o} = S_{\mathbf{m}} := \prod_{i=1}^r S_{m_i}$. The G^F -conjugacy classes of the *F*-stable Levi subgroups of *G* that are *G*-conjugate to L_o are parametrized by the conjugacy classes of $W_G(L_o) = W_{S_n}(S_{\mathbf{m}})$ [12, Proposition 4.3]. For $v \in N_{S_n}(S_{\mathbf{m}})$, we denote by L_v a representative of the G^F -conjugacy class (of *F*-stable Levi subgroups) which corresponds to the conjugacy class of v in $W_{S_n}(S_{\mathbf{m}})$. Then $(L_v, F) \simeq (L_o, vF)$, i.e., the action of the Frobenius *F* on L_v corresponds to the action

of vF on L_o given by $vF(g) := vF(g)v^{-1}$ for any $g \in L_o$. Since F acts trivially on $W_G \simeq S_n$, we have $(W_{L_v}, F) \simeq (S_m, v)$. By §6.2, there exists a decomposition

$$S_{\mathbf{m}} = (S_{n_1})^{d_1} \times \cdots \times (S_{n_r})^{d_r}$$

for some sequence $(d_1, n_1)(d_2, n_2) \cdots (d_r, n_r)$ and a specific choice of an element σ in the coset $vS_{\mathbf{m}}$ which acts on each component $(S_{n_i})^{d_i}$ by circular permutation of the coordinates. Taking the G^F -conjugate L_{σ} of L_{ν} if necessary we may assume that $\nu = \sigma$. We also have

$$L_o = \prod_{i=1}^r (\mathrm{GL}_{n_i})^{d_i}, \text{ and } (L_v)^F \simeq (L_o)^{vF} \simeq \prod_{i=1}^r \mathrm{GL}_{n_i}(\mathbb{F}_{q^{d_i}})$$

Now let *L* be any *F*-stable Levi subgroup of *G*. Consider the semi-direct product $W_L \rtimes \langle F \rangle$ where $\langle F \rangle$ is the cyclic group generated by the Frobenius automorphism on W_L . If ψ is a character of $W_L \rtimes \langle F \rangle$, then for all $a \in W_L$, we have $\psi(F(a)) = \psi(a)$ since $(F(a), 1) \in W_L \rtimes \langle F \rangle$ is the conguate of (a, 1) by (1, F). Hence the restriction of ψ to W_L is an *F*-stable character of W_L . Conversely, given an *F*-stable character χ of W_L , we now define an extension $\tilde{\chi}$ of χ to $W_L \rtimes \langle F \rangle$ as follows. We have $L = L_v$ for some **m** and $v \in N_{S_n}(S_m)$ by the above discussion so that we may identify $W_L \rtimes \langle F \rangle$ with $S_m \rtimes \langle v \rangle$. For an *v*-stable character χ of S_m we define the extension $\tilde{\chi}$ of $S_m \rtimes \langle v \rangle$ as in §6.2.

The L^F -conjugacy classes of the *F*-stable maximal tori of *L* are parametrized by the *F*-conjugacy classes of W_L [12, Proposition 4.3]. If $w \in W_L$, we denote by T_w an *F*-stable maximal torus of *L* which is in the L^F -conjugacy class associated to the *F*-conjugacy class of *w*. We put $t_w := \text{Lie}(T_w)$.

6.4 Springer correspondence for relative Weyl groups

Let *P* be a parabolic subgroup of *G* and *L* a Levi factor of *P*. Let I be the Lie algebra of *L* and let z_I denotes its center. Recall that the classical Springer correspondence gives a bijection

$$\mathfrak{C} = \mathfrak{C}_L : \operatorname{Irr} W_L \to \{ \operatorname{nilpotent orbits of } l \}$$

which maps the trivial character to the regular nilpotent orbit. Moreover if *L* is *F*-stable then \mathfrak{C} restricts to a bijection between the *F*-stable irreducible characters of W_L and the *F*-stable nilpotent orbits of \mathfrak{l} . Recall that if L = G and $\lambda \in \mathcal{P}_n$, then the size of the Jordan blocks of the nilpotent orbit $\mathfrak{C}(\chi^{\lambda})$ are given by the partition λ .

Let $\epsilon \in \operatorname{Irr} W_L$ be the sign character. For $\chi \in \operatorname{Irr} W_L$ put $\chi' := \chi \otimes \epsilon$. Then let $\mathfrak{C}_{\epsilon} : \operatorname{Irr} W_L \xrightarrow{\sim} {}$ {nilpotent orbits of l} be the map which sends χ to $\mathfrak{C}(\chi')$. The bijection \mathfrak{C}_{ϵ} was actually the first correspondence to be discovered [52].

Let *C* be a nilpotent orbit of I and put $\Sigma = \sigma + C$ with $\sigma \in z_1$. Consider the relative Weyl group

$$W_G(L, \Sigma) := \{n \in N_G(L) \mid n\Sigma n^{-1} = \Sigma\}/L.$$

Recall that Σ is of the form $\sigma + C$ with C a nilpotent orbit of I and $\sigma \in z_{I}$. Put $M := C_{G}(\sigma)$, then $W_{G}(L, \Sigma) = W_{M}(L, C)$. Let O be the orbit of gI_{n} whose Zariski closure is the image of the projection $p : \mathbb{X}_{L,P,\Sigma} \to g$ on the first coordinate.

Let \mathfrak{g}_{σ} be the set of elements $x \in \mathfrak{g}$ whose semisimple part is *G*-conjugate to σ . Note that the image of *p* is contained in \mathfrak{g}_{σ} . The set \mathfrak{g}_{σ} has a finite number of *G*-orbits which are indexed by the irreducible characters of W_M by \mathfrak{C}_M . If χ is an irreducible character of W_M we denote by O_{χ} the corresponding adjoint orbit in \mathfrak{g}_{σ} . For $\chi \in \operatorname{Irr} W_M$, put

$$A_{\chi} = \operatorname{Hom}_{W_M} \left(\operatorname{Ind}_{W_I}^{W_M}(V_C), V_{\chi} \right)$$

where V_C is the irreducible W_L -module corresponding to the nilpotent orbit C under \mathfrak{C} .

We have the following result due to Springer in the case where O is nilpotent regular (see Borho and MacPherson [3, 3.1] for the regular nilpotent case and Lusztig [39, 2.5] for the general case).

Proposition 6.4.1. We have

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbb{I}\subset\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathfrak{g}}\left(\underline{IC}_{\overline{\Sigma}}^{\bullet}\right) = p_{*}\left(\underline{IC}_{\mathbb{X}_{L,P\Sigma}}^{\bullet}\right) = \bigoplus_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr} W_{M}} A_{\chi} \otimes \underline{IC}_{\overline{\mathcal{O}}_{\chi}}^{\bullet}$$

and $A_{\chi} = 0$ if O_{χ} is not included in \overline{O} . The multiplicity A_{χ_o} corresponding to $O = O_{\chi_o}$ is the trivial character of $W_M(L, C)$.

If O is regular nilpotent, L = T and if $\Sigma = \{0\}$, then this is the classical Springer correspondence.

The group $W_M(L, C)$ is naturally isomorphic to $W_{W_M}(W_L, \rho)$. As shown in §6.2, the action of W_L on V_C can be extended to an action of $N_{W_M}(W_L, \rho)$ on V_C . By §6.1 it gives a structure of $W_M(L, C)$ -module on each A_{χ} and so by Proposition 6.4.1 we have an action of $W_M(L, C)$ on $p_*(\underline{IC}_{X_L \rho \Sigma}^{\bullet})$.

Remark 6.4.2. It is also possible to define an action of $W_M(L, C)$ on $p_*(\underline{IC}_{\mathbb{X}_{L,P\Sigma}}^{\bullet})$ using the approach in Bohro and MacPherson [3] by considering partial simultaneous resolutions.

To alleviate the notation put $K := p_* \left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{X}_{L,P\Sigma}}\right)$ and $K_{\chi} := A_{\chi} \otimes \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\overline{\mathcal{O}}_{\chi}}$. Assume now that (M, Q, L, P, Σ) is *F*-stable and let $F : \mathbb{X}_{L,P,\Sigma} \to \mathbb{X}_{L,P,\Sigma}$ be the Frobenius given by F(X, gP) = (F(x), F(g)P). Then the morphism *f* commutes with the Frobenius endomorphisms. Let $\varphi : F^*(\kappa) \simeq \kappa$ be the isomorphism (in the category of sheaves on $\mathbb{X}^o_{L,P,\Sigma}$) which induces the identity on stalks at \mathbb{F}_q -points. It induces a canonical isomorphism $\tilde{\varphi} : F^*(K) \simeq K$. Note that the orbits \mathcal{O}_{χ} are *F*-stable and *F* acts trivially on W_M . Hence $F^*(K_{\chi}) \simeq K_{\chi}$ and so $\tilde{\varphi}$ induces an isomorphism $\tilde{\varphi}_{\chi} : F^*(K_{\chi}) \simeq K_{\chi}$ for each χ . Now we define an isomorphism $\phi_{\chi} : F^*(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\overline{\mathcal{O}}_{\chi}}) \simeq \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\overline{\mathcal{O}}_{\chi}}$ with the requirement that its tensor product with the identity on A_{χ} gives $\tilde{\varphi}_{\chi}$.

We then have

$$\mathbf{X}_{\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}_{\nu}},\phi_{\chi}} = q^{\frac{1}{2}(\dim O - \dim O_{\chi})} \mathbf{X}_{\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}_{\nu}}}$$

Since the A_{χ} are $W_M(L, C)$ -modules, each $v \in W_M(L, C)$ induces an isomorphism $K_{\chi} \simeq K_{\chi}$ and so an isomorphism $\theta_v : K \simeq K$ such that

$$\mathbf{X}_{K,\theta_{v}\circ\tilde{\varphi}} = \sum_{\chi} \operatorname{Tr}\left(v \,|\, A_{\chi}\right) \, q^{\frac{1}{2}(\dim O - \dim O_{\chi})} \, \mathbf{X}_{\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}_{\chi}}}.$$

6.5 Deligne-Lusztig induction and Fourier transforms

Here we recall the definition of Deligne-Lusztig induction both in the group setting (which is now standard [11]) and in the Lie algebra setting [32]. We then recall the commutation formula between Fourier transforms and Deligne-Lusztig induction (in the Lie algebra case) which is the main result of [33]. This commutation formula is an essential ingredient in the proof of the main theorem of the paper. Although the theory is available for any connected reductive algebraic groups we keep our assumption $G = GL_n(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q)$.

For any subset *Y* of *X*, we denote by 1_Y the function $X \to \kappa$ that takes the value 1 on *Y* and the value 0 elsewhere.

6.5.1 Generalized induction

Let *H* and *K* be two finite groups and let *M* be a finite dimensional \mathbb{K} -vector space. We say that *M* is an *H*-module-*K* if it is a left $\kappa[H]$ -module and a right $\kappa[K]$ -module such that $(a \cdot x) \cdot b = a \cdot (x \cdot b)$ for any $a \in \kappa[H], b \in \kappa[K]$ and $x \in M$. Then *M* defines a functor from the category of finite dimensional left $\kappa[K]$ -modules to the category of finite dimensional left $\kappa[H]$ -modules by $V \mapsto M \otimes_{\kappa[K]} V$. This functor induces an obvious κ -linear map $R_{\kappa}^{H} : C(K) \to C(H)$ on κ -vector spaces of class functions.

The approach of generalized induction with bi-modules is due to Broué. We have the following formula [12, 4.5].

Proposition 6.5.1. Let $f \in C(K)$ and $g \in H$, then

$$R_K^H(f)(g) = |K|^{-1} \sum_{k \in K} \operatorname{Trace}\left(\left(g, k^{-1}\right) \middle| \ M\right) f(k)$$

6.5.2 The group setting: Deligne-Lusztig induction

Let *L* be an *F*-stable Levi subgroup of a parabolic subgroup *P* of *G* and let *V* be the unipotent radical of *P*. Consider the Lang map $\mathcal{L}_G : G \to G$, $x \mapsto x^{-1}F(x)$. In [36], Lusztig considers the variety $\mathcal{L}_G^{-1}(V)$ which is endowed with an action of G^F by left multiplication and with an action of L^F by right multiplication. These actions commutes and so make $H_c^i(\mathcal{L}_G^{-1}(V), \kappa)$ into a G^F -module- L^F . Consider the virtual G^F -module- L^F

$$H_c^*\left(\mathcal{L}_G^{-1}(V)\right) = \sum_i (-1)^i H_c^i\left(\mathcal{L}_G^{-1}(V),\kappa\right).$$

The κ -linear map $R_L^G : C(L^F) \to C(G^F)$ associated with this virtual bi-module is called *Deligne-Lusztig induction*.

Let us put

$$S_L^G(g,h) := \operatorname{Trace}\left(\left(g,h^{-1}\right) \mid H_c^*\left(\mathcal{L}_G^{-1}(V)\right)\right)$$

By Proposition 6.5.1 we have for any $f \in C(L^F)$

$$R_L^G(f)(g) = |L^F|^{-1} \sum_{h \in L^F} S_L^G(g, h) f(h).$$
(6.5.1)

If *M* is an *F*-stable Levi subgroup of *G* containing *L*, we define R_L^M exactly as above replacing the letter *G* by the letter *M*.

Let L_{uni} be the subvariety of unipotent element of L. We now list some properties of this induction which are standard.

Proposition 6.5.2. (i) R_L^G does not depend on the choice of the parabolic subgroup P having L as a Levi subgroup.

(ii) If $L \subset M$ is an inclusion of Levi subgroups, then $R_M^G \circ R_L^M = R_L^G$. (iii) $\operatorname{Res}_{G_{uni}}^G \circ R_L^G = R_L^G \circ \operatorname{Res}_{L_{uni}}^L$ where $\operatorname{Res}_{L_{uni}}^L : C(L^F) \to C(L^F)$ maps a function f to the unipotently supported function that takes the same values as f on L_{uni}^F .

For $w \in W_L$ we put

$$Q_{T_{w}}^{L} := R_{T_{w}}^{L}(1_{1})$$

where 1_1 denotes the function with value 1 at 1 and with value 0 elsewhere. We call the function $Q_{T_w}^L$ the *Green functions* of L^F . They are defined by Deligne and Lusztig in [11].

When L = G in which case $W_L \simeq S_n$, the Green functions are related to the well-known Green polynomials as follows. The decomposition of w as product of disjoint cycles gives a partition say λ . Then the value of $Q_{T_w}^G$ at the unipotent conjugacy class associated with the partition μ is the Green polynomial Q_{λ}^{μ} in the notation of [42, III, 7].

Because of Proposition 6.5.2 (iii), we may also write the function $Q_{T_w}^L$ as $\text{Res}_{L_{\text{uni}}}^L \circ R_{T_w}^L(1_{T_w})$.

We have the following important formula [11] due to Deligne and Lusztig.

Theorem 6.5.3. Let $f \in C(T_w^F)$ and let $l \in L^F$. Then

$$R_{T_w}^L(f)(l) = |C_L(l_s)^F|^{-1} \sum_{\{h \in L^F \mid l_s \in hT_wh^{-1}\}} Q_{hT_wh^{-1}}^{C_L(l_s)}(l_u) f(h^{-1}l_sh).$$
(6.5.2)

where $l = l_s l_u$ is the Jordan decomposition of l with l_s the semisimple part and l_u the unipotent part.

6.5.3 The Lie algebra setting: Fourier transforms

Fourier transforms of functions on reductive Lie algebras over finite fields were first investigated by Springer in the study of the geometry of nilpotent orbits [52]. Interesting applications in the representation theory of connected reductive groups over finite fields were then found by many authors including Kawanaka (e.g. [24]), Lusztig (e.g. [40]), Lehrer (e.g. [31]), Waldspurger [53] and the author himself (e.g. [33]).

Let us recall the definition and basic properties of Fourier transforms. The most important property of Fourier transforms will be stated in the next section §6.5.4.

We fix once for all a non-trivial additive character $\Psi : \mathbb{F}_q \to \kappa^{\times}$ and we denote by $\mu : \mathfrak{g} \times \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{K}$ the trace map $(a, b) \mapsto \operatorname{Trace}(ab)$. It is a non-degenerate *G*-invariant symmetric bilinear form defined over \mathbb{F}_q . Let $\operatorname{Fun}(\mathfrak{g}^F)$ be the κ -vector space of all functions $\mathfrak{g}^F \to \kappa$. We define the Fourier transform $\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}} : \operatorname{Fun}(\mathfrak{g}^F) \to \operatorname{Fun}(\mathfrak{g}^F)$ with respect to (Ψ, μ) by

$$\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)(x) = \sum_{y \in \mathfrak{g}^F} \Psi(\mu(x, y)) f(y).$$

A detailed review on properties of Fourier transforms can be found in [31]. Here we just recall what we will need.

Define the convolution product * on Fun (g^F) as

$$(f * g)(x) = \sum_{y \in \mathfrak{g}^F} f(y)g(x - y)$$

for all $x \in g^F$. Then for all $f, g \in Fun(g^F)$, we have [18, Proposition 3.2.1]

$$\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f \ast g) = \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f) \cdot \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(g).$$

For any $f \in Fun(g^F)$ it is straightforward to check that

$$|\mathfrak{g}^F| \cdot f(0) = \sum_{x \in \mathfrak{g}^F} \mathcal{F}^\mathfrak{g}(f)(x).$$
(6.5.3)

6.5.4 The Lie algebra setting: Deligne-Lusztig induction

We now review Deligne-Lusztig induction in the Lie algebra setting. Details and proofs can be found in [32] [33].

Consider L, P, V as in §6.5.2 and let I, p, n be their respective Lie algebras. We denote by $C(g^F)$ the κ -vector space of functions $g^F \to \kappa$ which are constant on adjoint orbits.

It is not clear wether there is a Lie algebra analogue of the variety $\mathcal{L}_{G}^{-1}(V)$. The naive guess $\mathcal{L}_{g}^{-1}(\mathfrak{n})$ with $\mathcal{L}_{g}: \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}, x \mapsto F(x) - x$ does not give anything interesting.

However we have the following formula [12, Lemma 12.3] obtained independently by Digne-Michel and Lusztig.

$$S_{L}^{G}(g,l) = |L^{F}|^{-1} \sum_{\{h \in G^{F} \mid hl_{s}h^{-1} = l_{s}\}} |C_{L}(l_{s})^{F}| |C_{G}(l_{s})^{F}|^{-1} S_{C_{L}(l_{s})}^{C_{G}(l_{s})} \left(h^{-1}g_{u}h, l_{u}\right).$$

This formula reduces the computation of $S_L^G(g, l)$ to its computation at unipotent elements.

We define our $S_1^{\mathfrak{g}}(x, y)$ using the Lie algebra analogue of this formula as follows. Let \mathfrak{g}_{nil} be the variety of nilpotent elements of \mathfrak{g} and let $\omega : \mathfrak{g}_{nil} \to G_{uni}$ be the isomorphism given by $x \mapsto x+1$. For $(x, y) \in \mathfrak{g}^F \times \mathfrak{l}^F$, we put

$$S_{1}^{g}(x, y) := |L^{F}|^{-1} \sum_{\{h \in G^{F} \mid hy_{s}h^{-1} = x_{s}\}} |C_{L}(y_{s})^{F}||C_{G}(y_{s})^{F}|^{-1} S_{C_{L}(y_{s})}^{C_{G}(y_{s})} \left(h^{-1}\omega(x_{n})h, \omega(y_{n})\right)$$

We define our Lie algebra version of Deligne-Lusztig induction $R_{l}^{g}: C(l^{F}) \rightarrow C(g^{F})$ as

$$R_{1}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)(x) = |L^{F}|^{-1} \sum_{y \in \mathbb{I}^{F}} S_{1}^{\mathfrak{g}}(x, y) f(y).$$

This definition of $R_1^{\mathfrak{g}}$ works also if we replace the isomorphism ω by any *G*-equivariant isomorphism $\mathfrak{g}_{nil} \simeq G_{uni}$ defined over \mathbb{F}_q (e.g. the exponential map when the characteristic is large enough). We actually prove in [33, Remark 5.5.17] that the definition of $R_1^{\mathfrak{g}}$ does not depend on the choice of such an isomorphism.

It is also easy to prove that our induction R_{I}^{g} satisfies the analogous properties in Proposition 6.5.2, see [32] for details.

The Lie algebra analogue of Theorem 6.5.3 is by definition of $R_{t_w}^I$: If $f \in C(\mathfrak{t}_w^F)$ and $x \in \mathfrak{t}^F$, then

$$R_{t_w}^{l}(f)(x) = |C_L(x_s)^F|^{-1} \sum_{\{h \in L^F \mid x_s \in ht_w h^{-1}\}} Q_{hT_w h^{-1}}^{C_L(x_s)}(\omega(x_n)) f(h^{-1}x_s h).$$
(6.5.4)

We will also use the following properties [33, Proposition 3.2.24, Proposition 7.1.8].

Proposition 6.5.4. Let C be an F-stable nilpotent orbit of 1 and let $\sigma \in (z_1)^F$ be such that $C_G(\sigma) = L$. Denote by O^L the adjoint orbit $\sigma + C$ of 1 and by O the unique orbit of 9 which contains O^L . Then we have: $(i) R_1^{\mathfrak{g}}(1_{O^L}) = 1_O$,

$$(ii) R_{I}^{\mathfrak{g}}\left(\mathbf{X}_{IC_{\overline{O}^{L}}^{\bullet}}\right) = \mathbf{X}_{IC_{\overline{O}}^{\bullet}}$$

Our definition of R_1^{g} is not natural and is thus a little bit frustrating especially for other reductive groups where we do not always have an isomorphism between the nilpotent elements and the unipotent ones in small characteristics. However the following theorem [33, Corollary 6.2.17] shows that our definition of R_1^{g} behaves well with Fourier transforms (which are not well-defined in the group setting).

Theorem 6.5.5. Put $\epsilon_L = (-1)^{\mathbb{F}_q - \operatorname{rank}(L)}$. We have

$$\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}} \circ R^{\mathfrak{g}}_{\mathfrak{l}} = \epsilon_{G} \epsilon_{L} q^{\dim V} R^{\mathfrak{g}}_{\mathfrak{l}} \circ \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{l}}.$$

This formula suggests that a more conceptual definition of R_1^{g} should exist. In [34] we investigate this problem in greater details and bring a partial answer in terms of the geometry of the semi-direct product $G \ltimes g$.

It is proved by Lehrer [31] that Fourier transforms commute with Harish-Chandra induction. Moreover when the parabolic *P* is *F*-stable the induction R_1^{g} coincides with Harish-Chandra induction (see [32]). Hence Lehrer's result is a particular case of the theorem.

We also mention that when $\sigma \in \mathfrak{t}_w^F$ is regular (i.e. $C_G(\sigma) = T_w$) then it follows from Kazhdan and Springer's results [25][52] that $\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}} \circ R_{\mathfrak{t}_w}^{\mathfrak{g}}(1_{\sigma}) = \epsilon_G \epsilon_{T_w} q^{\dim U} R_{\mathfrak{t}_w}^{\mathfrak{g}} \circ \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{t}_w}(1_{\sigma})$ where U is the unipotent radical of a Borel subgroup of G.

6.6 Characters of finite general linear groups

The character table of G^F was first computed by Green [17]. In [41], Lusztig and Srinivasan describe it in terms of Deligne-Lusztig theory [41]. This is done as follows.

Let *L* be an *F*-stable Levi subgroup of *G* and let φ be an *F*-stable irreducible character of W_L . The function $\chi_{\varphi}^L : L^F \to \kappa$ defined by

$$\mathcal{X}_{\varphi}^{L} = |W_{L}|^{-1} \sum_{w \in W_{L}} \tilde{\varphi}(wF) R_{T_{w}}^{L}(1_{T_{w}})$$
(6.6.1)

is an irreducible character of L^F (here $\tilde{\varphi}$ is the extension of φ defined in §6.3). The characters X_{φ}^L are called the *unipotent characters* of L^F .

For $g \in G^F$ and $\theta \in \operatorname{Irr}(L^F)$, let ${}^{g}\theta \in \operatorname{Irr}(gL^Fg^{-1})$ be defined by ${}^{g}\theta(glg^{-1}) = \theta(l)$. We say that a linear character $\theta : L^F \to \kappa^{\times}$ is *regular* if for $n \in N_{G^F}(L)$, we have ${}^{n}\theta = \theta$ only if $n \in L^F$. We denote by $\operatorname{Irr}_{\operatorname{reg}}(L^F)$ the set of regular linear characters of L^F . For $\theta^L \in \operatorname{Irr}_{\operatorname{reg}}(L^F)$, the virtual character

$$\mathcal{X} := \epsilon_G \epsilon_L R_L^G(\theta^L \cdot \mathcal{X}_{\varphi}^L) = \epsilon_G \epsilon_L |W_L|^{-1} \sum_{w \in W_L} \tilde{\varphi}(wF) R_{T_w}^G(\theta^{T_w})$$
(6.6.2)

where $\theta^{T_w} := \theta^L|_{T_w}$, is an irreducible true character of G^F and any irreducible character of G^F is obtained in this way [41]. An irreducible character of G^F is thus completely determined by the G^F -conjugacy class of a datum (L, θ^L, φ) with L an F-stable Levi subgroup of $G, \theta^L \in \operatorname{Irr}_{\operatorname{reg}}(L^F)$ and $\varphi \in \operatorname{Irr}(W_L)^F$. Characters associated to triples of the form $(L, \theta^L, 1)$ are called *semisimple*.

The characters $\epsilon_G \epsilon_{T_w} R^G_{T_w}(\theta)$ are called *Deligne-Lusztig characters*.

6.7 Fourier transforms of orbital simple perverse sheaves

We have the Deligne-Fourier transform $\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}: \mathcal{D}^b_c(\mathfrak{g}) \to \mathcal{D}^b_c(\mathfrak{g})$ which is defined as follows.

We denote by \mathbb{A}^1 the affine line over \mathbb{K} . Let $h : \mathbb{A}^1 \to \mathbb{A}^1$ be the Artin-Shreier covering defined by $h(t) = t^q - t$. Then, since h is a Galois covering of \mathbb{A}^1 with Galois group \mathbb{F}_q , the sheaf $h_*(\kappa)$ is a local system on \mathbb{A}^1 on which \mathbb{F}_q acts. We denote by \mathcal{L}_{Ψ} the subsheaf of $h_*(\kappa)$ on which \mathbb{F}_q acts as Ψ^{-1} . There exists an isomorphism $\varphi_{\Psi} : F^*(\mathcal{L}_{\Psi}) \to \mathcal{L}_{\Psi}$ such that for any integer $i \ge 1$, we have $\mathbf{X}_{\mathcal{L}_{\Psi}, \varphi_{\Psi}^{(i)}} = \Psi \circ \operatorname{Trace}_{\mathbb{F}_q i}/\mathbb{F}_q : \mathbb{F}_{q^i} \to \kappa$ (see Katz [23, 3.5.4]). Then for a complex $K \in \mathcal{D}_c^b(\mathfrak{g})$ we define

$$\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(K) := (p_1)_! ((p_2)^*(K) \otimes \mu^*(\mathcal{L}_{\Psi})) [\dim \mathfrak{g}]$$

where $p_1, p_2 : \mathfrak{g} \times \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}$ are the two projections. If $\varphi : F^*(K) \to K$ is an isomorphism, then it induces a natural isomorphism $\mathcal{F}(\varphi) : F^*(\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(K)) \to \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(K)$. Moreover,

$$\mathbf{X}_{\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(K),\mathcal{F}(\varphi)} = (-1)^{\dim\mathfrak{g}}\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\mathbf{X}_{K,\varphi}).$$

We will need to compute the characteristic functions of the perverse sheaves $\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\underline{IC}_{\overline{O}}^{\bullet})$, where O an F-stable adjoint orbit of \mathfrak{g} . It is known by results of Lusztig that these perverse sheaves are closely related to the character sheaves on G [40] and that the characteristic functions of character sheaves on G give the irreducible characters of G^F [35]. We thus expect to have a tight connection between the characteristic functions of the sheaves $\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\underline{IC}_{\overline{O}}^{\bullet})$ on \mathfrak{g} and the irreducible characters of G^F .

More precisely, let $x \in O^F$ and put $L = C_G(x_s)$. Let φ be the *F*-stable irreducible character of W_L that corresponds to the nilpotent orbit $O_{x_n}^L$ of I = Lie(L) via the Springer correspondence \mathfrak{C}_{ϵ} .

Theorem 6.7.1. We have

$$\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}}}) = \epsilon_{G}\epsilon_{L}q^{\frac{1}{2}\dim O}|W_{L}|^{-1}\sum_{w\in W_{L}}\tilde{\varphi}(wF)\mathcal{R}^{\mathfrak{g}}_{\mathfrak{t}_{w}}(\eta^{\mathfrak{t}_{w}})$$
(6.7.1)

where η^{t_w} : $t_w^F \to \kappa$ is the character $z \mapsto \Psi(\mu(x_s, z))$.

Remark 6.7.2. Note that Formula (6.6.2) is similar to Formula (6.7.1). It shows that $\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}}})$ arises from the G^{F} -conjugacy class of a triple $(\mathfrak{l}, \eta^{\mathfrak{l}}, \varphi)$ with $\eta^{\mathfrak{l}} : \mathfrak{l}^{F} \to \kappa^{\times}, z \mapsto \Psi(\mu(x_{s}, z))$ exactly as in the group setting.

Proof of Theorem 6.7.1. Let O^L be the *L*-orbit of x in I := Lie(L). Then \overline{O}^L decomposes as $x_s + \overline{O}_{x_n}^L$ where $O_{x_n}^L$ denotes the *L*-orbit of x_n in I. Then

$$\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}L}} = \mathbf{1}_{x_s} * \mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}L_s}}$$

By Proposition 6.5.4, we have

$$\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}}} = \mathcal{R}^{9}_{I}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}L}}) \tag{6.7.2}$$

Hence from the commutation formula in Theorem 6.5.5 we have

$$\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}}}) = \epsilon_{G}\epsilon_{L}q^{\frac{1}{2}(\dim G - \dim L)} \mathcal{R}^{\mathfrak{g}}_{\mathfrak{l}} \circ \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{l}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}L}})$$
$$= \epsilon_{G}\epsilon_{L}q^{\frac{1}{2}(\dim G - \dim L)} \mathcal{R}^{\mathfrak{g}}_{\mathfrak{l}}\left(\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{l}}(1_{x_{s}}) \cdot \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{l}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}_{x_{n}}}})\right)$$

We also have:

$$\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{\mathcal{O}}^{L}_{X_{n}}}} = q^{-\delta} |W_{L}|^{-1} \sum_{w \in W_{L}} \tilde{\varphi}'(wF) \mathcal{R}^{\mathrm{I}}_{\mathrm{t}_{w}}(1_{0})$$
(6.7.3)

where $\delta = \frac{1}{2} (\dim C_L(x_n) - \dim T).$

Indeed, by Formula (6.5.4) the function $\mathcal{R}_{t_w}^l(1_0)$ corresponds to the Green function $\mathcal{Q}_{T_w}^L$ via the isomorphism ω : $\mathfrak{l}_{\mathrm{nil}} \simeq L_{\mathrm{uni}}$. Moreover if we put $C^L = \omega(\mathcal{O}_{x_n}^L)$, then by Lusztig [35], we have $\mathrm{Res}_{L_{\mathrm{uni}}}^L(\mathcal{X}_{\varphi'}^L) = q^{\delta} \mathbf{X}_{IC_{\overline{C}_{L}}^{\bullet}}$ where $\mathcal{X}_{\varphi'}^L$ is the unipotent character of L^F associated to φ' . Hence Formula (6.7.3) is obtained from Formula (6.6.1) via the isomorphism ω .

We now deduce from Formula (6.7.3) and Theorem 6.5.5 that

$$\mathcal{F}^{1}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}^{L}_{x_{n}}}}) = q^{-\delta}|W_{L}|^{-1}\sum_{w \in W_{L}} \tilde{\varphi}'(wF)\epsilon_{L}\epsilon_{T_{w}}q^{\frac{1}{2}(\dim L - \dim T_{w})}\mathcal{R}^{1}_{\mathfrak{t}_{w}}(1_{\mathfrak{t}_{w}})$$

Since x_s is central in I, we deduce that

$$\mathcal{F}^{1}(1_{x_{s}}) \cdot \mathcal{F}^{1}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{T}_{x_{n}}}}) = q^{-\delta}|W_{L}|^{-1} \sum_{w \in W_{L}} \tilde{\varphi}'(wF)\epsilon_{L}\epsilon_{T_{w}}q^{\frac{1}{2}(\dim L - \dim T_{w})}\mathcal{R}^{1}_{\mathfrak{t}_{w}}(\theta_{x_{s}}^{w}).$$

From the transitivity property of Deligne-Lusztig induction and the fact that $C_G(x) = C_L(x_n)$ we deduce that:

$$\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{O}}}) = \epsilon_{G}\epsilon_{L}q^{\frac{1}{2}\dim \mathcal{O}}|W_{L}|^{-1}\sum_{w\in W_{L}}\tilde{\varphi}'(wF)\epsilon_{L}\epsilon_{T_{w}}\mathcal{R}^{\mathfrak{g}}_{\mathfrak{t}_{w}}(\theta^{w}_{x_{s}}).$$

The map $W_L \to \{1, -1\}, w \mapsto \epsilon_L \epsilon_{T_w}$ is the sign character ϵ of W_L .

Lemma 6.7.3. The functions $\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}}})$ are G^{F} -invariant (i.e. constant on adjoint orbits) characters of the finite abelian group $(\mathfrak{g}^{F}, +)$.

Proof. The functions $\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}}})$ are clearly G^{F} -invariant. The function $\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(1_{O})$ is a sum of linear characters of \mathfrak{g}^{F} and therefore is character of \mathfrak{g}^{F} . We thus need to see that if we write $\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}}} = \sum_{C} n_{C} 1_{C}$ as a sum over the adjoint orbits of \mathfrak{g}^{F} , then $n_{C} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. Let us use the notation introduced in the proof of Theorem 6.7.1. Write

$$\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}^{L}}} = \mathbf{1}_{x_{s}} * \mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{\partial}^{L}_{x_{n}}}} = \mathbf{1}_{x_{s}} * \left(\sum_{C'} n_{C'} \mathbf{1}_{C'}\right) = \sum_{C'} n_{C'} \mathbf{1}_{x_{s}+C'}$$

where the sum runs over the nilpotent L^F -orbits of l^F (note that $x_s + C'$ is an L^F -orbit of l^F since x_s is central). By Proposition 6.5.4(i), for a nilpotent adjoint orbit of l^F , the function $\mathcal{R}^{g}_{l}(1_{x_s+C'})$ is the characteristic function of the G^F -orbit of an element in $x_s + C'$. By Formula (6.7.2) we are reduced to see that $n_{C'} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. We have $L^F \simeq \prod_i \operatorname{GL}_{n_i}(\mathbb{F}_{q^{d_i}})$ for some $n_i, d_i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, and so $\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{\mathcal{O}}_{x_n}}}$ is a product of functions of the form $\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{\mathcal{O}}_i}}$ on $\mathfrak{gl}_{n_i}(\mathbb{F}_{q^{d_i}})$ where \mathcal{O}_i is a nilpotent orbit of $\mathfrak{gl}_{n_i}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q)$. By Lusztig [35], the values of the functions $\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{\mathcal{O}}_n}}$ are non-negative integers.

6.8 Generic characters and generic orbits

Let (L, θ^L, φ) be a triple as in §6.6 with *L* an *F*-stable Levi subgroup, $\theta^L \in \operatorname{Irr}_{\operatorname{reg}}(L^F)$ and $\varphi \in \operatorname{Irr}(W_L)^F$ and let *X* be the associated irreducible character of G^F . Then we say that the G^F -conjugacy class of the pair (L, φ) is the *type* of *X*. Similarly we define the *type* of an adjoint orbit O^F of \mathfrak{g}^F as follows. Let $x \in O^F$ and let $M = C_G(x_s)$ and let C^M be the *M*-orbit of $x_n \in \mathfrak{m}$. Then the G^F -conjugacy class of the pair (M, C^M) is called the type of O^F .

From the pair (L, φ) we define $\omega = (d_1, \omega^1)(d_2, \omega^2) \cdots (d_r, \omega^r) \in \mathbf{T}_n$ as follows. There exist positive integers d_i, n_i such that $L \simeq \prod_{i=1}^r \operatorname{GL}_{n_i}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q)^{d_i}$ and $L^F \simeq \prod_{i=1}^r \operatorname{GL}_{n_i}(\mathbb{F}_{q^{d_i}})$. The *F*-stable irreducible characters of W_L correspond then to $\operatorname{Irr}(S_{n_1}) \times \cdots \times \operatorname{Irr}(S_{n_r})$ and the later set is in bijection with $\mathcal{P}_{n_1} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{P}_{n_r}$ via Springer correspondence \mathfrak{C}_{ϵ} that sends the trivial character of S_m to the partition (1^m) . If q > n, the set of types of irreducible characters of G^F is thus parametrized by \mathbf{T}_n . Under this parameterisation, semisimple irreducible characters correspond to types of the form $(d_1, (1^{n_1})) \cdots (d_r, (1^{n_r}))$ and unipotent characters to types of the form $(1, \lambda)$.

From the pair (M, C^M) we define $\tau = (d_1, \tau^1)(d_2, \tau^2) \cdots (d_r, \tau^r) \in \mathbf{T}_n$ as follows. There exist positive integers d_i, n_i such that $M \simeq \prod_{i=1}^r \operatorname{GL}_{n_i}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q)^{d_i}$ and $M^F \simeq \prod_{i=1}^r \operatorname{GL}_{n_i}(\mathbb{F}_{q^{d_i}})$. The Jordan form of C^M defines partitions τ^1, \ldots, τ^r of n_1, \ldots, n_r respectively. If $q \ge n$, the set of types of adjoint orbits of \mathfrak{g}^F is thus parametrized by \mathbf{T}_n .

Remark 6.8.1. Note that if O^F is an orbit of \mathfrak{g}^F of type $\omega = (d_1, \omega^1) \cdots (d_r, \omega^r)$, then in the sense of §4.3 the *G*-orbit *O* is of type

$$\tilde{\omega} := \underbrace{\omega^1 \cdots \omega^1}_{d_1} \underbrace{\omega^2 \cdots \omega^2}_{d_2} \cdots \underbrace{\omega^r \cdots \omega^r}_{d_r}.$$

In particular, the two notions coincide if the eigenvalues of O are in \mathbb{F}_q .

Definition 6.8.2. Let O_1^F, \ldots, O_k^F be k adjoint orbits of \mathfrak{g}^F . We say that the tuple (O_1^F, \ldots, O_k^F) is generic if (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is generic in the sense of Definition 5.1.1.

Assume that *L* is an *F*-stable Levi subgroup of *G*. We say that a linear additive character of z_1^F is generic if its restriction to z_g^F is trivial and its restriction to z_m^F is non-trivial for any proper *F*-stable Levi subgroup *M* of *G* which contains *L*.

Put

$$(z_{I})_{reg} := \{ x \in z_{I} \mid C_{G}(x) = L \}.$$

Let $\{(d_i, n_i)\}_{i=1,...,r}$ be pairs of positive integers such that $L \simeq \prod_{i=1}^r (\operatorname{GL}_{n_i}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q))^{d_i}$ and $L^F \simeq \prod_{i=1}^r \operatorname{GL}_{n_i}(\mathbb{F}_{q^{d_i}})$. Define

$$K_L^o = \begin{cases} (-1)^{r-1} d^{r-1} \mu(d)(r-1)! & \text{if } d_i = d \text{ for all } i. \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

where μ is the ordinary Möbius function.

The proof of the following proposition is completely similar to that of Proposition 4.2.1 in [18].

Proposition 6.8.3. Let Γ be a generic character of z_1^F . Then

$$\sum_{z \in (z_1)_{\text{reg}}^F} \Gamma(z) = q K_L^o$$

For a group H, we denote by Z_H its center.

Lemma 6.8.4. Let (O_1^F, \ldots, O_k^F) be a generic tuple of adjoint orbits of \mathfrak{g}^F . Let (L_i, η_i, φ_i) be a datum defining the character $\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC_{\overline{O}_i}^{\bullet}})$, see Remark 6.7.2. Then $\prod_{i=1}^{k} {g_i \eta_i}_{|z_{\mathfrak{m}}}$ is a generic character of $z_{\mathfrak{m}}^F$ for any *F*-stable Levi subgroup *M* of *G* which satisfies the following condition: For all $i \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$, there exists $g_i \in G^F$ such that Z_M is contained in $g_i L_i g_i^{-1}$.

Proof. We may write $\eta_i = \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{l}_i}(\mathfrak{1}_{\sigma_i})$ where $\sigma_i \in z_{\mathfrak{l}_i}$ is the semisimple part of an element of O_i^F . Note that $g_i\sigma_ig_i^{-1}$ is in the center of $g_i\mathfrak{l}_ig_i^{-1}$ and so it commutes with the elements of $z_{\mathfrak{m}} \subset g_i\mathfrak{l}_ig_i^{-1}$, i.e., $g_i\sigma_ig_i^{-1} \in C_\mathfrak{g}(z_{\mathfrak{m}}) = \mathfrak{m}$. Let $z \in z_{\mathfrak{m}}^F$. Then

$$\prod_{i=1}^{k} {g_i \eta_i}(z) = \prod_{i=1}^{k} \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{l}_i}(1_{\sigma_i})(g_i^{-1} z g_i) = \prod_{i=1}^{k} \Psi(\mu(\sigma_i, g_i^{-1} z g_i)) = \prod_{i=1}^{k} \Psi(\mu(g_i \sigma_i g_i^{-1}, z)) = \Psi\left(\mu(\sum_i g_i \sigma_i g_i^{-1}, z)\right).$$

If $z = \lambda.\text{Id} \in z_g$, then $\mu(\sum_i g_i \sigma_i g_i^{-1}, z) = \lambda \operatorname{Tr}(\sum_i g_i \sigma_i g_i^{-1}) = 0$ by the first genericity condition (see Definition 5.1.1). Let *L* be an *F*-stable Levi subgroup such that $M \subseteq L \subseteq G$, i.e., such that $z_g \subseteq z_I \subseteq z_m$ and assume that $\prod_{i=1}^k {s_i \eta_i}_{|z_i|}$ is trivial. There is a decomposition $\mathbb{K}^n = V_1 \oplus V_2 \oplus \cdots \oplus V_r$ such that $I \simeq \bigoplus_i \mathfrak{gl}(V_i)$. Then any element $z \in z_I$ is a of the form $(\lambda_1.\text{Id}, \ldots, \lambda_r.\text{Id})$ for some $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_r \in \mathbb{K}$. Since $g_i \sigma_i g_i^{-1} \in \mathfrak{m} \subset I$ for all *i*, we may write $\sum_i g_i \sigma_i g_i^{-1} = (x_1, \ldots, x_r) \in \mathfrak{gl}(V_1) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathfrak{gl}(V_r)$. Since $\prod_{i=1}^k {s_i \eta_i}_{|z_i|}$ is trivial we have $\sum_{i=1}^r \lambda_i \operatorname{Tr}(x_i) = 0$ for all $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_r \in \mathbb{K}$. Hence $\operatorname{Tr}(x_i) = 0$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, r$. This contradicts the second genericity assumption.

A linear character of Z_L^F is said to be *generic* if its restriction to Z_G^F is trivial and its restriction to Z_M^F is non-trivial for any *F*-stable proper Levi subgroup *M* of *G* such that $L \subset M$.

Put

$$(Z_L)_{\text{reg}} := \{ x \in Z_L \mid C_G(x) = L \}.$$

We have the following proposition [18, Proposition 4.2.1].

Proposition 6.8.5. Let Γ be a generic character of Z_I^F . Then

$$\sum_{z \in (Z_L)_{\text{reg}}^F} \Gamma(z) = (q-1)K_L^o.$$

Definition 6.8.6. Let X_1, \ldots, X_k be *k*-irreducible characters of G^F . For each *i*, let $(L_i, \theta_i, \varphi_i)$ be a datum defining X_i . We say that the tuple (X_1, \ldots, X_k) is *generic* if $\prod_{i=1}^k {s_i \theta_i}_{Z_M}$ is a generic character of Z_M^F for any *F*-stable Levi subgroup *M* of *G* which satisfies the following condition: For all $i \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$, there exists $g_i \in G^F$ such that $Z_M \subset g_i L_i g_i^{-1}$.

Example 6.8.7. Let μ^1, \ldots, μ^k be *k* partitions of *n* and denote by $R_{\mu^1}, \ldots, R_{\mu^k}$ the corresponding unipotent characters of G^F (see beginning of this section). Consider *k* linear characters $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_k$ of \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} . For each *i*, put $X_i := (\alpha_i \circ \det) \cdot R_{\mu^i}$. Then X_i is an irreducible character of G^F of same type as R_{μ^i} . Then according to Definition 6.8.6, the tuple (X_1, \ldots, X_k) is generic if and only if the size of the subgroup of Irr \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} generated by $\alpha_1 \cdots \alpha_k$ equals *n*.

Given $\omega = (\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_k) \in (\mathbf{T}_n)^k$, and assuming that char (\mathbb{F}_q) does not divide the gcd of $\{|\omega_i^j|\}_{i,j}$ and that q is large enough, we can always find a generic tuple (X_1, \ldots, X_k) of irreducible characters of G^F of type ω . The proof of this is similar to the proof of the existence of generic tuples of conjugacy classes of GL_n of a given type, see [18].

Definition 6.8.8. We say that an adjoint orbit of g^F (or an irreducible character of G^F) is *split* if the degrees of its type are all equal to 1.

6.9 Multiplicities in tensor products

Let (X_1, \ldots, X_k) be a generic tuple of irreducible characters of G^F . Assume that there exists a generic tuple (O_1^F, \ldots, O_k^F) of adjoint orbits of g^F of same type as (X_1, \ldots, X_k) . We put $d_{\mathbf{O}} = (2g - 2)n^2 + 2 + \sum_i \dim O_i$ as in Corollary 5.2.3.

Let Θ : $g^F \to \kappa$ be given by $x \mapsto q^{gn^2+g \dim C_G(x)}$, and let Λ : $G^F \to \kappa$ be given by $x \mapsto q^{g \dim C_G(x)}$. If g = 1, note that Λ is the character of the representation of G^F in the group algebra $\kappa[g^F]$ where G^F acts on g^F by conjugation.

Theorem 6.9.1. We have

$$\langle \Lambda \otimes \mathcal{X}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{X}_k, 1 \rangle_{G^F} = \frac{q^{-d_0/2}(q-1)}{|G^F|} \left\langle \Theta \otimes \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}_1}}) \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}_k}}), 1 \right\rangle_{\mathfrak{g}^F}.$$

Proof. For each i = 1, ..., k, let $(L_i, \theta_i, \varphi_i)$ be a datum defining X_i . Then

$$\begin{aligned} |G^{F}| \langle \Lambda \otimes \mathcal{X}_{1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{X}_{k}, 1 \rangle_{G^{F}} &= \sum_{x \in G^{F}} q^{g \dim C_{G}(x)} \prod_{i=1}^{k} \left(\epsilon_{G} \epsilon_{L_{i}} |W_{L_{i}}|^{-1} \sum_{w \in W_{L_{i}}} \tilde{\varphi}_{i}(wF) R_{T_{w}}^{G}(\theta_{i})(x) \right) \\ &= \prod_{i=1}^{k} \left(\epsilon_{G} \epsilon_{L_{i}} |W_{L_{i}}|^{-1} \right) \sum_{x \in G^{F}} q^{g \dim C_{G}(x)} \sum_{(w_{1}, \dots, w_{k}) \in W_{L_{1}} \times \cdots \times W_{L_{k}}} \prod_{i=1}^{k} \tilde{\varphi}_{i}(w_{i}F) R_{T_{w_{i}}}^{G}(\theta_{i})(x) \\ &= \sum_{(w_{1}, \dots, w_{k}) \in W_{L_{1}} \times \cdots \times W_{L_{k}}} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{k} \epsilon_{G} \epsilon_{L_{i}} |W_{L_{i}}|^{-1} \tilde{\varphi}_{i}(w_{i}F) \right) \sum_{x \in G^{F}} q^{g \dim C_{G}(x)} \prod_{i=1}^{k} R_{T_{w_{i}}}^{G}(\theta_{i})(x). \end{aligned}$$

The type of O_i is the G^F -conjugacy class of $(L_i, O_i^{L_i})$ where $O_i^{L_i}$ is an *F*-stable nilpotent orbit of l_i that corresponds to φ_i via Springer's correspondence.

For i = 1, ..., k, let (L_i, η_i, φ_i) be a datum defining $\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{Q_i}}})$ as explained in Remark 6.7.2. Using Theorem 6.7.1 we may proceed as above to get

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \Theta \otimes \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC_{\overline{O}_{1}}^{\bullet}}) \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC_{\overline{O}_{k}}^{\bullet}}), 1 \right\rangle_{\mathfrak{g}^{F}} \\ &= |\mathfrak{g}^{F}|^{-1} \sum_{(w_{1},\ldots,w_{k}) \in W_{L_{1}} \times \cdots \times W_{L_{k}}} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{k} \epsilon_{G} \epsilon_{L_{i}} q^{\frac{1}{2} \dim O_{i}} |W_{L_{i}}|^{-1} \tilde{\varphi}_{i}(w_{i}F) \right) \sum_{x \in \mathfrak{g}^{F}} q^{gn^{2}+g \dim C_{G}(x)} \prod_{i=1}^{k} R_{\mathfrak{t}_{w_{i}}}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\eta_{i})(x) \\ &= q^{gn^{2}-n^{2}+\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i} \dim O_{i}} \sum_{(w_{1},\ldots,w_{k}) \in W_{L_{1}} \times \cdots \times W_{L_{k}}} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{k} \epsilon_{G} \epsilon_{L_{i}} |W_{L_{i}}|^{-1} \tilde{\varphi}_{i}(w_{i}F) \right) \sum_{x \in \mathfrak{g}^{F}} q^{g \dim C_{G}(x)} \prod_{i=1}^{k} R_{\mathfrak{t}_{w_{i}}}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\eta_{i})(x). \end{split}$$

Since $d_0/2 = gn^2 - n^2 + 1 + \frac{1}{2}\sum_i \dim O_i$, we need to see that:

$$(q-1)\sum_{x\in\mathfrak{g}^{F}}q^{g\dim C_{G}(x)}\prod_{i=1}^{k}R^{\mathfrak{g}}_{\mathfrak{t}_{w_{i}}}(\eta_{i})(x)=q\sum_{x\in G^{F}}q^{g\dim C_{G}(x)}\prod_{i=1}^{k}R^{G}_{T_{w_{i}}}(\theta_{i})(x).$$

Since the functions $R_{T_{w_i}}^G(\theta_i)$ and $R_{t_{w_i}}^g(\eta_i)$ are constant respectively on conjugacy classes and adjoint orbits, we need to verify that for a given type $\omega \in \mathbf{T}_n$:

$$(q-1)\sum_{x\sim\omega}\prod_{i=1}^{k}R^{\mathfrak{g}}_{\mathfrak{t}_{w_{i}}}(\eta_{i})(x) = q\sum_{x\sim\omega}\prod_{i=1}^{k}R^{G}_{T_{w_{i}}}(\theta_{i})(x).$$
(6.9.1)

where $x \sim \omega$ means that the *G*-conjugacy class of *x* is of type ω . Let (M, C) with *M* an *F*-stable Levi subgroup and *C* an *F*-stable nilpotent orbit of *m* such that the *G^F*-conjugacy class of (M, C) corresponds to ω as in §6.8. Recall that $x \in g^F$ is of type (M, C) if there exists *y* in the *G^F*-orbit of *x* such that $M = C_G(y_s)$ and $y_n \in C^F$. Similarly, an element $x \in G^F$ is of type (M, C) if there exists *y* in the *G^F*-orbit of *x* such that $M = C_G(y_s)$ and $y_u - 1 \in C^F$.

Then the proof of Formula (6.9.1) reduces to the proof of the following identity:

$$(q-1)\sum_{z\in(z_{m})_{\text{reg}}^{F}}\prod_{i=1}^{k}R_{t_{w_{i}}}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\eta_{i})(z+v)=q\sum_{z\in(Z_{M})_{\text{reg}}^{F}}\prod_{i=1}^{k}R_{T_{w_{i}}}^{G}(\theta_{i})(zu)$$

where v is a fixed element in C^F and u = v + 1. By formulas (6.5.2) and (6.5.4) we have

$$R^{\mathfrak{g}}_{\mathfrak{t}_{w_{i}}}(\eta_{i})(z+\nu) = |M^{F}|^{-1} \sum_{\{h \in G^{F} \mid z \in h\mathfrak{t}_{w_{i}}h^{-1}\}} \mathcal{Q}^{M}_{h\mathfrak{t}_{w_{i}}h^{-1}}(u) \eta_{i}(h^{-1}zh),$$

 $R^{G}_{T_{w_{i}}}(\theta_{i})(zu) = |M^{F}|^{-1} \sum_{\{h \in G^{F} \mid z \in hT_{w_{i}}h^{-1}\}} Q^{M}_{hT_{w_{i}}h^{-1}}(u) \theta_{i}(h^{-1}zh),$

Since $C_G(z) = M$, we have $\{h \in G^F \mid z \in ht_{w_i}h^{-1}\} = \{h \in G^F \mid hT_{w_i}h^{-1} \subset M\}$. We thus have:

$$\sum_{z \in (z_m)_{\text{reg}}^F} \prod_{i=1}^k R^{\mathfrak{g}}_{\mathfrak{t}_{w_i}}(\eta_i)(z+\nu) = \sum_{h_1, \dots, h_k} \left(\prod_{i=1}^k |M^F|^{-1} \mathcal{Q}^M_{h_i T_{w_i} h_i^{-1}}(u) \right) \sum_{z \in (z_m)_{\text{reg}}^F} \prod_{i=1}^k \eta_i(h_i^{-1} z h_i) \sum_{z \in (z_m)_{\text{reg}}^F} \prod_{i$$

where the first sum runs over the set $\prod_{i=1}^{k} \{h \in G^{F} \mid hT_{w_{i}}h^{-1} \subset M\}$. Similarly we have

$$\sum_{\in (Z_M)_{\text{reg}}} \prod_{i=1}^k R^G_{T_{w_i}}(\theta_i)(zu) = \sum_{h_1,\dots,h_k} \left(\prod_{i=1}^k |M^F|^{-1} Q^M_{h_i T_{w_i} h_i^{-1}}(u) \right) \sum_{z \in (Z_M)_{\text{reg}}} \prod_{i=1}^k \theta_i(h_i^{-1} z h_i).$$

The inclusion $h_i T_{w_i} h_i^{-1} \subset M$ implies that $Z_M \subset h_i T_{w_i} h_i^{-1} \subset h_i L_i h_i^{-1}$. By Lemma 6.8.4, the character $(\prod_{i=1}^k h_i \eta_i)|_{z_{\mathfrak{m}}}$ is a generic character of $z_{\mathfrak{m}}$ and so by Proposition 6.8.3 we have

$$\sum_{z \in (z_m)_{\text{reg}}^F} \prod_{i=1}^k \eta_i (h_i^{-1} z h_i) = q K_M^o$$

Similarly, by Proposition 6.8.5 we have

$$\sum_{z \in (Z_M)_{\text{reg}}^F} \prod_{i=1}^k \theta_i (h_i^{-1} z h_i) = (q-1) K_M^o.$$

When the tuples (X_1, \ldots, X_k) and (O_1^F, \ldots, O_k^F) are not generic we do not have such a nice relation between mulitplicities. For instance let us choose (X_1, \ldots, X_k) and (O_1^F, \ldots, O_k^F) to be respectively unipotent and nilpotent of same type. With the notation in the proof of the theorem we have $L_i = G$ for all *i* and the linear characters η_i and θ_i are the trivial characters. Then

$$\sum_{z \in (z_m)_{\text{reg}}^F} \prod_{i=1}^k \eta_i (h_i^{-1} z h_i) = \left| (z_m)_{\text{reg}}^F \right|,$$
$$\sum_{z \in (Z_M)_{\text{reg}}^F} \prod_{i=1}^k \theta_i (h_i^{-1} z h_i) = \left| (Z_M)_{\text{reg}}^F \right|.$$

Hence, unlike the generic case, the relation between these two terms invloves the rational function $\frac{|(z_m)_{reg}^F|}{|(Z_M)_{reg}^F|}$ which depends on *M*. The independence of *M* is crucial as we obtain the multiplicities by summing over *M*.

6.10 Multiplicities and symmetric functions

6.10.1 Definitions

Consider *k* separate sets $\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, ..., \mathbf{x}_k$ of infinitely many variables and denote by $\Lambda_k := \mathbb{Q}(q) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \Lambda(\mathbf{x}_1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \cdots \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \Lambda(\mathbf{x}_k)$ the ring of functions separately symmetric in each set $\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, ..., \mathbf{x}_k$ with coefficients in $\mathbb{Q}(q)$ where *q* is an indeterminate. On $\Lambda(\mathbf{x}_i)$ consider the Hall pairing \langle , \rangle_i that makes the set $\{m_\lambda(\mathbf{x}_i)\}_{\lambda \in \mathcal{P}}$ of complete symmetric functions dual bases. On Λ_k , put $\langle , \rangle = \prod_i \langle , \rangle_i$.

Consider

$$\psi_n : \Lambda_k[[T]] \to \Lambda_k[[T]], f(\mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \mathbf{x}_k; q, T) \mapsto f(\mathbf{x}_1^n, \dots, \mathbf{x}_k^n; q^n, T^n)$$

where we denote by \mathbf{x}^d the set of variables $\{x_1^d, x_2^d, \dots\}$. The ψ_n are called the *Adams operations*.

Define $\Psi: T\Lambda_k[[T]] \to T\Lambda_k[[T]]$ by

$$\Psi(f) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{\psi_n(f)}{n}.$$

Its inverse is given by

$$\Psi^{-1}(f) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \mu(n) \frac{\psi_n(f)}{n}$$

where μ is the ordinary Möbius function.

Following Getzler [15] we define Log : $1 + T\Lambda_k[[T]] \rightarrow T\Lambda_k[[T]]$ and its inverse Exp : $T\Lambda_k[[T]] \rightarrow 1 + \Lambda_k[[T]]$ as

$$Log(f) = \Psi^{-1} \left(log(f) \right)$$

and

$$\operatorname{Exp}(f) = \exp\left(\Psi(f)\right).$$

6.10.2 Cauchy function

For an infinite set of variable **x**, the transformed Hall-Littlewood symmetric function $\tilde{H}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x}, q) \in \Lambda(\mathbf{x}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}(q)$ is defined as

$$\tilde{H}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x},q) := \sum_{\lambda} \tilde{K}_{\nu\lambda}(q) s_{\nu}(\mathbf{x})$$

where $\tilde{K}_{\nu\lambda}(q) = q^{n(\lambda)} K_{\nu\lambda}(q^{-1})$ is the transformed Kostka polynomial [42, III (7.11)].

For a partition λ , put

$$\mathcal{H}_{\lambda}(q) := \frac{q^{g\langle\lambda,\lambda\rangle}}{a_{\lambda}(q)}$$

where $a_{\lambda}(q)$ denotes the cardinality of the centralizer of a unipotent element of $GL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ with Jordan form of type λ [42, IV, (2.7)]. Define the *k*-points Cauchy function

$$\Omega(q) := \sum_{\lambda \in \mathcal{P}} \left(\prod_{i=1}^n \tilde{H}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x}_i, q) \right) \mathcal{H}_{\lambda}(q) T^{|\lambda|}.$$

It leaves in $1 + T\Lambda_k[[T]]$. These functions were considered by Garsia and Haiman [14].

Given a family of symmetric functions $u_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x}, q)$ indexed by partitions, we extend its definition to a type $\omega = (d_1, \omega^1) \cdots (d_r, \omega^r) \in \mathbf{T}_n$ by $u_{\omega}(\mathbf{x}, q) := \prod_{i=1}^r u_{\omega^i}(\mathbf{x}^{d_i}, q^{d_i})$.

For a multi-type $\boldsymbol{\omega} = (\omega_1, \dots, \omega_k) \in (\mathbf{T}_n)^k$, put $u_{\boldsymbol{\omega}} := u_{\omega_1}(\mathbf{x}_1, q) \cdots u_{\omega_k}(\mathbf{x}_k, q) \in \Lambda_k$.

Recall that λ' denotes the dual partition of λ . For a type $\omega = (d_1, \lambda_1) \cdots (d_r, \lambda_r)$, we denote by ω' the type $(d_1, \lambda'_1) \cdots (d_r, \lambda'_r)$.

Let $\boldsymbol{\omega} = (\omega_1, \dots, \omega_k) \in (\mathbf{T}_n)^k$ with $\omega_i = (d_1^i, \omega_i^1) \cdots (d_{r_i}^i, \omega_i^{r_i})$ and define

$$\mathbb{H}_{\omega}(q) := (-1)^{r(\omega)}(q-1) \left\langle s_{\omega'}, \operatorname{Log}\left(\Omega(q)\right) \right\rangle$$
(6.10.1)

where $r(\omega) := kn + \sum_{i,j} |\omega_i^j|$ and where $\langle s_{\omega'}, \text{Log}(\Omega(q)) \rangle$ is the Hall pairing of $s_{\omega'}$ with the coefficient of $\text{Log}(\Omega(q))$ in T^n .

Note that if the degrees d_i^j are all equal to 1, then $r(\omega) = 2kn$.

We rewrite Formula (6.10.1) in some special cases:

6.10.3 The split semisimple case

We say that $\omega \in \mathbf{T}_n$ is a *semisimple type* if it is the type of a semisimple adjoint orbit of \mathfrak{g}_n^F (or equivalently the type of a semisimple character of G^F). It is then of the form $(d_1, (1^{n_1})) \cdots (d_r, (1^{n_r}))$. If moreover ω is split, i.e., $d_i = 1$ for all *i*, then $\lambda = (n_1, \ldots, n_r)$ is a partition of *n* and any partition of *n* is obtained in this way from a unique split semisimple type of \mathbf{T}_n . Note that for a split semisimple type ω with corresponding partition λ , we have $s_{\omega'}(\mathbf{x}) = h_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x})$.

For a multipartition $\lambda = (\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_k) \in (\mathcal{P}_n)^k$ with corresponding split semisimple multitype $\omega \in (\mathbf{T}_n)^k$ we put $\mathbb{H}^{ss}_{\lambda}(q) := \mathbb{H}_{\omega}(q)$. Then Formula (6.10.1) reads

$$\mathbb{H}_{\lambda}^{ss}(q) = (q-1) \left\langle h_{\lambda}, \operatorname{Log}(\Omega(q)) \right\rangle.$$

Since $\{h_{\lambda}\}$ and $\{m_{\lambda}\}$ are dual bases with respect to the Hall pairing, we may recover $\Omega(q)$ from $\mathbb{H}^{ss}_{\lambda}(q)$ by the formula

$$\Omega(q) = \operatorname{Exp}\left(\sum_{n\geq 1}\sum_{\lambda\in(\mathcal{P}_n)^k}\frac{\mathbb{H}_{\lambda}^{ss}(q)}{q-1}m_{\lambda}T^n\right).$$
(6.10.2)

6.10.4 The nilpotent case

We say that a type $\omega \in \mathbf{T}_n$ is nilpotent if it is the type of a nilpotent adjoint orbit of \mathfrak{g}^F (or the type of a unipotent character of G^F) in which case it is of the form $\omega = (1, \lambda)$ for some partition λ of n, and $s_{\omega}(\mathbf{x}) = s_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x})$.

For a multipartition $\lambda = (\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_k) \in (\mathcal{P}_n)^k$, we put $\mathbb{H}^n_{\lambda}(q) := \mathbb{H}_{\omega}(q)$, where $\omega = ((1, \lambda_1), ..., (1, \lambda_k))$. Since the base $\{s_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \mathcal{P}}$ is auto-dual, we recover $\Omega(q)$ from the $\mathbb{H}^n_{\lambda}(q)$ by the formula

$$\Omega(q) = \operatorname{Exp}\left(\sum_{n\geq 1}\sum_{\lambda\in(\mathcal{P}_n)^k}\frac{\mathbb{H}^n_{\lambda'}(q)}{q-1}s_{\lambda}T^n\right).$$
(6.10.3)

6.10.5 The regular semisimple case

We say that a type $\omega \in \mathbf{T}_n$ is semisimple regular if it is the type of a semisimple regular adjoint orbit of G^F (or the type of an irreducible Deligne-Lusztig character, see §6.6). Then it is of the form $\omega = (d_1, 1) \cdots (d_r, 1)$ and so $\lambda = (d_1, \ldots, d_r)$ is a partition of *n*. In this case, the fonction $s_{\omega}(\mathbf{x})$ is the power symmetric function $p_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x})$.

For a multipartition λ with corresponding regular semisimple multitype ω , we use the notation $\mathbb{H}_{\lambda}^{rss}(q)$ and $r(\lambda)$ instead of $\mathbb{H}_{\omega}(q)$ and $r(\omega)$.

Recall that for any two partitions λ, μ , we have $\langle p_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x}), p_{\mu}(\mathbf{x}) \rangle = z_{\lambda} \delta_{\lambda \mu}$. Then we recover $\Omega(q)$ from $\mathbb{H}_{\lambda}^{rss}(q)$ by the formula

$$\Omega(q) = \operatorname{Exp}\left(\sum_{n\geq 1}\sum_{\lambda\in(\mathcal{P}_n)^k}\frac{(-1)^{r(\lambda)}\mathbb{H}_{\lambda}^{rss}(q)}{(q-1)z_{\lambda}}p_{\lambda}T^n\right).$$
(6.10.4)

6.10.6 Multiplicities

Let (X_1, \ldots, X_k) be a generic tuple of irreducible characters of G^F of type $\omega = (\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_k) \in (\mathbf{T}_n)^k$.

Theorem 6.10.1. We have

$$\langle \Lambda \otimes \mathcal{X}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{X}_k, 1 \rangle_{G^F} = \mathbb{H}_{\omega}(q)$$

If the irreducible characters X_1, \ldots, X_k are all split semisimple with corresponding multipartition $\mu \in (\mathcal{P}_n)^k$, then $\mathbb{H}_{\omega}(q) = (q-1)\langle h_{\mu}, \text{Log}(\Omega(q)) \rangle$ by §6.10.3. Hence in the split semisimple case, this theorem is exactly [18, Theorem 6.1.1].

Since the main ingredient [18, Theorem 4.3.1(2)] in the proof of [18, Theorem 6.1.1] is available for any type $\omega \in \mathbf{T}_n$, we may follow line by line the proof of [18, Theorem 7.1.1] for arbitrary types (not necessarily split semisimple) to obtain the formula of Theorem 6.10.1.

Remark 6.10.2. The theorem shows that the multiplicities of generic irreducible characters depend only on the types and not on the choices of irreducible characters of a given type. Note that $\mathbb{H}_{\omega}(q)$ is clearly a rational function in q with rational coefficients. On the other hand by Theorem 6.10.1, it is also an integer for infinitely many values of q. Hence $\mathbb{H}_{\omega}(q)$ is a polynomial in q with rational coefficients.

7 Poincaré polynomials of quiver varieties and multiplicities

Unless specified \mathbb{K} is an arbitrary algebraically closed field.

For i = 1, ..., k let $L_i, P_i, \sigma_i, C_i, \Sigma_i, O_i$ be as in §5.3. Put $M_i := C_{GL_n}(\sigma_i)$ and $\mathbf{M} := M_1 \times \cdots \times M_k$. We assume that $(O_1, ..., O_k)$ is generic.

7.1 Decomposition theorem and Weyl group action

Let $\rho : \mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}} \to \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}$ and $\mathbf{p} : \mathbb{O}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}} \to \mathbf{O}$ be the canonical projective maps (see Diagram (5.3.1)). For an irreducible character $\chi = \chi_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \chi_k$ of the Weyl group $W_{\mathbf{M}} = W_{M_1} \times \cdots \times W_{M_k}$ we put $\mathbf{O}_{\chi} = (\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{2g} \times \overline{O}_{\chi_1} \times \cdots \times \overline{O}_{\chi_k}$ where for each $i = 1, \ldots, k$, O_{χ_i} is the unique adjoint orbit contained in \overline{O}_i corresponding to the character χ_i via the Springer correspondence \mathfrak{C} .

By Proposition 6.4.1, we have

$$p_*\left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{O}_{L,P\Sigma}}\right) \simeq \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbf{O}} \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\chi \in (\operatorname{Irr} W_{\mathbf{M}})^*} A_{\chi} \otimes \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbf{O}_{\chi}}\right)$$
(7.1.1)

where $(\operatorname{Irr} W_{\mathbf{M}})^* := (\operatorname{Irr} W_{\mathbf{M}}) - \{\chi_o\}$ and

$$A_{\chi} = \operatorname{Hom}_{W_{\mathbf{M}}} \left(\operatorname{Ind}_{W_{\mathbf{L}}}^{W_{\mathbf{M}}}(V_{\mathbf{C}}), V_{\chi} \right)$$

with $V_{\mathbf{C}} := \bigotimes_i V_{C_i}$.

Proposition 7.1.1. We have

$$(\rho/_{\mathrm{PGL}_n})_* \left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\mathrm{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}} \right) \simeq \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathrm{O}}} \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\chi \in (\mathrm{Irr} W_{\mathrm{M}})^*} A_{\chi} \otimes \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathrm{O}_{\chi}}} \right).$$
(7.1.2)

The action of $W_{\mathbf{M}}(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{C})$ on the A_{χ} 's (see §6.4) induces thus an action of $W_{\mathbf{M}}(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{C})$ on the complex $(\rho/_{\mathrm{PGL}_n})_* \left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P}\Sigma}} \right)$ and so on the hypercohomology $\mathbb{H}^i_c \left(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P}\Sigma}, IC^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P}\Sigma}} \right) = IH^i_c(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P}\Sigma}, \kappa)$. For $\nu \in W_{\mathbf{M}}(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{C})$, we denote by $\theta_{\nu} : (\rho/_{\mathrm{PGL}_n})_* \left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P}\Sigma}} \right) \simeq (\rho/_{\mathrm{PGL}_n})_* \left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P}\Sigma}} \right)$ the corresponding automorphism.

Proof of Proposition 7.1.1. By applying the proper base change to the top right square of the diagram (5.3.1), it follows from the isomorphism (7.1.1) and Theorem 5.4.1 that

$$\rho_*\left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{V}_{\mathrm{LP},\Sigma}}\right) \simeq \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{V}_{\mathrm{O}}} \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\chi \in (\mathrm{Irr}\, W_{\mathrm{M}})^*} A_{\chi} \otimes \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{V}_{\mathrm{O}_{\chi}}}\right).$$
(7.1.3)

Since the quotient maps $p_1 : \mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} \to \mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ and $p_2 : \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}} \to \mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{O}}$ are principal PGL_n-bundles they are smooth and so we have $(p_2)^* \left(IC^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{O}}} \right) \simeq IC^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}}$ and $(p_1)^* \left(IC^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}} \right) \simeq IC^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}}$. Applying the decomposition theorem to $\rho/_{\mathrm{PGL}_n}$ (Theorem 3.1.2) and the base chance theorem we see that if $IC^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Z},\zeta}[r]$ is a direct summand of $(\rho/_{\mathrm{PGL}_n})_* \left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}} \right)$ then $(p_2)^* \left(IC^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Z},\zeta} \right) = IC^{\bullet}_{p_2^{-1}(\mathcal{Z}),(p_2)^*(\zeta)}$ is (up to a shift) a direct summand of $\rho_* \left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}} \right)$ and so we must have $Z = \mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{O}_{\chi}}$ for some χ and $\zeta = \kappa$. It is also clear that $\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{O}_{\chi}}}$ appears in $(\rho/_{\mathrm{PGL}_n})_* \left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}} \right)$ with the same multiplicity as $\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}_{\chi}}}$ in $\rho_* \left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}} \right)$.

Recall that d_0 denotes the dimension of Q_0 . Put $r_{\chi} = (d_{0_{\chi}} - d_0)/2$.

When $(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{P}, \boldsymbol{\Sigma})$ is defined over \mathbb{F}_q the Proposition 7.1.1 can be made more precise as follows.

Proposition 7.1.2. If $\mathbb{K} = \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ and if $(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{P}, \Sigma)$ is defined over \mathbb{F}_q , then the isomorphism

$$(\rho/_{\mathrm{PGL}_n})_*\left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\mathrm{L},\mathrm{P}\Sigma}}\right) \simeq \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{Q_0} \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\chi \in (\mathrm{Irr} W_{\mathrm{M}})^*} A_{\chi} \otimes \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{Q_{0_{\chi}}}(r_{\chi})\right).$$

is defined over \mathbb{F}_q . In particular for $v \in W_{\mathbf{M}}(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{C})$, we have

$$\mathbf{X}_{(\rho/_{\mathrm{PGL}_{n}})*\left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\mathrm{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}}\right),\theta_{\nu}\circ\tilde{\varphi}} = \mathbf{X}_{\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{Q_{\mathrm{O}}}} + \sum_{\chi\in(\mathrm{Irr}\,W_{\mathrm{M}})^{*}} \mathrm{Tr}\left(\nu \mid A_{\chi}\right)q^{-r_{\tilde{\tau}}}\mathbf{X}_{\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{Q_{\mathrm{O}_{\chi}}}}$$
(7.1.4)

where $\tilde{\varphi} : F^*\left(\pi_*\left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{V}_{L,\mathbf{P}\Sigma}}\right)\right) \simeq \pi_*\left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{V}_{L,\mathbf{P}\Sigma}}\right)$ is the canonical isomorphism induced by the unique isomorphism $\varphi : F^*\left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{Q}_{L,\mathbf{P}\Sigma}}\right) \simeq \underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{Q}_{L,\mathbf{P}\Sigma}}$ which induces the identity on $\mathcal{H}_x^{-d_0}\left(\underline{IC}^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{Q}_{L,\mathbf{P}\Sigma}}\right)$ when $x \in \mathbb{Q}^o_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P}\Sigma}(\mathbb{F}_q)$.

Proof. It follows from the last assertion of Proposition 5.3.1 and the discussion at the end of §6.4.

We can proceed as in Göttsche and Soergel [16] to prove the following proposition from the mixed Hodge module version of the isomorphism (7.1.2).

Proposition 7.1.3. Assume $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Then

$$IH^{i}_{c}(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}},\mathbb{Q}) \simeq IH^{i}_{c}(\boldsymbol{Q}_{\mathbf{O}},\mathbb{Q}) \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\boldsymbol{\chi} \in (\operatorname{Irr} W_{\mathbf{M}})^{*}} A_{\boldsymbol{\chi}} \otimes \left(IH^{i+2r_{\boldsymbol{\chi}}}_{c}(\boldsymbol{Q}_{\mathbf{O}_{\boldsymbol{\chi}}},\mathbb{Q}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}(r_{\boldsymbol{\chi}})\right)\right)$$
(7.1.5)

is an isomorphism of mixed Hodge structures.

7.2 A lemma

Assume that $\mathbb{K} = \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$. Recall that $F : \mathfrak{gl}_n \to \mathfrak{gl}_n$ denotes the standard Frobenius endomorphism so that $(\mathfrak{gl}_n)^F = \mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$.

Assume that (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is *F*-stable. We do not assume that the eigenvalues of the adjoint orbits O_i 's are in \mathbb{F}_q .

Lemma 7.2.1. We have

$$|\operatorname{PGL}_{n}(\mathbb{F}_{q})| \cdot \sum_{x \in Q_{0}(\mathbb{F}_{q})} \mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{Q_{0}}}(x) = \sum_{x \in \mathcal{V}_{0}(\mathbb{F}_{q})} \mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{V}_{0}}}(x) = \left\langle \Theta \otimes \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{gl}_{n}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}_{1}}}) \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{gl}_{n}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}_{k}}}), 1 \right\rangle_{\mathfrak{gl}_{n}(\mathbb{F}_{q})}$$

where Θ : $\mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbb{F}_q) \to \kappa, \ x \mapsto q^{gn^2 + g \dim C_{\mathrm{GL}_n}(x)}$.

Proof. We continue to denote by *F* the induced Frobenius endomorphism on $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}$. We will use the notation $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}^{F}$ instead of $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}(\mathbb{F}_{q})$. Let $q: \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}} \to \mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{0}}$ be the quotient map. Since $\mathrm{PGL}_{n}(\mathbb{F}_{q})$ acts freely on $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}$ it induces an injective map $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}^{F}/\mathrm{PGL}_{n}(\mathbb{F}_{q}) \to \mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{0}}^{F}$. Since $\mathrm{PGL}_{n}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q})$ is connected, any *F*-stable orbit of $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}$ has a rational point. Hence the above map is also surjective. As *q* is a principal PGL_{n} -bundle we have $q^{*}(IC_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{0}}}^{\bullet}) \simeq IC_{\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}}^{\bullet}$ and so $\mathbf{X}_{IC_{\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}}^{\bullet}}(x) = \mathbf{X}_{IC_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{0}}}^{\bullet}}(y)$ whenever q(x) = y. We thus deduce the first equality. If $i: \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{0}$ denotes the inclusion, then by Proposition 5.4.3 we have $IC_{\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}}^{\bullet} = i^{*}(IC_{\mathbf{0}}^{\bullet}) =$

If $i : \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{0}$ denotes the inclusion, then by Proposition 5.4.3 we have $IC_{\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}} = i^*(IC_{\mathbf{0}}) = i^*\left(\kappa^{\boxtimes 2g} \boxtimes IC_{\overline{O}_1}^{\bullet} \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes IC_{\overline{O}_k}^{\bullet}\right)$ where κ is the constant sheaf on GL_n and $\kappa^{\boxtimes 2g} := \kappa \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes \kappa$ (2g times). Hence for $x = (a_1, b_1, \dots, a_g, b_g, x_1, \dots, x_k) \in \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}^F$, we have

$$\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{V_{\mathbf{0}}}}(x) = \mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}_{1}}}(x_{1})\cdots\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{O}_{k}}}(x_{k}).$$

For $z \in \mathfrak{gl}_n^F$, put

$$\Xi(z) := \# \left\{ (a_1, b_1, \dots, a_g, b_g) \in (\mathfrak{gl}_n^F)^{2g} \Big| \sum_i [a_i, b_i] = z \right\}.$$

Hence

$$\sum_{c \in V_{\mathbf{0}}^{F}} \mathbf{X}_{IC_{V_{\mathbf{0}}}^{\bullet}}(x) = \sum_{(x_{1}, \dots, x_{k}) \in \left(\overline{O}_{1} \times \dots \times \overline{O}_{k}\right)^{F}} \Xi(-(x_{1} + \dots + x_{k})) \mathbf{X}_{IC_{\overline{O}_{1}}^{\bullet}}(x_{1}) \cdots \mathbf{X}_{IC_{\overline{O}_{k}}^{\bullet}}(x_{k})$$
$$= \left(\Xi * \mathbf{X}_{IC_{\overline{O}_{k}}^{\bullet}} * \dots * \mathbf{X}_{IC_{\overline{O}_{k}}^{\bullet}}\right)(0).$$

By Formula (6.5.3) we have

$$|\mathfrak{gl}_n^F| \cdot f(0) = \sum_{x \in \mathfrak{gl}_n^F} \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{gl}_n}(f)(x)$$

for any $f \in \operatorname{Fun}(\mathfrak{gl}_n^F)$. We deduce that

$$\sum_{x \in \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}^{F}} \mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{0}}}}(x) = |\mathfrak{gl}_{n}^{F}|^{-1} \sum_{x \in \mathfrak{gl}_{n}^{F}} \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{gl}_{n}}(\Xi)(x) \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{gl}_{n}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{\partial}_{1}}})(x) \cdots \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{gl}_{n}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{\partial}_{k}}})(x)$$
$$= \left\langle \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{gl}_{n}}(\Xi) \otimes \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{gl}_{n}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{\partial}_{1}}}) \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{gl}_{n}}(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{\partial}_{k}}}), 1 \right\rangle_{\mathfrak{gl}_{n}^{F}}$$

It remains to see that $\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{gl}_n}(\Xi) = \Theta$.

For $x \in \mathfrak{gl}_n^F$, we have

$$\mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{gl}_{n}}(\Xi)(x) = \sum_{y} \Psi(\mu(x, y)) \Xi(y)$$

$$= \sum_{(a_{1}, b_{1}, \dots, a_{g}, b_{g}) \in (\mathfrak{gl}_{n}^{F})^{2g}} \Psi\left(\mu\left(x, \sum_{i=1}^{g} [a_{i}, b_{i}]\right)\right)$$

$$= \sum_{(a_{1}, b_{1}, \dots, a_{g}, b_{g}) \in (\mathfrak{gl}_{n}^{F})^{2g}} \prod_{i=1}^{g} \Psi(\mu(x, [a_{i}, b_{i}]))$$

$$= \sum_{(a_{1}, b_{1}, \dots, a_{g}, b_{g}) \in (\mathfrak{gl}_{n}^{F})^{2g}} \prod_{i=1}^{g} \Psi(\mu(x, [a_{i}, b_{i}]))$$

$$= \left(\sum_{(a_{1}, b_{1}, \dots, a_{g}, b_{g}) \in (\mathfrak{gl}_{n}^{F})^{2g}} \prod_{i=1}^{g} \Psi(\mu(x, [a_{i}, b_{i}]))\right)^{g}$$

$$= \left(\sum_{a, b \in \mathfrak{gl}_{n}^{F}} \Psi(\mu(x, [a, b]))\right)^{g}$$

$$= \left(\sum_{a \in \mathfrak{gl}_{n}^{F}} \sum_{b \in \mathfrak{gl}_{n}^{F}} \Psi(\mu([x, a], b))\right)^{g}$$

$$= \left(|C_{\mathfrak{gl}_{n}}(x)^{F}| \cdot |\mathfrak{gl}_{n}^{F}|\right)^{g} = \Theta(x).$$

Proposition 7.2.2. Assume that Σ is a reduced to a point and that $(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{P}, \Sigma)$ is defined over \mathbb{F}_q . The varieties $\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ and $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ are polynomial count. Moreover,

$$|\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}}(\mathbb{F}_q)| = \frac{|\mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}}(\mathbb{F}_q)|}{|\mathrm{PGL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)|}.$$

Proof. The second assertion follows from the fact that PGL_n is connected and acts freely on $\mathbb{V}_{L,P,\Sigma}$, see beginning of the proof of Lemma 7.2.1.

We only prove the first assertion for $\mathbb{Q}_{L,P,\Sigma}$ as the proof for $\mathbb{V}_{L,P,\Sigma}$ will be similar.

Since Σ is a point we have $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma} = \mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}^o$ and so the variety $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}$ is nonsingular by Corollary 5.3.8. Hence $IC_{\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma}}^{\bullet}$ is the constant sheaf κ concentrated in degree 0. By Formula (7.1.4) applied with v = 1, we thus have

$$\mathbf{X}_{(\rho/_{\mathrm{PGL}_n})_*(\kappa)} = \mathbf{X}_{\mathcal{IC}_{\mathcal{Q}_0}^{\bullet}} + \sum_{\chi \in (\mathrm{Irr}\,W_{\mathbf{M}})^*} \left(\dim A_{\chi}\right) q^{-r_{\chi}} \mathbf{X}_{\mathcal{IC}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{Q}_{\chi}}}^{\bullet}}.$$
(7.2.1)

By Grothendieck trace formula we have

$$\sum_{x \in Q_{\mathbf{0}}^{F}} \mathbf{X}_{(\rho/_{\mathrm{PGL}_{n}})_{*}(\kappa)}(x) = |\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}(\mathbb{F}_{q})|.$$

By Lemma 7.2.1, Theorem 6.9.1 and Theorem 6.10.1, we see that there exists a rational function $Q \in \mathbb{Q}(T)$ such that for any $r \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$

$$\sum_{x \in Q_0^{F^r}} \mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{Q_0}}(x) = Q(q^r).$$

By integrating Formula (7.2.1) over Q_0^F , we deduce that

$$|\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\mathbf{\Sigma}}(\mathbb{F}_{q^r})| = P(q^r)$$

for some $P \in \mathbb{Q}(T)$. Since $P(q^r)$ is an integer for all $r \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$, the rational function P must be a polynomial with rational coefficients.

7.3 The split case

In order to use Theorem 4.1.5 we assume that $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. As in [18, Appendix 7.1], we may define a finitely generated ring extension R of \mathbb{Z} and a k-tuple of R-schemes $(\mathfrak{D}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{D}_k)$ such that \mathfrak{D}_i is a spreading out of O_i and such that for any ring homomorphism $\varphi : R \to \mathbb{F}_q$ into a finite field \mathbb{F}_q , the tuple $(\mathfrak{D}_1^{\varphi}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q), \ldots, \mathfrak{D}_k^{\varphi}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q))$ is a generic tuple of adjoint orbits of $\mathfrak{gl}_n(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q)$ of same type as (O_1, \ldots, O_k) . Denote by $\mathfrak{B}_{\mathbf{O}}$ the R-scheme defined from $(\mathfrak{D}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{D}_k)$ as $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}$ was defined from (O_1, \ldots, O_k) (in the semisimple case this is written in details in [18, Appendix A]), and let $\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{O}}$ be the affine quotient $\mathfrak{B}_{\mathbf{O}}//\mathrm{PGL}_n$. Then $\mathfrak{B}_{\mathbf{O}}$ is a spreading out of $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{O}}$. Recall (see for instance Crawley-Boevey and van den Bergh [9, Appendix B]) that the standard constructions of GIT quotients are compatible with base change for R sufficiently "large", namely in our case we have $\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{O}}^{\varphi} = \mathfrak{B}_{\mathbf{O}}^{\varphi}//\mathrm{PGL}_n$ for any ring homomorphism $\varphi : R \to k$ into a field k.

Theorem 7.3.1. The cohomology group $IH^i_c(Q_0, \mathbb{C})$ vanishes if *i* is odd. For any ring homomorphism $\varphi : R \to \mathbb{F}_q$ we have

$$P_{c}\left(Q_{\mathbf{0}},q\right) = \sum_{x \in \mathfrak{Q}_{\mathbf{0}}^{\varphi}(\mathbb{F}_{q})} \mathbf{X}_{IC_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\mathbf{0}}^{\varphi}(\mathbb{F}_{q})}^{\bullet}}(x)$$

where $P_c(X,q) := \sum_i \dim \left(IH_c^{2i}(X,\mathbb{C}) \right) q^i$.

Theorem 7.3.2. If not empty, the variety Q_0 is pure.

Proof. Let θ be generic with respect to \mathbf{v}_0 . Since $Q_0 \neq \emptyset$, by Theorem 5.2.6, we have $Q_0^o \neq \emptyset$ and so $\mathfrak{M}^s_{\xi_0}(\mathbf{v}_0) \simeq Q_0^o$ is also not empty. The canonical projective map $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi_0,\theta}(\mathbf{v}_0) \to Q_0$ is then a resolution of singularities by Theorem 4.1.4 and so the group $IH_c^i(Q_0, \mathbb{C})$ is a direct summand of $H_c^i(\mathfrak{M}_{\xi_0,\theta}(\mathbf{v}_0), \mathbb{C})$ as a mixed Hodge structure. By Theorem 4.1.5, the variety $\mathfrak{M}_{\xi_0,\theta}(\mathbf{v}_0)$ is pure, hence so is Q_0 .

Proof of Theorem 7.3.1. By §7.1 and Proposition 7.2.2, the variety Q_0 satisfies the condition of Theorem 3.3.2. Hence the theorem follows from Proposition 3.3.3 and Theorem 7.3.2.

Let $m : \tilde{\mathbf{T}}_n \to \mathbf{T}_n$ be the map that sends $\tilde{\omega} = \omega^1 \cdots \omega^r \in \tilde{\mathbf{T}}_n$ to $(1, \omega^1) \cdots (1, \omega^r) \in \mathbf{T}_n$, and denote by m^k the map $(m, \ldots, m) : (\tilde{\mathbf{T}}_n)^k \to (\mathbf{T}_n)^k$.

Recall (see §6.8) that a generic tuple of irreducible characters of $GL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ of a given type $\omega \in (\mathbf{T}_n)^k$ always exists assuming that $char(\mathbb{F}_q)$ and q are large enough.

We have the following relation between multiplicities and Poincaré polynomials of quiver varieties.

Theorem 7.3.3. Let $\tilde{\omega}$ be the type of (O_1, \ldots, O_k) and let \mathbb{F}_q be a finite field such that there exists a ring homomorphism $R \to \mathbb{F}_q$. Then for any generic tuple (X_1, \ldots, X_k) of irreducible characters of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ of type $m^k(\tilde{\omega})$ we have

$$P_c(\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{0}},q) = q^{d_{\mathbf{0}}/2} \langle \Lambda \otimes X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_k, 1 \rangle.$$

Remark 7.3.4. In the above theorem the existence of a ring homomorphism $R \to \mathbb{F}_q$ guaranty the existence of a generic tuple of irreducible characters of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$.

Proof of Theorem 7.3.3. Fix a ring homomorphism $\varphi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{F}_q$. To alleviate the notation we use \mathfrak{D}_i instead of $\mathfrak{D}_i^{\varphi}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q)$. From Theorem 7.3.1 and Lemma 7.2.1, we have

$$P_{c}(\mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{0}},q) = \frac{1}{|\mathrm{PGL}_{n}(\mathbb{F}_{q})|} \left\langle \Theta \otimes \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{gl}_{n}}\left(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{\mathfrak{D}}_{1}}}\right) \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{F}^{\mathfrak{gl}_{n}}\left(\mathbf{X}_{IC^{\bullet}_{\overline{\mathfrak{D}}_{k}}}\right), 1 \right\rangle.$$

Hence Theorem 7.3.3 follows from Theorem 6.9.1

From the above theorem and Theorem 6.10.1 we deduce the following result.

Corollary 7.3.5. Assume that (O_1, \ldots, O_k) is of type $\tilde{\omega} \in (\tilde{\mathbf{T}}_n)^k$. Then

$$P_c(Q_{\mathbf{0}},q) = q^{d_{\mathbf{0}}/2} \mathbb{H}_{m^k(\tilde{\omega})}(q).$$

7.4 The general case

Here $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. Fix $\mathbf{w} \in W_{\mathbf{M}}(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{C})$ and put

$$P_{c}^{\mathbf{w}}\left(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}};q\right) := \sum_{i} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\mathbf{w} \left| IH_{c}^{2i}\left(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}},\mathbb{C}\right)\right) q^{i}\right.$$

We now explain how to associate a multitype $\omega = (\omega_1, \dots, \omega_k) \in (\mathbf{T}_n)^k$ from the triple (**L**, **C**, **w**).

Let w_i be the coordinate of **w** in $W_{M_i}(L_i, C_i)$. In §4.3.2 we showed how to associate to (L_i, C_i) a type $\tilde{\omega}_i \in \tilde{\mathbf{T}}_n$. Write

$$\tilde{\omega}_i = \underbrace{\omega_i^1 \cdots \omega_i^1}_{d_{i,1}} \underbrace{\omega_i^2 \cdots \omega_i^2}_{d_{i,2}} \cdots \underbrace{\omega_i^{r_i} \cdots \omega_i^{r_i}}_{d_{i,r_i}}$$

with $\omega_i^j \neq \omega_i^s$ if $j \neq s$. The group $W_{GL_n}(L_i, C_i)$ is then isomorphic to $W_{\tilde{\omega}_i} = \prod_{j=1}^{r_i} S_{d_{i,j}}$ and so the conjugacy classes of $W_{GL_n}(L_i, C_i)$ are in bijection with $\mathfrak{H}^{-1}(\tilde{\omega}_i) \subset \mathbf{T}_n$, see §4.3.1. Hence to $w_i \in W_{M_i}(L_i, C_i) \subset W_{GL_n}(L_i, C_i)$ corresponds a unique element in $\mathfrak{H}^{-1}(\tilde{\omega}_i)$ which we denote by ω_i .

7.4.1 The main theorem

Let *R* be the finitely generated ring extension of \mathbb{Z} considered in §7.3. The main theorem of the paper is the following one.

Theorem 7.4.1. Let \mathbb{F}_q be a finite field such that there exists a ring homomorphim $R \to \mathbb{F}_q$. Let (X_1, \ldots, X_k) be a generic tuple of irreducible characters of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ of type ω . Then

$$P_{c}^{\mathbf{w}}\left(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}};q\right)=q^{d_{\mathbf{O}}/2}\left\langle \Lambda\otimes X_{1}\otimes\cdots\otimes X_{k},1\right\rangle.$$

Remark 7.4.2. Assume that $\mathbf{w} = 1$, i.e., the degree of the types ω_i are all equal to 1. By Theorem 7.3.3, we have

$$P_c(\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{S}};q) = q^{d_{\mathbf{S}}/2} \langle \Lambda \otimes X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_k, 1 \rangle.$$

where $\mathbf{S} = (\mathfrak{gl}_n)^{2g} \times \overline{S}_1 \times \cdots \overline{S}_k$ with (S_1, \ldots, S_k) a generic tuple of adjoint orbits of \mathfrak{gl}_n of type $\tilde{\omega}$. Hence by Theorem 7.4.1 we have

$$P_c\left(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}};q\right) = P_c(Q_{\mathbf{S}};q).$$

From Theorem 6.10.1 we deduce the following identity.

Corollary 7.4.3.

$$P_{c}^{\mathbf{w}}\left(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}};q\right)=q^{d_{\mathbf{0}}/2}\mathbb{H}_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}(q).$$

7.4.2 Proof of Theorem 7.4.1

By (7.1.5) we have

$$P_{c}^{\mathbf{w}}(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}};q) = P_{c}(\boldsymbol{Q}_{\mathbf{O}};q) + \sum_{\boldsymbol{\chi}\in(\mathrm{Irr}\,W_{\mathbf{M}})^{*}} \mathrm{Tr}\,(\mathbf{w}\,|A_{\boldsymbol{\chi}})q^{-r(\boldsymbol{\chi})}P_{c}(\boldsymbol{Q}_{\mathbf{O}_{\boldsymbol{\chi}}};q).$$
(7.4.1)

To alleviate the notation, for each $\tau \in (\mathbf{T}_n)^k$ we choose a generic tuple (X_1, \ldots, X_k) of irreducible characters of type τ and we put $R_{\tau} := X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_k$. For $\tilde{\tau} \in (\tilde{\mathbf{T}}_n)^k$ we denote $R_{\tilde{\tau}}$ instead of $R_{m^k(\tilde{\tau})}$.

Now for each irreducible character χ of $W_{\mathbf{M}}$ we denote by $\tilde{\tau}_{\chi}$ the type of \mathbf{O}_{χ} and we denote simply by $\tilde{\tau}$ the type of **O**. By Theorem 7.3.3 we have

$$P_c(\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{O}_{\chi}};q) = q^{d_{\mathbf{O}_{\chi}}/2} \left\langle \Lambda \otimes R_{\tilde{\tau}_{\chi}},1 \right\rangle.$$

Hence we are thus reduced to prove the following identity

$$\left< \Lambda \otimes R_{\omega} \right> = \left< \Lambda \otimes R_{\tilde{\tau}} \right> + \sum_{\chi \in (\operatorname{Irr} W_{\mathbf{M}})^*} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\mathbf{w} \, | \, A_{\chi} \right) \left< \Lambda \otimes R_{\tilde{\tau}_{\chi}}, 1 \right>.$$

By Theorem 6.10.1 we need to see that

$$\mathbb{H}_{\omega}(q) = \mathbb{H}_{\tilde{\tau}}(q) + \sum_{\chi \in (\operatorname{Irr} W_{\mathbf{M}})^*} \operatorname{Tr}(\mathbf{w} | A_{\chi}) \mathbb{H}_{\tilde{\tau}_{\chi}}(q)$$
(7.4.2)

where $\mathbb{H}_{\tilde{\tau}}(q) := \mathbb{H}_{m^k(\tilde{\tau})}(q)$.

From the definition of $\mathbb{H}_{\omega}(q)$ (cf. Formula (6.10.1)) we are reduced to the following problem on Schur functions $\{s_{\omega}(\mathbf{x})\}_{\omega \in \mathbf{T}_n}$:

Let L, C, M, O, A_{χ} be as in §6.4. For $\chi \in \text{Irr } W_M$, denote by $\tilde{\tau}_{\chi} \in \tilde{\mathbf{T}}_n$ the type of O_{χ} (with the convention that $\tilde{\tau}_1 = \tilde{\tau}$). Let $\tilde{\omega} \in \tilde{\mathbf{T}}_n$ be the type associated to (L, C). Fix $w \in W_M(L, C)$ and let $\omega \in \mathfrak{H}^{-1}(\tilde{\omega}) \in \mathbf{T}_n$ be the type corresponding to (L, C, w). To prove Formula (7.4.2) it is enough to prove the following identity

$$(-1)^{r(\omega)}s_{\omega'}(\mathbf{x}) = s_{\tilde{\tau}'}(\mathbf{x}) + \sum_{\chi \in (\operatorname{Irr} W_M)^*} \operatorname{Tr}(w | A_{\chi}) s_{\tilde{\tau}'_{\chi}}(\mathbf{x})$$
(7.4.3)

where for $\tilde{\nu} = \nu^1 \nu^2 \cdots \nu^r \in \tilde{\mathbf{T}}_n$, $s_{\tilde{\nu}}(\mathbf{x}) := s_{\nu^1}(\mathbf{x}) s_{\nu^2}(\mathbf{x}) \cdots s_{\nu^r}(\mathbf{x})$ and where $r(\omega) = n + \sum_i |\omega^i|$.

We now explain how to get Formula (7.4.3) from Proposition 6.2.5.

We may assume that $L = \prod_{j=1}^{r} (GL_{n_{j,1}} \times \cdots \times GL_{n_{j,s_j}})$ so that $M = \prod_{i=1}^{r} GL_{m_i}$ and $GL_{n_{j,1}} \times \cdots \times GL_{n_{j,s_j}} \subset GL_{m_i}$. Then the nilpotent orbit *C* may be written as

$$C = \prod_{j=1}^{r} \left(C_{j,1} \times \cdots \times C_{j,s_j} \right)$$

with $C_{j,l}$ a nilpotent orbit of $\mathfrak{gl}_{n_{j,l}}$. Let $\omega^{j,l}$ be the partition of $n_{j,l}$ given by the size of the Jordan blocks of $C_{j,l}$, and for each j = 1, 2, ..., r, let $\tilde{\omega}_j \in \tilde{\mathbf{T}}_{m_j}$ be the type given by the collection $\{\omega^{j,l}\}_{l=1,...,s_j}$.

Then

$$W_M(L,C) \simeq \prod_{j=1}^r W_{\tilde{\omega}_j}.$$
(7.4.4)

Consider the map $\tilde{\mathfrak{F}}_r : \tilde{\mathbf{T}}_{m_1} \times \cdots \times \tilde{\mathbf{T}}_{m_r} \to \tilde{\mathbf{T}}_n$ where $\tilde{\mathfrak{F}}_r(\tilde{\mu}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\mu}_r)$ is defined by re-ordering the partitions in the concatenation of the types $\tilde{\mu}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\mu}_r$.

Example 7.4.4. Consider the lexicographic ordering on partitions. Then the image of ((3, 2, 1)(2, 1), (3, 1)) by $\tilde{\mathfrak{F}}_2 : \tilde{\mathbf{T}}_9 \times \tilde{\mathbf{T}}_4 \to \tilde{\mathbf{T}}_{13}$ is (3, 2, 1)(3, 1)(2, 1).

Similarly we define $\mathfrak{F}_r: \mathbf{T}_{m_1} \times \cdots \times \mathbf{T}_{m_r} \to \mathbf{T}_n$.

We denote by $S : \tilde{\mathbf{T}} \to \mathcal{P}$ the map which assigns to a type $\lambda^1 \cdots \lambda^r \in \tilde{\mathbf{T}}$ the partition $\sum_{i=1}^r \lambda^i$. Consider the following commutative diagram

Note that $\tilde{\omega} = \tilde{\mathfrak{F}}_r(\tilde{\omega}_1, \dots, \tilde{\omega}_r)$. Let w_j be the coordinate of $w \in W_M(L, C)$ in $W_{\tilde{\omega}_j}$. The element w_j defines a unique element $\omega_j \in \mathfrak{F}^{-1}(\tilde{v}_j) \subset \mathbf{T}_{m_i}$. Then $\omega = \mathfrak{F}_r(\omega_1, \dots, \omega_r)$ and so

$$s_{\omega}(\mathbf{x}) = s_{\omega_1}(\mathbf{x}) \cdots s_{\omega_k}(\mathbf{x}). \tag{7.4.5}$$

For each i = 1, 2, ..., r, put $\tau^i = S(\tilde{\omega}_i) \in \mathcal{P}_{m_i}$. Note that the collection of the partitions $\tau^1, ..., \tau^r$ gives the type $\tilde{\tau}$ of O.

Now for each $i = 1, 2, \ldots, r$, we have

$$s_{\omega_i}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{\lambda \leq \tau^i} c_{\omega_i}^{\lambda} s_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x})$$

and so

$$s_{\omega}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{(\lambda^1,\dots,\lambda^r) \leq (\tau^1,\dots,\tau^r)} \left(\prod_i c_{\omega_i}^{\lambda^i}\right) s_{\lambda^1}(\mathbf{x}) \cdots s_{\lambda^r}(\mathbf{x})$$

where $(\lambda^1, \ldots, \lambda^r) \leq (\tau^1, \ldots, \tau^r)$ means that $\lambda^i \leq \tau^i$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, r$. Note that the set of sequences $(\lambda^1, \ldots, \lambda^r)$ such that $(\lambda^1, \ldots, \lambda^r) \leq (\tau^1, \ldots, \tau^r)$ is in bijection with the set $\{\tilde{\tau}_{\chi} \mid \chi \in \operatorname{Irr} W_M(L, C)\}$. The bijection associates to a sequence $(\lambda^1, \ldots, \lambda^r)$ the unique type given by the collection of partitions $\lambda^1, \ldots, \lambda^r$. Moreover if $(\lambda^1, \ldots, \lambda^r)$ corresponds to χ , we have $\prod_i c_{\omega_i}^{\lambda^i} = \operatorname{Tr} (w \mid A_{\chi})$ by Proposition 6.2.5, hence

$$s_{\omega}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr} W_{M}} \operatorname{Tr} (w | A_{\chi}) s_{\tilde{\tau}_{\chi}}(\mathbf{x})$$
$$= s_{\tilde{\tau}}(\mathbf{x}) + \sum_{\chi \in (\operatorname{Irr} W_{M})^{*}} \operatorname{Tr} (w | A_{\chi}) s_{\tilde{\tau}_{\chi}}(\mathbf{x})$$

from which we deduce our Formula (7.4.3).

7.4.3 Application to multiplicities in tensor products

Assume that (X_1, \ldots, X_k) is a generic tuple of irreducible characters of type ω . Theorem 7.4.1 has the following consequences.

Theorem 7.4.5. We have:

(a) The multiplicity $\langle \Lambda \otimes X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_k, 1 \rangle$ is a polynomial in q of degree $d_0/2$ with integer coefficients (with the convention that $d_0 = -\infty$ if $Q_0 = \emptyset$). If moreover the degrees of the characters X_1, \ldots, X_k are all split, then the coefficients of that polynomial are positive.

(b) The coefficient of $q^{d_0/2}$ in $\langle \Lambda \otimes X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_k, 1 \rangle$ equals 1.

(c) We have $\langle \Lambda \otimes X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_k, 1 \rangle \neq 0$ if and only if $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}} \in \Phi(\Gamma_{\mathbf{O}})$. If g = 0, then $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{O}}$ is a real root if and only if $\langle X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_k, 1 \rangle = 1$.

(d) If $g \ge 1$, we always have $\langle \Lambda \otimes X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_k, 1 \rangle \neq 0$.

Proof. Let us first see that if $Q_0 \neq \emptyset$ then dim $IH_c^{2d_0}(Q_0, \mathbb{C}) = 1$. Consider a resolution $\mathbb{Q}_{\hat{\mathbf{L}}, \hat{\mathbf{P}}, \{\sigma\}} \rightarrow Q_0$. It is clear from Formula (7.4.1) applied to $\hat{\mathbf{L}}, \hat{\mathbf{P}}, \{\sigma\}$ instead of $\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{P}, \mathbf{\Sigma}$ that dim $H_c^{2d_0}(\mathbb{Q}_{\hat{\mathbf{L}}, \hat{\mathbf{P}}, \{\sigma\}}, \mathbb{C}) = \dim IH_c^{2d_0}(Q_0, \mathbb{C})$. But $\mathbb{Q}_{\hat{\mathbf{L}}, \hat{\mathbf{P}}, \{\sigma\}}$ is irreducible by Theorem 5.3.7 and so dim $H_c^{2d_0}(\mathbb{Q}_{\hat{\mathbf{L}}, \hat{\mathbf{P}}, \{\sigma\}}, \mathbb{C}) = 1$.

It is thus clear from Formula (7.4.1) that $P_c^{\mathbf{w}}(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma};q)$ is a polynomial in q of degree d_0 with integer coefficients and that the coefficient of q^{d_0} is equal to 1. It is also clear that if $\mathbf{w} = 1$, then the coefficients are positive. Hence $q^{-d_0/2}P_c^{\mathbf{w}}(\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{P},\Sigma};q) = \langle \Lambda \otimes X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_k, 1 \rangle$ satisfies the assertions (a) and (b) of the theorem.

From what we just said it is clear that $\langle \Lambda \otimes X_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes X_k, 1 \rangle \neq 0$ if and only if $Q_0 \neq \emptyset$. Hence the assertion (c) follows from Theorem 5.2.6 and Proposition 5.2.11.

Finally the assertion (d) follows from the assertion (c) and Proposition 5.2.9.

Remark 7.4.6. Note that Λ does not contain all the irreducible characters of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$. For instance it does not contain the character $\alpha \circ \det : \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q) \to \kappa^{\times}$ if α is a non-trivial character $\mathbb{F}_q^{\times} \to \kappa^{\times}$.

References

- BARDSLEY, P. and RICHARDSON R. W.: Etale slices for algebraic transformation groups in characteristic p. *Proc. London Math. Soc.* 51 (1985), no. 2, 295–317.
- [2] BEILINSON A. A., BERNSTEIN, J. and DELIGNE, P.: Faisceaux pervers, Analysis and topology on singular spaces, I (Luminy, 1981), Soc. Math. France, Paris (1982) pp. 5–171.
- [3] BORHO, W. and MACPHERSON, R.: Partial resolutions of nilpotent varieties, Analysis and topology on singular spaces, II, III (Luminy, 1981), Astérisque 101, Soc. Math. France (1983), 23–74.
- [4] BOURBAKI, N.: Groupes et algèbres de Lie, chapitres 4,5 et 6.
- [5] CRAWLEY-BOEVEY, W.: Geometry of the Moment Map for Representations of Quivers *Comp. Math.* **126** (2001), 257–293.

- [6] CRAWLEY-BOEVEY, W.: On matrices in prescribed conjugacy classes with no common invariant subspace and sum zero. Duke Math. J. 118 (2003), no. 2, 339–352.
- [7] CRAWLEY-BOEVEY, W.: Normality of Marsden-Weinstein reductions for representations of quivers. *Math. Ann.* 325 (2003), no. 2, 55–79.
- [8] CRAWLEY-BOEVEY, W.: Indecomposable parabolic bundles and the existence of matrices in prescribed conjugacy class closures with product equal to the identity. *Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes tudes Sci.* (2004), no. 100, 171–207.
- [9] CRAWLEY-BOEVEY, W. and VAN DEN BERGH, M.: Absolutely indecomposable representations and Kac-Moody Lie algebras. With an appendix by Hiraku Nakajima. *Invent. Math.* **155** (2004), no. 3, 537–559.
- [10] DELIGNE, P.: Théorie de Hodge II. Inst. hautes Etudes Sci. Publ. Math. 40 (1971), 5-47.
- [11] DELIGNE, P. and LUSZTIG, G.: Representations of reductive groups over finite fields. Ann. of Math. (2)103 (1976), 103–161.
- [12] DIGNE, F. and MICHEL, J.: Representations of finite groups of Lie type. London Math. Soc. Stud. Texts vol. 21, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge (1991).
- [13] DOLGACHEV, I.: Lectures on invariant theory. London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, Cambridge University Press 296 (2003), xvi+220.
- [14] GARSIA, A.M. and HAIMAN, M.: A remarkable q,t-Catalan sequence and q-Lagrange inversion, J. Algebraic Combin. 5 (1996) no. 3, 191-244.
- [15] GETZLER, E.: Mixed Hodge Structures of configuration spaces, preprint, arXiv:alg-geom/9510018.
- [16] GÖTTSCHE, L. and SOERGEL, W.: Perverse sheaves and the cohomology of Hilbert schemes of smooth algebraic surfaces. *Math. Ann.* 296 (1993), 235–245.
- [17] GREEN, J.A.: The characters of the finite general linear groups. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 80 (1955), 402-447.
- [18] HAUSEL T., LETELLIER, E. and RODRIGUEZ-VILLEGAS, F.: Arithmetic harmonic analysis on character and quiver varieties, to appear in Duke Math. J., available at http://www.math.unicaen.fr/~letell/pub.html.
- [19] HAUSEL T., LETELLIER, E. and RODRIGUEZ-VILLEGAS, F.: Topology of character varieties and representations of quivers, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 348, No. 3-4, (2010), 131–135.
- [20] HAUSEL, T. and RODRIGUEZ-VILLEGAS, F.: Mixed Hodge polynomials of character varieties, *Invent. Math.* 174 (2008), no. 3, 555–624.
- [21] HISS, GERHARD AND LÜBECK, FRANK: Some observations on products of characters of finite classical groups. *Finite groups 2003*, 195–207, Walter de Gruyter GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin (2004).
- [22] KAC, V.: Root systems, representations of quivers and invariant theory. *Lecture Notes in Mathematics*, vol. 996, Springer-Verlag (1982), 74–108.
- [23] KATZ, N.: Sommes exponentielles, Société mathématiques de France, Paris Ser. (2) 45 (1980).
- [24] KAWANAKA, N.: Fourier transforms of nilpotently supported invariant functions on a simple Lie algebra over a finite field, *Invent. Math.* 69 (1982), no. 3, 411435.
- [25] KAZHDAN, D: Proof of Springer's hypothesis, Israel J. Math. 28 (1977), no. 4, 272286.
- [26] KING, A.D.: Moduli of representations of finite-dimensional algebras, *Quart. J. Math. Oxford* Ser. (2) 45 (1994), no. 180, 515–530.
- [27] KISIN, M. and LEHRER, G.: Eigenvalues of Frobenius and Hodge numbers, Pure Appl. Math. Q. 2 (2006), 497-518.
- [28] KNUSTON, A.: The symplectic and algebraic geometry of Horn's problem. Available on ArXiv math.RA/9911088.

- [29] Kostov, V. P.: The Deligne-Simpson problem-a survey, J. Algebra, 281 (2004), no. 1, 83-108.
- [30] KRAFT, H. and PROCESI, C.: Closures of Conjugacy Classes of Matrices are Normal. *Invent. Math.*, **53** (1979), 227–247.
- [31] LEHRER, G.: The space of invariant functions on a finite Lie algebra, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **348** (1996), no. 1, 31–50.
- [32] LETELLIER, E.: Deligne-Lusztig induction of invariant functions on finite Lie algebras of Chevalley type. *Tokyo J. Math.*, 28 (2005), no. 1, 265–282.
- [33] LETELLIER, E.: Fourier Transforms of Invariant Functions on Finite Reductive Lie Algebras. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 1859, Springer-Verlag, 2005.
- [34] LETELLIER, E.: Characters of finite reductive Lie algebras. Journal of Algebra, 321 (2009), 1696–1710.
- [35] Lusztig, G.: Green polynomials and singularities of unipotent classes, Adv. in Math., 42 (1981), 169–178.
- [36] LUSZTIG, G.: On the finiteness of the number of unipotent classes, Invent. Math., 34 (1976), 201-213.
- [37] LUSZTIG, G.: Intersection cohomology complexes on a reductive group, Invent. Math., 75 (1984), 205–272.
- [38] LUSZTIG, G.: Character sheaves, Adv. in Math., 56 (1985), 193-237.
- [39] LUSZTIG, G.: On the Character Values of Finite Chevalley Groups at Unipotent Elements, J. Algebra, 104 (1986), 146–194.
- [40] LUSZTIG, G.: Fourier transforms on a semisimple Lie algebra over \mathbb{F}_q , *Algebraic groups Utrecht 1986*, Springer, Berlin, 1987, pp. 177–188.
- [41] LUSZTIG, G. and SRINIVASAN, B.: The characters of the finite unitary groups, *Journal of Algebra*, **49** (1977), 167–171.
- [42] MACDONALD, I.G: Symmetric Functions and Hall Polynomials, Oxford Mathematical Monographs, second ed., Oxford Science Publications. The Clarendon Press Oxford University Press, New York, 1995.
- [43] MUMFORD, D., FOGARTY, J. and KIRWAN, F.: Geometric Invariant Theory, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (2), Springer-Verlag, 34 (1994), xiv+292.
- [44] NAKAJIMA, H.: Instantons on ALE spaces, quiver varieties, and Kac-Moody algebras. Duke Math. J., 76 (1994), no 2, 365–416.
- [45] NAKAJIMA, H.: Quiver varieties and Kac-Moody algebras. Duke Math. J., 91 (1998), no 3, 515–560.
- [46] NAKAJIMA, H.: Quiver varieties and finite dimensional representations of quantum affine algebras. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 14 (2001), 145–238.
- [47] NAKAJIMA, H.: Quiver varieties and branching. SIGMA Symmetry Integrability Geom. Methods Appl., 5 (2009), 3–37.
- [48] PETERS, C. and STEENBRINK, J.: Mixed Hodge Structures. Springer-Verlag Berlin 52 (2008), xiv+470 pp.
- [49] REINEKE, M.: The Harder-Narasimhan system in quantum groups and cohomology of quiver moduli. *Invent.* Math., 152 (2003), 349–368.
- [50] SHMELKIN, D. A.: Some remarks on Nakajima's quiver varieties of type A arXiv: 0912.3130.
- [51] SAITO, M.: Mixed Hodge Modules. Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci., 26 (1990), 221–333.
- [52] SPRINGER, T.: Trigonometric sums, Green functions of finite groups and representations of Weyl groups. *Invent. Math.*, 36 (1976), 173–207.

- [53] WALDSPURGER, J.-L. Intégrales orbitales nilpotentes et endoscopie pour les groupes classiques non ramifiés *Astérisque* **269** (2001).
- [54] YAMAKAWA, D.: Geometry of multiplicative preprojective algebra. *Int. Math. Res. Pap. IMRP* (2008) Art. ID rpn008, 77pp.